
Date Published:12 November 2019     

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee

Wednesday 20 November 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Jo Moore

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 58)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 4 September 2019 
(attached) 

Jo Moore

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any pecuniary or personal interests by members.

Jo Moore

PRESENTATIONS

4  DIGITAL CONNECTIVITY 

An update on the delivery of broadband infrastructure under the 
Fastershire Broadband Programme. The presentation to include an outline 
of the revision of the current Broadband Strategy to cover the period 2019 
– 2022.  

Matt Smith 
Fastershire 

5  PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 59 - 102)

To receive a report (Healthonomics - Tackling Health Inequalities through 
Inclusive Growth) from the Director of Public Health at Gloucestershire 
County Council.  

Sarah Scott
Director of 
Public Health

6  LOCAL NATURE PARTNERSHIP (LNP) INFRASTRUCTURE POLICY 
PLEDGE 

To receive an update from the Local Nature Partnership (LNP) on the 
introduction to Natural Capital Mapping.

Matt Whitney



    

7  CYBER CENTRAL UPDATE 

An update on the Cyber Central Project

Tim Atkins 
Cheltenham 
Borough Council

DECISION REPORTS

8  BUSINESS RATE POOL FUNDING (Pages 103 - 126)

a) To receive an update on the Business Rate Pool (report attached); 

b) To consider the following funding requests: - 

1) Rail Investment Strategy, (ratification of the in-principle 
decision agreed at the Economic Growth Joint Committee 
meeting on 4 September 2019) (Appendix 1); 

2) Request for funding from the Local Nature Partnership (LNP) 
for work to progress Natural Capital Mapping (Appendix 2); 

3) Request for funding from the Central Gloucestershire City 
Region Board (Appendix 3 - document to follow)

4) Request for funding from Cheltenham Borough Council in 
relation to the Cyber Central Project (Appendix 4 – document 
to follow) 

Mike Dawson
Senior Officer 
Group

INFORMATION REPORTS

9  GFIRST LEP UPDATE (Pages 127 - 220)

To receive activity reports on the work of the Gloucestershire First (GFirst) 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), including updates on: - 

a) The Gloucestershire Growth and EU Funding Programme and 
b) Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) Consultation 

 

Dev 
Chakraborty
GFirst 

10  GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

To receive a verbal update on the work of the Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny Committee. 

Cllr Kevin 
Cromwell
Chairman of the 
Economic 
Growth Scrutiny 
Committee. 

11  FUTURE MEETING DATES (Pages 221 - 224)

a) To note the dates of meetings in 2020;  

18 March 2020
3 June 2020 
16 September 2020
18 November 2020

Jo Moore



    

b) To consider the committee forward plan and suggest items for 
consideration at future meetings 

c) To receive an update on proposals for briefing the committee on 
local growth projects, including the introduction of a ‘Local 
Strategic Growth Project Update’ template (attached). 

Membership –  Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cllr Joe Harris, Cllr Steve Jordan, Cllr Tim Gwilliam, Cllr 
Paul James, Cllr Doina Cornell, Cllr Rob Bird, Dev Chakraborty (GFirst) and Mally Findlater (GFirst) 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore, Democratic Services Senior Adviser 
:01452 324196/fax: 425850/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Members are required to sign the attendance list.

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH 
JOINT COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee held at 
Shire Hall, Gloucester on Wednesday 4 September 2019.

Present 
(Members)

Cllr Patrick Molyneux
Cllr Rob Bird
Cllr Doina Cornell

Cllr Paul James
Cllr Tony Dale 
Mally Findlater (GFirst)

Present 
(Officers) 

Mike Dawson 
Colin Chick
Simon Excell 
Pete Wiggins
Jon McGinty
Kathy O’Leary

Pete Williams
Pat Pratley 
Claire Edwards
Luisa Hayward-Senft
Orlagh Stoner

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllr Steve Jordan, (Cheltenham Borough Council), 
Cllr Tim Gwilliam, (Forest of Dean District Council), and Cllr Joe Harris, (Cotswold 
District Council). 

In the absence of Cllr Joe Harris, Cllr Tony Dale represented Cotswold District 
Council at the meeting.  

2. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 5 June 2019 were agreed and signed as a 
correct record of that meeting. 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

4. LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN (LTP) REVIEW 

The Committee received a detailed presentation on the progress of the council’s 
review of the Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP). 

Having adopted the Local Transport Plan (2015-2031) in June 2016, the Council 
has a statutory requirement to review existing policies within the plan and to 
consider any changes to national, regional, county priorities. In addition, the Council 
to take into account any transport infrastructure requirements.  

It was announced that formal public consultation on the plan’s vision and objectives 
would be undertaken from January to March 2020. Feedback from the consultation 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

and the revised plan to be presented to the Environment Scrutiny Committee and to 
the Joint Committee in the spring. The plan to be considered by Cabinet in the 
summer, with the final document presented for adoption by Full Council in autumn 
2020. 

Working within a new and extended time-frame, (to consider anticipated transport 
technologies and growth scenarios extending to 2041), officers gave an update on 
the various components of the plan. These included; public and community 
transport (bus); cycling policies; (including any priorities identified through the 
emerging Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan); rail; highway and freight 
considerations. The review to consider two areas of work, i) the council’s transport 
priorities from the current time to 2031); ii) the council’s more aspirational priorities, 
for the period up to and including 2041.

It was noted that the 6 place-based strategies, (previously known as ‘Connecting 
Places Strategies’), relating to the Central Severn Vale, Forest of Dean, North 
Cotswold, South Cotswold, Stroud and Tewkesbury areas, had been amalgamated 
into the one document, with each strategy forming a sub-section of the main 
document. In response to data taken from a ‘scale of impact’ indicator, priorities 
identified within each of the schemes to be categorised under one of four key 
headings; strategic; major; local or countryside. 

Members attention was drawn to the ‘Park and Ride’ sites located throughout the 
county and informed that the sites would now be referred to as ‘Transport 
Interchange Hubs’. The intention was to consider and review existing sites (x 3) and 
replace with transport hubs (x 6).  

To reflect the state of emergency declared at the council meeting in June 2019, and 
the council’s commitment to achieving an 80 per cent reduction in corporate carbon 
emissions by 2025, members were informed that the council would be considering 
a range of carbon reduction proposals, (including investing in ultra low vehicles), as 
part of the revised plan. 

Inviting members to comment on revisions to the plan, officers highlighted the 
importance of engaging with district/borough authorities. Emphasis was placed on 
seeking views from a local perspective, including seeking opinions on proposals 
relating to air and rail transport and on the feasibility of a Third River Severn 
Crossing. One member requested presentations to the individual local authorities 
and the request was noted. Action by: Colin Chick

Responding to questions, officers advised that a key ambition from the review 
would be to bring together all policies, (including community transport), into one 
single overarching strategy. Emphasis on the need to take into consideration both 
urban and rural issues was noted. 

In response to the information, the committee agreed to submit any comments, (in 
the period prior to commencement of the public consultation in 2020), to Joanne 
Moore at jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk. Members were requested to advise 
their local authorities of the opportunity to participate in the consultation. 

Page 2

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Rail Investment Strategy 

During the presentation, members received an update on the council’s Rail 
Investment Strategy, including details of the proposal to award funding from the 
Business Rate Pool Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF) to support the 
development of a Rail Investment Strategy (RIS) for Gloucestershire. The Rail 
Investment Strategy, (a countywide commission), will be used to inform the Local 
Transport Plan Review and to feed into the emerging Local Industrial Strategy. 

At a meeting of the Gloucestershire Chief Executives Group on 10 June 2019, an 
‘in principle’ decision was taken to finance the £70,000 funding shortfall required to 
undertake the study. 

The committee was informed that, to ensure the study delivered on schedule, the 
County Council had already commissioned SLC Rail and SYSTRA Consultants to 
prepare a ‘multiple economically-evidenced Rail Investment Strategy’ (RIS) ahead 
of the decision to award funding. By taking this decision, the study was anticipated 
to complete in December 2019.

Confirming approval of the ‘in-principle’ decision by the Senior Officer Group, (to 
transfer £70k funding from the Strategic Economic Development Fund for the 
development of a Rail Investment Strategy (RIS) for Gloucestershire), the 
committee endorsed the proposal, pending formal ratification of the decision at the 
Economic Growth Joint Committee meeting on 20 November 2019. 

Action: the committee to formalise the ‘in-principle’ decision (detailed above) at the 
next meeting 

5. CLIMATE CHANGE SUMMIT AND ACTION PLAN UPDATE 

The committee received a detailed presentation on how the County Council 
intended to respond to the County Climate Change Emergency announced at the 
Full Council meeting on 15 May 2019, and the steps being taken to revise and 
strengthen the Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy over the next 5 years. 

A motion agreed by Full Council in May 2019 required the council to i) reduce 
corporate carbon emissions by at least 80% by 2030, (with the remaining being 
offset to constitute a “net zero” organisation); ii) deliver a carbon neutral county by 
2050, and iii) work with partners to identify the measures needed to deliver a 
stepped target of 80% carbon reduction by 2030. 

The Committee noted examples of the many energy-efficient changes the Council 
had made to date, including completion of a £13.7m programme of LED street 
lighting across the County. It was reported that, since publication of baseline figures 
for 2006/07, the County Council had reduced its CO2 emissions from 26,820 
(tonnes) to 12,060.

Members’ attention was drawn to the public engagement that had been undertaken 
over the summer months, including seeking input from the public and from local 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

communities on the changes they wished to consider to address Climate Change, 
and how the County Council could support such changes.

At a Climate Change Summit held on 21 May 2019, it had been agreed to set up a 
Youth Climate Panel, (represented by young people aged between 16 and 25, with 
5 representatives from each district). Recruitment to the Panel would be made 
throughout September 2019. The purpose of the panel would be to provide young 
people with an opportunity to influence and raise awareness on how the county as 
a whole can respond to the climate emergency. The Panel to provide young people 
with an insight on how Leadership Gloucestershire organisations intended to tackle 
climate change and to give input into the Climate Change Strategy. 

Several members referred to the varying levels of work being undertaken at 
district/borough councils and expressed concern that the work proposed at this 
meeting could be at risk of being duplicated. Consideration of whether the issue 
was a matter for discussion by the Joint Committee or by Leadership 
Gloucestershire was also questioned. Acknowledging the need for cross over work, 
(involving external agencies and outside bodies), the committee also stressed the 
need for everyone to work together to address the climate change emergency, with 
Leadership Gloucestershire recognised as the vehicle for progression. Noting the 
impact of climate change on the work of the LEP and on local growth strategies and 
spatial plans, it was agreed the Joint Committee provided an appropriate forum for 
reviewing progress going forward. One member highlighted the need for large scale 
tree planting and this was noted. 

Officers advised the committee that approval of the revised Climate Change 
Strategy would be made at the County Council Cabinet meeting on 13 November 
2019. (This has since changed and the decision will now be considered by Cabinet 
on 20 December 2019). Formal adoption of the Strategy to be made by Leadership 
Gloucestershire. 

6. GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH  SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Cllr Kevin Cromwell, Chairman of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny 
Committee, gave an update on the work of the scrutiny committee. 

Cllr Cromwell informed members that the scrutiny committee meeting being held 
later that day would be held at the Growth Hub in Gloucester. As a predominantly 
GFirst LEP focused meeting, this would provide an opportunity for the committee to 
visit the Growth Hub.

The committee to consider the following items at the meeting:

 An overview of the work and activities of the GFirst LEP;  
 A report from GFirst LEP on the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS); 
 Responding to a recommendation arising from the recent scrutiny review, all 

scrutiny committees to receive performance data at each meeting; 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

 Acknowledging the close links between the Economic Growth and the 
Environment and the Adult Social Care & Communities Scrutiny Committees, 
the Director for Economy, Environment and Infrastructure to provide a 
generic report for consideration by all 3 committees, allowing the members of 
each committee to ask questions on their particular areas.

A joint meeting of the Economic Growth Scrutiny and the Environment Scrutiny 
Committees had been arranged for 18 September 2019, for members to receive a 
presentation on the Local Transport Plan. Holding a joint meeting would enable 
both committees to ask questions on the topic from an Environmental and 
Economic Growth perspective. This arrangement to be replicated in circumstances 
where topics of equal interest needed to be considered.

The next local scrutiny committee meeting would be held at Stroud District Council 
on 30 October 2019. The final local held meeting to be hosted by Gloucester City 
Council in February 2020. Details of the Stroud held meeting had yet to be finalised 
but Stroud representatives suggested the possibility of presenting an item on 
climate change and spatial planning. A review of all 6 district held visits to be 
considered in March 2020, with a report to the Joint Committee in June 2020. 

Cllr Molyneux welcomed the update and advised of the intention to arrange informal 
visits between himself, (as Chairman of the Economic Growth Joint Committee), 
and lead members/officers with responsibilities for economic growth at each of the 
district/borough councils in the county. It was hoped the meetings would create a 
deeper understanding of some of the issues affecting economic growth in local 
areas and help strengthen the relationships between the County and 
district/borough councils. 

7. GFIRST LEP UPDATE 

Members received an update on the progress of the Growth Programme for 
Gloucestershire; this included an update on the EU Funding Programme; the 
preparations underway for developing a Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) and an 
update on the LEP/Local Authority sponsored Inward Investment Programme. 

Mally Findlater from the GFirst LEP reported good progress and confirmed, (despite 
the current political climate and preparations for Brexit), everything was on track. 
Responding to questions on the repercussions of Brexit on European funded 
projects, Mally confirmed that an interim review had been made, taking into account 
recent government guidelines and criteria. With advice ongoing, and pending 
further updates, it was not an option to delay proceedings. 

The update was noted. 
 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

8. VISION 2050 PROJECT BOARDS 

Mike Dawson, (Chairman of the Senior Officer Group), gave an update on the 
establishment and progress of the Gloucestershire Vision 2050 Partnership Boards. 
 
Members recalled that, in October 2018, Leadership Gloucestershire had endorsed 
the ‘Gloucestershire Vision 2050 Concordat’, setting out the work required to deliver 
the long term future vision of Gloucestershire. 

In addition to developing the processes by which the 8 Gloucestershire Vision 2050 
ambitions would be delivered, the Concordat proposed the establishment of 3 
Partnership Boards from which to take forward the work and support the delivery of 
Vision 2050 in different parts of the County. 

The Partnership Boards included: - 

1. Central Gloucestershire City Region Growth Partnership Board
2. Severn Vale Partnership Board
3. Rural Ambition Partnership Board

It was confirmed that terms of reference had been agreed and that the boards were 
preparing to meet throughout the following months.  

Responding to concerns about the possible duplication of work between the 
Partnership Boards, the Joint Committee and Leadership Gloucestershire, it was 
suggested that the Senior Officer Group consider how the work of the Programme 
Boards related to the remit of the Joint Committee and what information the Joint 
Committee was likely to consider. Action by Mike Dawson.  

It was agreed further updates and briefing notes be presented as the work of the 
Partnership Boards progressed. Action by Mike Dawson.  

9. GROWTH DELIVERY MONITORING AND STRATEGIC BOARD DELIVERY 

Mike Dawson, (Chairman of the Senior Officer Group), gave a verbal update on 
Growth Delivery Monitoring and Strategic Board activity since that reported at the 
last meeting. 

Noting the progress of some of the bids moving forward, it was proposed the 
committee receive presentations on two of the projects at a future meeting. It was 
suggested presentations on the West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme 
(Cyber Park) and the Tewkesbury Borough Council bid to achieve Garden Town 
status be added to the committee work plan for consideration by the Joint 
Committee in the New Year. Action by – Jo Moore 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

10. FORWARD PLAN 

The forward plan circulated in advance of the meeting was noted, supplemented by 
a request that the plan be updated to reflect items for consideration by the Joint 
Committee for meetings in 2020/2021.

The outline forward plan to be considered by the Senior Officer Group before 
circulation to the Joint Committee.

Items suggested for inclusion on the forward plan (at this meeting) included: - 

1. Presentations on the West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme 
(Cyber Park) and the Tewkesbury Borough Council bid to achieve Garden 
Town status for Ashchurch; 

2. The role of local councils in providing support to local businesses; 

3. The role of Leadership Gloucestershire and its relationship to the Joint 
Committee;   

4. Formation of the Great Western Powerhouse, (members questioned the 
relevance of this discussion to the Joint Committee and suggested that the 
item might be more relevant for consideration by Leadership Gloucestershire 
before being considered by the committee)?

11. FUTURE MEETINGS 

The committee noted the following meeting dates: - 

20 November 2019
18 March 2020
3 June 2020
9 September 2020
18 November 2020

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.45 am 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Gloucestershire’s 

Local Transport Plan - Review

CONFIDENTIAL

Emerging LTP changes

P
age 1

M
inute Item

 4

P
age 9



In
d

ic
a

ti
v
e

 L
T

P
 r

e
v

ie
w

 

s
c
h

e
d

u
le

Revised LTP

Autumn 2020

Summer 2020

Spring 2020

Jan – March 2020

December 2019

September 2019

Starts March 2019

Revised LTP to go to GCC Cabinet 

Early Stakeholder Engagement

Revised LTP to go to ESC and GEGJC*

Formal Public Consultation

Emerging Draft Consultation Document to go 

to GCC Cabinet

Emerging Draft Consultation Document to 

go to ESC and GEGJC* 

* Gloucestershire’s Environment Scrutiny Committee (ESC) and 

the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee 

(GEGJC)

Adoption by full County Council

CONFIDENTIAL

P
age 2

P
age 10



LTP Vision and Objectives

“A resilient transport network that enables sustainable 

economic growth by providing door to door travel choices for all, 

making Gloucestershire a better place to live, work and visit”

CONFIDENTIAL

� Align with DfT’s objectives

� Supported by LTP evidence base

� Reflect transport challenges

� Supported by LTP policies

� Linked to expected policy outcomes

Support 

sustainable 

economic growth 

Conserve the 

environment

Enable 

community 

connectivity 

Improve 

community health 

and wellbeing

P
age 3

P
age 11



LTP Review Objectives

• Consider national, regional, county and 

local priorities and policies that have 

changed during the plan period

• Strengthen climate change agenda

• Reflect adopted Local Plans and their 

infrastructure requirements   

• Look towards a new time horizon,  to 

2041, to discuss future transport 

technologies and likely growth 

scenarios

• Link to the newly introduced  local 

cycling and walking infrastructure plans 

(LCWIP)  

CONFIDENTIAL

P
age 4

P
age 12



New: Shaping the Way to 2041

Demographic, social, economic and technological changes 

provide challenges and opportunities:

CONFIDENTIAL

Challenges:

• Economic prosperity and the 

need for improved connectivity

• Inclusion

• Changes in attitude and 

consumer behaviour

• Innovation

Opportunities:

• Better integration of all modes

• SMART Places & Innovation

• New vehicle technologies

• Shared Mobility 

P
age 5

P
age 13



New: Shaping the Way to 2041

CONFIDENTIAL

P
age 6

P
age 14



New: Shaping the Way to 2041

CONFIDENTIAL

Picture

London  / Bristol - Birmingham Mainline

Gloucester – South Wales

M5 Motorway

P
age 7

P
age 15



Revised: Overarching Chapter

This document now reflects the county’s priorities in terms of: 

• climate change and environment, 

• growth, 

• health and wellbeing,

• sustainable travel behaviour.

CONFIDENTIAL

Interventions to stabilise carbon emissions

Network density of public electric vehicle 

charging points in Gloucestershire

P
age 8

P
age 16



Updated: Public & Community Transport 

• Previously the Bus Policy Document

• Park & Ride policy – full review

• Transport Interchange Hubs

• 3 Tiered Bus Network Standards

• Bus Priority

• Total Transport

• ULEV Bus Fleet

CONFIDENTIAL

P
age 9

P
age 17



Updated: Public & Community Transport 

CONFIDENTIAL

1. Arle Court

2. Racecourse

3. M5 J10 (proposed)

4. A46 Shurdington

(proposed)

5. Waterwells

6. Elmbridge (proposed)

7. West of Severn 

(proposed)

8. M5 J11a (proposed)

9. M5 J12 -West of 

Stonehouse  (proposed)

1

2

3

4

5

6
7

8

9

P
age 10

P
age 18



Updated: Cycle Policy

• Strengthen 

Gloucestershire’s 

Cycle Network

• Follow Green 

Infrastructure design 

principles

CONFIDENTIAL

P
age 11

P
age 19



CONFIDENTIAL

Picture

Countywide Cycle Priorities

P
age 12

P
age 20



Updated: Freight and Highways 

Freight 

• Gloucestershire’s 

Freight Network

• Advisory Freight 

Route Map

• Journey Routing 

Information

• Low carbon & ULEV 

CONFIDENTIAL

Highways

• Document review

• Movement of certain 

policies into more 

appropriate 

document – e.g., 

Overarching Strategy, 

Public & Community 

Transport, and 

Walking Policy 

Document  

• £150m investment in 

the highway network

P
age 13

P
age 21



Birmingham

Oxford -

London

Moreton-in-

Marsh

Worcester

Swindon - London

Cheltenham

Gloucester

Stonehouse

Stroud

Kemble

Cam & Dursley

Bristol
South 

Wales

Rail connectivity
– long term aims –
(policy will feed into and be 

informed by the findings of the 

Gloucester Rail Investment 

study currently being    

undertaken ) 2 trains per hour between 

Gloucester and Bristol

Additional 

services

North Cotswold 

Line: Additional, 

faster, services

Additional services

2 trains per hour to London 

(change at Swindon)

Better connectivity at Severn 

Tunnel Junction

London-Swindon 

additional service runs 

to Kemble

Lydney

Ashchurch for Tewkesbury

Updated: Rail

P
age 14

P
age 22



2019 Rail Investment Strategy

CONFIDENTIAL

P
age 15

P
age 23



New: Delivery Chapter

CONFIDENTIAL

Scheme Prioritisation

• Stage 1 & 2 assessment criteria

• Move away from short/long 

term time periods for scheme 

delivery to new categorisation.

• Categories developed by a 

‘Scale of Impact’ indicator to 

provide objective 

classifications.

Strategic Scheme 

Priorities

> £20m

Major Scheme 

Priorities

£5m - £20m

Local Scheme 

Priorities

£200k - £5m

Countywide Scheme 

Priorities

Non-place specific

Revenue projects

P
age 16

P
age 24



Contact 

Please let us have your feedback by contacting an officer in the Strategic 

Transport Planning Team on 01452 328386 or e-mail: 

ltp@gloucestershire.gov.uk

You can also contact us for further information, or visit  Gloucestershire's LTP 

website: https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-

local-transport-plan-2015-2031/introduction/

CONFIDENTIAL

P
age 17

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 26



Responding to the Climate 

Emergency:

Developing the Gloucestershire 

Climate Change Strategy 

2019/20 to 2024/25

Peter Wiggins

Outcome Manager – Community Infrastructure

Gloucestershire County Council 

P
age 19

M
inute Item

 5

P
age 27



Presentation

• Motion 836

• What the Council has done already

• Symposium outcomes

• Timeline

• Youth Climate Panel

• Public Consultation

• Next steps

P
age 20

P
age 28



Motion 836, 15th May 2019

• Climate emergency declared

• Reduce corporate carbon emissions by at least 

80% by 2030; with the remaining being offset, 

resulting in a “net zero” organisation

• Deliver a carbon neutral county by 2050

• Work with partners to identify what measures 

would be needed to deliver a stepped target 

of 80% carbon reduction by 2030 

P
age 21

P
age 29



Gloucestershire carbon emissions 

reduction trajectory to 2050

-50%

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050

P
age 22

P
age 30



Gloucestershire carbon emissions 

reduction trajectory to 2050

-50%

-57% (5th carbon 

budget)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050

80% reduction by 2050 (Climate Change Act original target)

Carbon neutral by 2050 (new national target)

P
age 23

P
age 31



Gloucestershire carbon emissions 

reduction trajectory to 2050

-50%

-57% (5th carbon 

budget)

-80%

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050

80% reduction by 2050 (Climate Change Act original target)

Carbon neutral by 2050 (new national target)

80% by 2030 (Gloucestershire County Council commitment)P
age 24

P
age 32



What the council has done already

- early beginnings

• 2005 Carbon Management 
Programme (CMP) with 
The Carbon Trust

• Joined the “10:10” initiative

– 10% reduction on baseline (2006) by 2010

• £1m Salix Finance Recycling Fund (50% GCC)

– £3.4m invested to date

• 2008 Climate Change Strategy & Action Plan

– Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change

P
age 25

P
age 33



2006/07 Baseline

Council 

buildings 

11,670 tCO
2e

(44%)
Street lighting, 

signs, bollards, 

signals

11,370 tCO
2e

(42%)

Fleet, inc GFRS

820 tCO
2e

(3%)

Misc fuel use

420 tCO
2e

(2%)
Business 

travel

2,540 tCO
2e

(9%)P
age 26

P
age 34



-100%

-80%

-60%

-40%

-20%

0%

 -

 5

 10

 15

 20

 25

 30

R
e
d

u
c
tio

n
 o

n
 2

0
0
6
/0

7
 (%

)

Financial Year Start

Actual Emissions Target Emissions to 2012

C
O

2
(t

h
o

u
s
a
n

d
 t

o
n

n
e
s
)

Reducing our emissions

- early beginnings

-1
2
%

P
age 27

P
age 35



Reducing our emissions

- a step change in ambition

• 2010 refreshed CMP 

• New target adopted 2011

– to reduce corporate carbon emissions by 60% by 

2020/21 against our 2006/07 baseline

• Mirrored the trajectory of the UK Climate 

Change Act 2008 (at that time)

– 80% reduction target by 2050 (57% by 2032)

P
age 28

P
age 36



-100%

-80%

-60%

-40%

-20%

0%

 -

 5

 10

 15

 20

 25

 30

R
e
d

u
c
tio

n
 o

n
 2

0
0
6
/0

7
 (%

)

Financial Year Start

Actual Emissions Target Emissions to 2012 Target Emissions to 2020

C
O

2
(t

h
o

u
s
a
n

d
 t

o
n

n
e
s
)

Reducing our emissions

- a step change in ambition

-1
2
%

-7
0
%

60% by 2020 (70% 2018)

P
age 29

P
age 37



Reducing our emissions

We’ve done almost all we can energy efficiency-wise

• Insulation – loft, wall, roof, pipes

• Heating & lighting upgrades and controls, remote Building Energy 
Management System (BEMS)

• Office rationalisation

• Shire Hall refurbishment, inc cladding, new windows, open plan, PV

• 2,500 desktop printers to Multi-Functional Devices (MFDs)

• ICT – server virtualisation, moved off-site, upgrades, thin client 

• LED street lights with Central Management System, bollard de-
illumination, LED signs & bollards

• Staff pool cars pilot – inc EVs and EV plug-in hybrids

• Saving over £2m a year

P
age 30

P
age 38



LED Street Lighting with CMS

• £13.7m over 3.5 years

• 60,000 street lights

• 70% dimming 

residential areas

• 50% dimming main 

traffic routes

• Saving £1.1m pa

P
age 31

P
age 39



Shire Hall, Gloucester

• Cladding

• New windows

• Heating sensors, 

lighting, controls

• Reinstate open plan

• Solar PV roof and 

integrated to rear 

(Blocks 5 & 6)

• 2017/18 saving 240 tCO
2e

(2% of total)

P
age 32

P
age 40



Getting to 60% by 2020/21

• Benefits still to be captured 2019/20

– LED Street Lighting

– Shire Hall refurbishment inc PV

– Staff pool cars pilot, Phase 2 to August 2020

• Other potential projects

– LED lighting at station car parks

– Office LED lighting

– Ongoing office heating, lighting, insulation, etc

P
age 33

P
age 41



-100%

-80%

-60%

-40%

-20%

0%

 -

 5

 10

 15

 20

 25

 30

R
e
d

u
c
tio

n
 o

n
 2

0
0
6
/0

7
 (%

)

Financial Year Start

Actual Emissions Target Emissions to 2012 Target Emissions to 2020 Target Emissions to 2030

C
O

2
(t

h
o

u
s
a
n

d
 t

o
n

n
e
s
)

Getting to 80% by 2030

-1
2
%

-7
0
%

60% by 2020 (70% 2018)

P
age 34

P
age 42



Getting to 80% by 2030

• Office LED lighting

• Additional office improvements

• Staff business travel – scaling up pool cars

• Renewable energy generation

• EV charging infrastructure (£470k)

• Green energy procurement

• (Investment in others’ renewable projects)

P
age 35

P
age 43



Emissions reduction on the baseline

Council 

Buildings 

3,382 

tCO
2e

(42%)

Street 

lighting, 

signs, 

bollards, 

signals 

3,588 

tCO
2e

(44%)

Fleet, inc

GFRS

716 tCO
2e

(9%)

Business 

travel

413 tCO
2e

(5%)

2018/19

Council 

Buildings  

11,670  

tCO
2e

(44%)

Street 

lighting, 

signs, 

bollards, 

signals  

11,370 

tCO
2e

(42%)

Fleet, inc

GFRS  

1,240 

tCO
2e

(5%)

Business 

travel  

2,540 

tCO
2e

(9%)

2006/07

P
age 36

P
age 44



Emissions reduction on the baseline

11,670 

3,382 

11,370 

3,588 

1,240 

716 

2,540 

413 

 -

 5,000

 10,000

 15,000

 20,000

 25,000

 30,000

2006/07 2018/19

Business travel

Fleet, inc GFRS

Street lighting, signs,

bollards, signals

Council Buildings

C
O

2
e
(t
o
n
n
e
s)

P
age 37

P
age 45



Emissions reduction on the baseline

2018/19

Council Buildings -71%

Street lighting, signs, 

bollards, signals -68%

Fleet, inc GFRS -42%

Business travel -84%*

Overall -70%

(*Partly due to reduction in employees, c35%)

P
age 38

P
age 46



Climate Change Strategy

• 5 years, annual rolling action plan

• Overarching strategy for Gloucestershire

• What the council is going to do

• Working with partners to deliver

• Enabling everyone to play their part

P
age 39

P
age 47



Where our carbon comes from…

Transport

34%

Domestic

31%

Industry & 

Commercial

30%

Gloucestershire

Emissions

2017*

P
age 40

P
age 48



Symposium Outcomes, 21st May

• c120 enthusiastic and innovative people from public, 
private, voluntary sector

• Outcomes and actions from the summit were, to:

– Develop an engagement plan, inc setting up a Youth Panel, 
and come back to delegates with the proposed approach

– Use the outcomes from the summit to develop a revised 
Climate Change Strategy for Gloucestershire and the 
council, for public consultation in the summer

– Following the consultation, take it to the council’s Cabinet 
for approval

– Feed the strategy recommendations into Leadership 
Gloucestershire

P
age 41

P
age 49



Strategy Timeline 2019/20-2024/25

May 2019  
Declaration, 

Summit 

Aug-Sep 2019 
Consultation, 

set up Youth 

Climate Panel

Sep-Oct 2019 
Draft strategy & 

action plan

Nov 2019 
Cabinet 

approval

Nov - Mar 2020 
Implement Yr0

Develop Yr 1-5 

action plan

2020/21
Implement Yr1, 

report & review

Develop Yr 2-7
2021/22

Implement Yr2, 

report & review

Develop Yr 3-8
2022/23

Implement Yr3, 

report & review

Develop Yr 4-9
2023/24

Implement Yr4, report & 

review, Develop Yr 5-10,

Draft new strategy

2024/25
Implement Yr5, Consult 
& adopt new strategy 

2025/26-2030/1

Y
e

a
r
 0

Y
e

a
r
s
 1

-5

Environment Scrutiny

Air Quality & Health Partnership

Glos Economic Growth Joint Cttee

P
age 42

P
age 50



Youth Climate Panel

• Age 16-25 (engaging schools separately)

• 5 reps from each district

• Face-to-face inductions in each district

• Central meetings where practical

• Minimise the need to travel by utilising video 
conferencing facilities and social media

• Propose to cover reasonable travel costs

• Invited applications Aug, deadline 9 Sep

• Meet Sat 21 Sep (Shire Hall)

P
age 43

P
age 51



Purpose of the Panel, to…

• Give young people a voice on climate change issues, giving 
members the platform to influence and have their say on 
how we respond to the climate emergency together.

• Give feedback on the draft Climate Change Strategy.

• Give young people and insight on how Leadership 
Gloucestershire organisations will tackle climate change 
issues. 

• Help the council fulfil its climate commitments.

• Assist the council to empower residents to take action on 
Climate Change, providing insight into how to encourage 
people to take responsibility for their behaviours.

P
age 44

P
age 52



Public Consultation

• Future Focus

– Web consultation

– Phone survey of 1,000 residents and 200 

businesses

• To give a representative sample of the county’s views 

on climate change related issues.

P
age 45

P
age 53



Public Consultation

• Whether concerned about the impacts of 
climate change, and about what

• Understanding of the term ‘carbon neutral’ 
and whether feel is achievable by 2050

• What they feel the benefits are of reducing 
the effects of climate change

• What could households do to have the 
greatest impact on reducing climate change 
and which have they done already

P
age 46

P
age 54



Public Consultation

• What would encourage their household to do 

more to reduce it’s carbon footprint

• What will have a big or small impact on 

reducing climate change in the county

• Demographic information

P
age 47

P
age 55



Next steps

• Revised Climate Change Strategy & Action Plan

– Build on the outcomes from the summit

– Recruit Youth Climate Panel & hold meeting 21 Sep

– Public consultation, summer to 23 Sep

– Cabinet, 13 November

– Council budget setting process up to Feb 2020

P
age 48

P
age 56



To get in touch…

• glosclimate@gloucestershire.gov.uk

P
age 49

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 58



HEALTHONOMICS
TACKLING HEALTH INEQUALITIES  
THROUGH INCLUSIVE GROWTH

Report of the Director of Public Health 2018/19

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 5



CONTENTS
Foreword

01
Health and wealth: A cyclical relationship

1.1 Health and wealth in Gloucestershire

1.2 Promoting inclusive growth to tackle health inequalities

02
Delivering inclusive growth in Gloucestershire

2.1 Driving social mobility to deliver inclusive growth

2.2 Creating places that enable inclusive growth

2.3 Promoting ‘good work’ for all

2.4 Health, care and the public sectors as inclusive growth partners

03
Recommendations

Appendix 1: Gloucestershire’s Population Health Indicators 

Appendix 2: Social Mobility Index rankings for Gloucestershire

Appendix 3: Progress update from the 2017/18 Annual Report

Glossary

References

pg 03

pg 10

pg 15

pg 17

pg 20

pg 23

pg 24

pg 25

pg 26

pg 28

pg 22

pg 04

pg 06

pg 08

02REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

P
age 60



5
When we talk about what determines our health, we 
often talk about the health services in our local area 
and how we access them. 

But over the last year, Gloucestershire’s Public Health 
team has been increasing its focus on what we call 
the ‘wider determinants of health’: the broader social, 
economic and environmental factors that influence our 
health and wellbeing. 

Various studies suggest these factors can make up around 
45 to 50% of our overall health and wellbeing (Kings Fund, 
2013), making a strong case for paying greater attention 
to the places we live: our education, work and income, the 
environment, and our family and social networks.

In this year’s annual report, I want to focus on one particular 
determinant: the interrelationship between the health and 
wellbeing of our local population and Gloucestershire’s 
economic prosperity – the critical relationship between 
health and wealth.

We know that being in a good, stable job is an important 
determinant of good health and wellbeing. We also  
know that a healthy and happy workforce is a more 
productive one. So what’s good for health can also be  
good for the economy. 

Gloucestershire’s 2050 Vision seeks to create an innovative, 
skilled and prosperous magnet county; one that attracts 
and retains a workforce that can contribute to greater 
productivity and a thriving economy. 

But this vision for the future also seeks to create an 
inclusive, healthy and happy county, where everyone can 
flourish. We must make sure that every Gloucestershire 
resident has the opportunity to access, benefit from and 
contribute to the county’s planned growth, including those 
who are currently most disadvantaged and more likely to 
experience health inequalities. 

This year’s report explores the opportunities to maximise 
the benefits of the relationship between health and wealth 

by prioritising inclusive growth and social mobility: making 
sure that everyone has the opportunity to build a good life 
for themselves regardless of their background. I argue that 
this can be achieved in Gloucestershire through addressing 
education and skills from the earliest age, growing healthy 
and flexible workplaces, delivering infrastructure that 
drives social mobility, and maximising the potential of local 
organisations, like the NHS and local councils.

My report highlights areas for focus across the Five 
Foundations of Productivity, as set out in the UK Industrial 
Strategy: Ideas, People, Infrastructure, Business 
Environment and Place. I am publishing this report at 
an important time, as the Local Enterprise Partnership, 
GFirst, develops the Local Industrial Strategy for increased 
productivity in Gloucestershire and partners around the 
county progress plans for local growth. Inclusive growth – 
the opportunity for everyone to benefit – must be central to 
these plans. 

The preparation of my annual report is a team effort and 
my thanks go to those who contributed to its design, 
drafting and content this year: Jennifer Taylor, Sam 
Piperdy, Zoe Clifford, Kate Martin, Charlotte Bigland, 
Vikki Clarke, Beth Bennett-Britton, Nicky Maunder, 
Claudia Parry and Mosaique Design & Digital 
Marketing.

My thanks also go to those from across the system, who 
have shared their good practice: 

 - Vikki Walters and the Forwards Team

 - Shôn Douglas and Cheltenham  
Borough Homes

 - Susan Doran and local businesses Stagecoach West 
and J D Norman 

 - Clare Hines and Integrated Care System workforce 
development partners

 - Gloucester Services and the Gloucestershire 
Gateway Trust.

I hope this annual report prompts you to think more about 
the relationship between Gloucestershire’s economy and 
the health of its population. If you would like to continue the 
conversation, please get in touch by email:  
sarah.l.scott@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

SARAH SCOTT,  
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
September 2019

THE 5 
FOUNDATIONS OF 
PRODUCTIVITY

PEOPLE

PLACE

IDEAS

INFRASTRUCTURE

BUSINESS 
ENVIRONMENT

FOREWORD

03REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

P
age 61

mailto:sarah.l.scott%40gloucestershire.gov.uk%20?subject=


HEALTH AND WEALTH: 
A CYCLICAL RELATIONSHIP 01

It is well established that 
employment is a major 
determinant of health.

Unemployment is associated with an 
increased risk of death and disease 
(LGA & PHE, 2016), including:

 - Limiting illness 

 - Cardiovascular disease 

 - Poor mental health and suicide

 - Health-damaging behaviours, such 
as smoking, physical inactivity and 
drinking alcohol

Among working age people in 
England, 42% of those who are 
economically inactive1 have a long-
term condition, such as diabetes, 
asthma, chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease (COPD), arthritis or 
certain mental health conditions (PHE, 
2016). 17% of unemployed people 
report having a limiting long-term 
condition (i.e. a long-term condition 
that limits their everyday activity).  
They are twice as likely to report this 
as people who are employed.

Unemployment and economic 
inactivity are also associated with lower 
income and wider socio-economic 
disadvantage, which leads to health 
inequalities. Health inequalities are the 
unjust and avoidable differences in 
people’s health across the population 
and between specific population 
groups. They are socially determined 
by circumstances that are mostly 
beyond a person’s control.  

Being in good 
employment is 
protective of 
health. Conversely, 
unemployment 
contributes to poor 
health. Getting people 
into work is therefore 
of critical importance 
for reducing health 
inequalities.

SIR MICHAEL MARMOT

Fair Society, Healthy Lives, 2010

1A person of working age (16 to 64) 
is counted as economically inactive 
if they are out of work, they have not 
been actively looking for work in the 
past four weeks, and they are not 
waiting to start a job. People who are 
caring for their family or retired are 
also counted as economically inactive. 
A person in full-time education is 
counted as economically inactive 
unless they are either in paid work or 
looking for and available to start work.

04REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

HEALTH AND WEALTH: A CYCLICAL RELATIONSHIP

P
age 62



These circumstances disadvantage 
people and limit their chance to  
live longer, healthier lives and to 
contribute to their community and  
the local economy.

Conversely, a physically and 
mentally healthy workforce is 
good for productivity and for 
business. Research shows that 
healthy employees are three times 
more productive than those in poor 
health (LGA & PHE, 2016) and that 
workplaces with ‘very satisfied’ 
employees (who could be more likely 
to report better wellbeing) have higher 
productivity, quality of output and 
overall performance (BIS, 2014).

There is also a cost to business of 
ill health. The combined costs of 
sickness absence, lost productivity 
through worklessness and health-
related productivity losses are 

01

42%
of those who are economically 
inactive have a long-term 
health condition

17%
of unemployed people report 
having a condition that limits 
their everyday activity

HEALTH &
WORK CYCLE

FIGURE 1
Figure 1. The health and work cycle (adapted from LGA & PHE, 2016)

estimated to be over £100bn annually. 
To put this into perspective, the entire 
budget for the NHS is £139bn in 2019.

This interrelationship between 
population health and a thriving 
economy can be described in simple 
terms as a cycle (Figure 1).

In this model, there is a cyclical 
relationship between the health 
of workers, their productivity, the 
competitiveness and prosperity of  
the local economy, and population 
health and wellbeing. All parts of the 
cycle must be considered together  
to enable it to work.

A
T

 W
O

R
K

COMPET I T I V E N E S S

GOO
D

 W
O

R
K

E
R

SO
CIAL W

ELL BEING

A
N

D
 P

R
O

S
P

E
R

IT
Y

PR
O

D
U

C
T

IV
IT

Y

BUSINE S S

H
EA

LT
H

AN
D H

E A LT H

E
C

O
N

O
M

IC
 D

E
V

E
L

O
P

M
E

N
T

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 05

HEALTH AND WEALTH: A CYCLICAL RELATIONSHIP

P
age 63



HEALTH AND WEALTH  
IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

So how do Gloucestershire residents fare in 
terms of their health and wellbeing and  
economic activity?

Overall, Gloucestershire residents enjoy good health and 
wellbeing. Appendix 1 contains a summary of local population 
health indicators, which shows that outcomes are in line with or 
better than England across all but one of the 32 indicators.

But this general picture hides inequalities in health. People 
who live in more deprived parts of Gloucestershire have 
poorer health outcomes. This can be seen in a stark disparity 
in life expectancy.

Generally, men living in the least deprived parts of 
Gloucestershire can expect to live 8.1 years longer than men 
living in the most deprived areas and women can expect to 
live 5.3 years longer. However, county level data masks even 
greater inequality in certain parts of the county, such as within 
Gloucester City, where the gap is 11.9 years for men and 10.5 
years for women (PHE, 2018). 

We see this inequality repeated when we look at a range of 
health data, including obesity, smoking prevalence and related 
conditions such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease. We 
can even see differences in health behaviours and outcomes 
across different segments of the workforce. For example, in 
Gloucestershire the smoking prevalence amongst routine and 
manual workers aged 18 to 64 is 19.8%, whilst it is 12.1% in 
the general population (PHE, 2019).

There is a similar picture in our economic activity. 
Gloucestershire’s unemployment rates are also generally better 
than the national average. In May 2019, the county’s claimant 
rate2 was 1.8%, lower than the national rate of 2.7%. However, 
there is some variance across the county, as shown in Figure 2.

Figure 2. Claimant rate (%) across Gloucestershire,  
May 2019 (Gloucestershire County Council, 2019)

CLAIMANT RATE (%)  
ACROSS GLOUCESTERSHIRE 
MAY 2019

Cheltenham

C
la

im
an

t 
 r

at
e

District

Cotswold Gloucester TewkesburyStroud

0

0.5

1

2

3

1.5

2.5

Forest 
of Dean

Gloucestershire

1.1

FIGURE 2

2The claimant rate is a measure of the number of people who are 
unemployed and claiming benefits. 

There is even greater variance at ward level between the lowest 
claimant rate in Gloucestershire of 0.2% (Vale in Stroud) to 
the highest rate at 5.3% (Westgate in Gloucester). All districts, 
apart from Stroud, include at least one ward in the highest 10% 
of the county for claimant rate. Gloucester City has six wards in 
the top 10%.

In May 2019, 1,350 people in Gloucestershire aged 
18 to 24 were claiming Job Seekers Allowance and 
Universal Credit and were not in work. This represents 
19.2% of all working age claimants.

There were 343 young people aged 16 to 18 not in 
education, employment or training in Gloucestershire. 
This represents 2.54% of the 16 to 18 cohort.

There is also variation in Gloucestershire’s employment 
rate amongst people who have long-term conditions, 
physical and learning disabilities and mental health 
conditions – those who could benefit greatly from the 
health outcomes offered from being in ‘good work’ 
(see later chapter on page 17). In particular, we have a 
larger gap (74.7 percentage points) in the employment 
rate between those with a learning disability and 
the overall employment rate than in England (69.2 
percentage points).

HEALTH AND WEALTH

06REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

HEALTH AND WEALTH IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

P
age 64



I’d like to get an 
apprenticeship or 
paid work in this 
industry

Tom is a 19 year old student 
from the National Star College in 
Cheltenham, which enables people 
with disabilities to realise their 
potential “through personalised 
learning, transition and destination 
services”. Tom has been 
completing a Supported Internship 
at BP Motors in Cheltenham since 
September 2018. 

Gloucestershire has a well-established and growing 
approach to helping people with disabilities in to 
employment through the county council’s Forwards 
scheme and the Going the Extra Mile (GEM) 
project. This includes offers such as supported 
internships, which are delivering positive outcomes 
for those seeking work and contributing to a 
closing of the gap. 

Gloucestershire’s economy performs relatively 
well, particularly in terms of the South West region. 
Average earnings for Gloucestershire residents 
in 2018 were £29,5553, which was similar to UK 
average earnings and higher than the South West 
average. However, as we might expect, there are 
sectors in which the median salary is lower, e.g. the 
food and drink sector, or higher, such as in finance 
and professional services.

As a measure of productivity, Gloucestershire’s 
gross value added (GVA) per hour worked4 in 
2017 was £32.20 (Subregional Productivity, 
ONS). This was above the South West average 
(£30.20) but 4.2% below the UK average 
(£33.60). When compared to the other 37 Local 
Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), Gloucestershire is 
ranked of 14 out of 38 (1 having the highest GVA 
per hour worked). 

On top of his college work and 
other placements, he has been 
at BP Motors two days a week, 
throughout the year.

Tom’s internship involves lots of 
different tasks: getting involved 
in polishing, cleaning the cars, 
preparing the vehicles before 
painting or restoration work and 
other car body work. He also gets 
involved with other duties such as 
cleaning, brushing and keeping 
the work environment tidy. 

Tom has really valued his time 
at BP Motors. However, he is 
ambitious and is thinking about 
his next steps, saying: “Now I’ve 
finished my internship, I’d like 
to get an apprenticeship or paid 
work in this industry.”

On finishing his internship, Tom 
has been offered two days a week 
paid work at BP Motors. He’s really 
happy with this, but he sees it as 
one step in the right direction and 
is working with the National Star 
College towards his ultimate goal of 
a Motor Vehicle Apprenticeship. 

Of those Local Enterprise Partnerships that have a 
higher GVA per hour worked than Gloucestershire, 
the majority (8 out of 13) are located in London 
and the South East of England. The exceptions 
to these are in the West of England, Cheshire and 
Warrington, Swindon and Wiltshire, South East 
Midlands, and Coventry and Warwickshire.

Whilst this is a high-level summary of the 
county’s health and economic indicators, it gives 
a good overview of the inequalities experienced 
by people living in Gloucestershire and suggests 
that closing the inequalities gap must be a 
priority for local partners. 

As Gloucestershire’s Local Industrial Strategy 
sets out the vision and plan to increase 
productivity in the county, this report makes the 
case for using this planned growth as a lever to 
tackle inequalities, close the gap and make sure 
that everyone can contribute and benefit. To do 
this, we must make sure that growth is inclusive. 

TOM  
CHAMBERLAIN
NATIONAL STAR COLLEGE

Supported intern at BP Motor  
Bodybuilders & Engineers

£29,555
average earnings in 2018  
for Gloucestershire residents

1.1

3The earnings information collected relates to gross pay 
before tax, national insurance or other deductions,  
and excludes payments in kind. Source: Annual Survey of 
Hours and Earnings.

4Gross value added (GVA) is a measure of the value of 
goods and services produced in an area, industry or sector 
of an economy.

14 out of 38
ranking for productivity in 2017

CASE 
STUDY

07

HEALTH AND WEALTH IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

P
age 65



PROMOTING INCLUSIVE GROWTH 
TO TACKLE HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

A growing body of national 
evidence argues that inclusive 
growth is a crucial part of any 
strategy to increase productivity. 

The Inclusive Growth Commission 
(2017) argues that “inequality not 
only has a social cost, but… it 
also hampers long-term economic 
performance and the productive 
potential of people and places.”

The commission’s report suggests 
that 38% of the gap between the 
combined average productivity of 
the ten UK Core Cities5 and the 
UK average is associated with 
deprivation. It also argues that closing 
this productivity gap by addressing 
inequalities would deliver £24.4bn a 
year to the UK economy.

The report states that “the UK’s 
productivity gap may be due to a range 
of factors, but failure to invest sufficiently 
in tackling the variation in skills, 
employability and other compounding 
social factors is a major part of our poor 
regional productivity story.”

Inclusive growth is not just good 
for the economy, it is good for the 
health and wellbeing of our 
population as well.  

1.2

A GIVE EVERY CHILD THE 
BEST START IN LIFE

B
ENABLE ALL CHILDREN, 
YOUNG PEOPLE AND 
ADULTS TO MAXIMISE 
THEIR CAPABILITIES AND 
HAVE CONTROL OVER 
THEIR LIVES

C CREATE FAIR EMPLOYMENT 
AND GOOD WORK FOR ALL

D
ENSURE A HEALTHY 
STANDARD OF LIVING  
FOR ALL

E
CREATE AND DEVELOP 
HEALTHY AND  
SUSTAINABLE PLACES 
AND COMMUNITIES

F
STRENGTHEN THE ROLE 
AND IMPACT OF  
ILL HEALTH PREVENTION

5The Core Cities Group is a self-selected 
and self-financed collaborative advocacy 
group of large regional cities in the United 
Kingdom outside Greater London. There 
are ten cities: Birmingham, Bristol, Cardiff, 
Glasgow, Leeds, Liverpool, Manchester, 
Newcastle, Nottingham and Sheffield.

Inclusive growth is 
economic growth that is 
distributed fairly across 
society and creates 
opportunities for all.

OECD, 2019

In particular, it is an effective  
strategy for reducing the health 
inequalities gap. Almost ten years  
ago, the Marmot Review (2010)  
made six policy recommendations  
for reducing health inequalities, 
covering amongst them early years, 
education and skills, employment, 
income, and infrastructure:

08REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

PROMOTING INCLUSIVE GROWTH TO TACKLE HEALTH INEQUALITIES

P
age 66



Where investment in social 

infrastructure is an integral 

driver of growth

Where as many people as possible 

can contribute to and benefit from 

a new kind of growth

We call this Inclusive Growth

CU R R E N T MODE L
Grow now, redistribute later

Our current model assumes a 

‘grow now, redistribute later’ 

approach to tackling inequalities

This has created a divided society, 

with many people feeling left 

behind from our economy

This compounds the UK’s  

poor productivity problem, 

holding down real wages and 

living standards

NE W MODE L
Inclusive growth

IN
C

LUSI V E GRO

W
T

H

and social inequaliti
es

Tackling place-based

E C ONOM IC 
 GROW T H

Tackling place-based 
and social inequalities

A NEW 
MODEL IS 
NEEDED

The commission argues that this 
requires a local approach based on a 
deep understanding of local assets, 
connecting people to quality jobs, 
resourcing place regeneration as well 
as business investment, and helping 
businesses keep ahead, particularly in 
the context of Brexit.

Inclusive growth is rapidly emerging 
as a driver of productivity and lever 
for closing the inequalities gap.  
The rest of my report will examine 
how we might deliver inclusive growth 
as part of Gloucestershire’s Local 
Industrial Strategy and 2050 Vision,  
to increase productivity and tackle 
health inequalities.

FIGURE 3

1.2

The Inclusive Growth Commission’s 
new model of growth shows that 
tackling inequalities is central to 
growing the economy, as both a driver 
of growth and as a benefit for as many 
people as possible (Figure 3).

This new inclusive growth model is 
underpinned by five principles:

1 CREATING A SHARED, 
BINDING MISSION

2
MEASURING THE HUMAN 
EXPERIENCE OF GROWTH, 
NOT JUST ITS RATE

3
SEEING GROWTH AS THE 
WHOLE SOCIAL SYSTEM, 
NOT JUST A MACHINE

4 BEING A N AGIL E  
IN V ESTOR AT SC A L E

5
EN T R EPR ENEU R I A L , 
W HOL E PL ACE  
L E A DERSHIP

INCLUSIVE GROWTH COMMISSION’S MODEL

£24.4bn
a year to the UK economy by 
addressing inequalities

Figure 3. Current and new models of growth (Inclusive Growth Commission, 2017)

Inequality not only has 
a social cost but... it also 
hampers long-term 
economic performance 
and the productive 
potential of people  
and places.

Inclusive Growth Commission, 2017

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 09

PROMOTING INCLUSIVE GROWTH TO TACKLE HEALTH INEQUALITIES

P
age 67



CH E LT E N H A M 225

C O T S WOL D 268

FOR E S T OF DE A N 303

GL OUCE S T E R 282

S T ROU D 43

T E W K E SBU RY 199

2.1

One significant way to achieve 
inclusive growth is to drive 
social mobility, defined by the 
Social Mobility Commission as 
“ensuring that everyone has 
the opportunity to build a good 
life for themselves regardless 
of their family background.”

The commission (2019) argues that 
“inequality is still deeply entrenched in 
Britain: there is a persistent gap in early 
literacy; the attainment gap at the end 
of secondary school has hardly shifted 
since 2014 and the better off are nearly 
80 per cent more likely to end up in 
a professional job than those from a 
working-class background.”

The County All-Party Parliamentary 
Group (APPG) found that eight of 
the ten least socially mobile areas 
in England are counties and are 
overwhelmingly rural and coastal  
(CCN, 2018), suggesting that this is  
a key issue for a largely rural county 
such as Gloucestershire.

The Social Mobility Index (2017) shows 
that three districts in Gloucestershire 
(Cotswold, Forest of Dean and 
Gloucester) are ranked in the bottom 
20% nationally (Table 1). However, 
Stroud district is the highest ranking 
local authority area in the South 
West, suggesting that there might be 
potential to learn from and build on 
what works in that part of the county.

Social mobility is the 
link between a person’s 
occupation or income 
and the occupation or 
income of their parents. 
Where there is a strong 
link, there is a lower level 
of social mobility. Where 
there is a weak link, 
there is a higher level of 
social mobility.

Social Mobility Commission, 2019

DRIVING SOCIAL MOBILITY TO  
DELIVER INCLUSIVE GROWTH

CONTRIBUTING TO: PEOPLE  |  INFRASTRUCTURE  |  BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

TABLE 1 DISTRICT SOCIAL 
MOBILITY INDEX RANKING 
(OUT OF 324)

10REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

DRIVING SOCIAL MOBILITY TO DELIVER INCLUSIVE GROWTH

P
age 68



Good level of  
development (age 5)

0%

10%

20%

40%

60%

30%

50%

70%

80%

90%

Good level of 
development with 
free school meals 

(age 5)

Year 1 pupils 
achieving expected 

level in phonics 
screening

Gloucestershire South West England

1 EARLY YEARS, SCHOOL READINESS,  
LITERACY AND NUMERACY 

2 EDUCATION, GCSE ATTAINMENT,  
AND QUALITY POST-16 CHOICES

3 REWARDING EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES

Gloucestershire’s 2050 Vision supports the argument that 
this leads to a net loss of young people from shire counties 
such as Gloucestershire, holding back local economic 
growth. This suggests that any approach to improving 
social mobility must take action across the ‘social mobility 
life cycle’, as described by the County APPG. Most 
national reports on social mobility identify three stages:

The national Social Mobility Index ranks local authority areas 
across 16 indicators, covering Early Years, School, Youth 
and Working Lives. Full Gloucestershire and district rankings 
can be found in Appendix 2. Broadly, Gloucestershire 
and its districts perform well against the Working Lives 
indicators (with the exception of housing affordability in the 
Cotswolds and some income indicators in the Forest of 
Dean). However, the county performs less well against the 
other indicators.

EARLY YEARS

A good level of development in a child’s early years – often 
used to describe school readiness – is a measurement 
of a child’s personal, social and emotional development, 
physical development, and communication and language, 
including literacy and numeracy. 

It is a key determinant of outcomes in later life; national 
analysis has shown that a child with a poor level of 
development at the age of five is unlikely to catch 
up with their peers by the time they leave education. 
This means that future employment and progression 
opportunities are likely to be more limited.

Data published by Public Health England (Figure 4) shows 
that in 2017/18:

 - A lower percentage of five-year-old children in 
Gloucestershire reached a good level of development 
than in England

 - A lower percentage of five-year-old children in 
Gloucestershire who were eligible for free school meals 
reached a good level of development than in England

 - A lower percentage of children aged five or six (in Year 
1) in Gloucestershire achieved the expected level in 
phonics (a method for teaching reading) than in England

Eligibility for free school meals is used in Figure 4 to 
represent socio-economic disadvantage and we can 
see that children who are eligible for free school meals 
experience inequality in their early years development. 
Evidence strongly suggests that this inequality can 
continue into adult life. 

Figure 4. Percentage of children reaching early years development 
levels in Gloucestershire, South West and England, 2017/18 
(Source: Public Health England)

PERCENTAGE OF CHILDREN 
REACHING EARLY YEARS  
DEVELOPMENT LEVELS (2017/18)

Those better off are 80% more likely to end 
up in a professional job than those from a 
working-class background

80%
2.1

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 11

DRIVING SOCIAL MOBILITY TO DELIVER INCLUSIVE GROWTH

FIGURE 4

P
age 69



80705030 604020100

Most deprived 
decile

Second most 
deprived decile

Third most
deprived decile

Fourth most 
deprived decile

Fifth most 
deprived decile

Fifth least  
deprived decile

Fourth least  
deprived decile

Third least 
deprived decile

Second least  
deprived decile

Least deprived 
decile

67.5

69.7

70.7

69.8

71.0

71.2

72.6

73.2

72.0

75.4

Figure 5 shows that children are less likely to be 
‘school ready’ at the age of five in the most deprived 
areas of Gloucestershire and more likely in the least 
deprived areas.

However, the picture is more complex than this appears. 
A recent report to Leadership Gloucestershire on social 
mobility outlined a national challenge: that “some of the most 
affluent areas of the country deliver worse outcomes for their 
disadvantaged children than places that are much poorer.” 
This can be seen in Gloucestershire in the gap in school 
readiness between children who are and are not eligible for 
free school meals (representing socio-economic disadvantage). 
In Cotswold district, this gap is a very stark 40.5%.

My 2016/17 annual report identified school readiness as 
an area for priority action. This led to the setting up of 
a multi-agency working group in July 2018, chaired by 
Public Health and including representatives from across 
public and voluntary sector organisations and early 
years settings. The group’s main concern was to better 
understand why there is such disparity in the school 
readiness of children in Gloucestershire and to recommend 
and take action to improve the situation.

To date, the group has been focusing on identifying 
areas of best practice and opportunities to strengthen 
collaboration, developing a shared vision for school 
readiness, and delivering specific areas for improvement. 
This includes work by the Early Years Service to directly 
address areas of concern, such as speech and language 
training for early years settings staff and health visitors.

The latest school readiness data will be available shortly 
after this report is published. Early indications are that 
there has been a small improvement. This is encouraging 
but the problem is not yet solved and the group will 
continue to work together to deliver improvements to early 
outcomes for young children in Gloucestershire.

SCHOOL AND YOUTH

According to data published by Public Health England, 
young people in Gloucestershire and in the six districts 
perform either better or statistically similar to England in 
terms of their academic achievement, measured by their 
average Attainment 8 score6 at the age of 15 or 16. 

However, as we see across this report, there is inequality 
within this broad indicator. The Social Mobility Index 
shows that Gloucester City ranks as 311th out of 324 
local authorities for the average Attainment 8 score for 
young people who are eligible for free school meals (used 
to represent socio-economic disadvantage). So young 
people in Gloucester who are more deprived are not 
achieving grades as high as those living in deprivation 
elsewhere in England.

The index also shows that the young people eligible for 
free school meals at age 15 are less likely to go on to 
enter higher education by the age of 19 than those in 
other parts of England, with Gloucestershire ranked 275th 
in the country. 

Locally, partners have begun to examine Gloucestershire’s 
social mobility indicators and to recommend and take action. 
Closing the inequality gap in achievement at school 
and enabling everyone to reach their potential should 
be a priority.

Figure 5. School readiness at age five in Gloucestershire by Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation (2015) deprivation decile (Source: Public Health England)

PERCENTAGE OF CHILDREN 
REACHING EARLY YEARS  
DEVELOPMENT LEVELS

6Attainment 8 measures the average achievement of pupils in up 
to 8 qualifications at GCSE level (age 15/16). For a full definition, 
see https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-
metric=6014&mod-area=E92000001&mod-group=AllRegions_
England&mod-type=namedComparisonGroup

2.1

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

F
IG

U
R

E
 5

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 12

DRIVING SOCIAL MOBILITY TO DELIVER INCLUSIVE GROWTH

P
age 70

https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=6014&mod-area=E92000001&mod-group=AllRe
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=6014&mod-area=E92000001&mod-group=AllRe
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/lgastandard?mod-metric=6014&mod-area=E92000001&mod-group=AllRe


Cheltenham Borough Homes provides social 
housing in some of the most deprived wards in 
the county.

In these wards, children experience poverty that can 
create long-term disadvantages – including lower 
academic achievements.

In 2017, a school contacted Cheltenham Borough Homes 
looking for long-term work experience for students who 
were struggling within the traditional classroom setting and 
at risk of exclusion. To meet this need, Cheltenham Borough 
Homes’ Employment Initiatives Service created Thrive, an 
innovative alternative provision programme aimed at young 
people providing support to stay in education.

CHELTENHAM  
BOROUGH HOMES  
CREATING  
OPPORTUNITIES  
TO THRIVE

This year the six month programme ran with pupils from All 
Saints Academy and Pittville School where they completed 
a range of activities and work placements specially designed 
for them to achieve their Careers and Experiencing Work 
Certificate. The young people attend Thrive every Friday 
instead of their schools, with the first six weeks of the 
programme covering a variety of topics including first aid, 
employability skills, future planning and budgeting.

Cheltenham Borough Homes used their relationships with 
local suppliers including Cheltenham Flooring, Liberty Gas, 
Ian Williams and Travis Perkins to offer work placements. 
Travis Perkins also gave funding to the course, enabling 
Cheltenham Borough Homes to provide bus passes, 
breakfast and lunch at each session, and personal 
protective equipment for each student to use on their 
placements. This fund enabled Cheltenham Borough 
Homes to celebrate the students’ achievements by hosting 
a graduation event that was attended by their families and 
our partners. 

The placements provide valuable experience and first hand 
insight into what jobs are available and what they involve 
– inspiring the young people to look at their career options 
when leaving school.

To date, the programme has supported 13 young 
people, with participants going on to further education, 
apprenticeships and full-time employment. None of the 
young people at risk of exclusion at the beginning of the 
programme have been excluded from school. 

Cheltenham Borough Homes is now looking to build on the 
positive relationships they have created with partners to 
help young people to thrive.

WORKING LIVES

Overall, Gloucestershire and the districts  
perform reasonably well across the Working Lives 
indicators, with the only indicator ranking in the 
bottom 20% nationally for housing affordability in 
Cotswold district (see next chapter). The Forest  
of Dean is ranked 222nd of 324 areas in this 
category, including:

 - Median weekly salary (also a concern in 
Gloucester and Cotswold)

 - Percentage of people in managerial and 
professional jobs (also a concern in Gloucester)

 - Percentage of jobs paid less than the locally 
applicable living wage

An earlier chapter of this report covered 
Gloucestershire’s employment data and the 
variation between different areas of the county and 
amongst different groups of people. It also touched 
on differences in income, particularly by sector. 

The Inclusive Growth Commission (2017) emphasises 
the need to be assisting those outside of the 
labour market into work and giving in-work training 
and development opportunities to those who are 
employed in lower skilled and lower paid jobs.

Social mobility – our development in early years, 
our achievement at school and movement to 
post 16 options, and our job and progression 
opportunities – is a key factor in delivering inclusive 
growth at a county scale.

The rest of my report considers some of the ways 
to achieve this, including local infrastructure, 
workplaces and partner organisations.

CASE 
STUDY

13
young people to date have 
been supported by the 
Thrive programme

2.1

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 13

DRIVING SOCIAL MOBILITY TO DELIVER INCLUSIVE GROWTH

P
age 71



GLOUCESTER SERVICES AND  
GLOUCESTERSHIRE GATEWAY TRUST

Gloucester Services – run by Westmorland – is 
a multi-award winning business, which has put 
local employment and community partnerships  
at its heart. 

It works in partnership with Gloucestershire Gateway Trust, 
a local community development and regeneration charity.

Since opening in 2014, over 400 people are now employed 
at Gloucester Services, with over 80 people employed 
from Gloucestershire Gateway Trust’s target communities: 
Matson, Robinswood, Podsmead, Tuffley, Stonehouse and 
the GL10 area. 

In addition, Gloucestershire Gateway Trust receives 
up to 3p in every £1 of non-fuel sales from Gloucester 
Services to invest in local communities. As a result, nine of 
Gloucestershire Gateway Trust’s community partners are 
now receiving grant funding of £20,000 each per annum, 
committed for five years. Between them these partners 
champion children’s play, support local wildlife, offer advice, 
run community groups, and support people with addictions. 

This income also enables Gloucestershire Gateway Trust 
to support local communities through other initiatives. This 
has included working with local residents’ associations to 
open community hubs in Matson and Stonehouse which 
provide access to information on employment and training, 
and spaces for people to meet and talk. 

The increased footprint of Gloucestershire Gateway Trust 
has also enabled it to help to bring together a group of 
over 40 community focused organisations, alongside 

the lead organisation Gloucestershire County Council, 
which together secured a further £6 million to engage and 
support individuals across Gloucestershire facing barriers 
to work and move them closer towards education, training, 
volunteering or work through the Going the Extra Mile 
(GEM) project.

In Gloucester Services, Gloucestershire Gateway Trust 
and the Westmorland family have together created a 
unique model of social investment that shows people and 
communities of all shapes and sizes can create something 
of scale that has a lasting positive impact. 

80people
employed

from Gloucestershire 
Gateway Trust’s target 
communities

400
people now employed  
at Gloucester Services

CASE 
STUDY

2.1

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 14

DRIVING SOCIAL MOBILITY TO DELIVER INCLUSIVE GROWTH

P
age 72



Planning policies and decisions 
should help create the conditions 
in which businesses can invest, 
expand and adapt. Significant 
weight should be placed on 
the need to support economic 
growth and productivity… 
Planning policies and decisions 
should aim to achieve healthy, 
inclusive and safe places which… 
promote social interaction… are 
safe and accessible… and enable 
and support healthy lifestyles.

National Planning Policy Framework, 
2019

Successful inclusive economic growth requires the 
alignment of local planning policy, making sure that 
essential transport, housing, employment, land, 
and digital infrastructure is in place to support a 
thriving economy that benefits all.

So how can we ensure that spatial planning7  strategies 
specifically support social mobility and inclusive growth in 
Gloucestershire?

There is a long established link between planning and health. 
The Town & Country Planning Association (2012) argues that 
“improved planning and better housing provision have long 
been identified as pre-conditions for enhancing the health 
of individuals and the communities in which they live.” This 
can refer to a relatively broad range of factors, including the 
availability, affordability, quality, and design of housing, active 
and sustainable travel options, green infrastructure, safe and 
accessible community spaces, access to affordable local 
food, and much more. 

Whilst well-planned places should benefit everyone 
who uses them, Marmot (2010) argues that “there is 
substantial evidence of a social gradient in the quality of 
neighbourhoods. Poorer people are more likely to live in 
more deprived neighbourhoods. The more deprived the 
neighbourhood, the more likely it is to have social and 
environmental characteristics presenting risks to health. 
These include poor housing, higher rates of crime,  
poorer air quality, a lack of green spaces and places  
for children to play and more risks to safety from traffic.” 

Some factors are particularly important to social mobility 
and inclusive growth. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
(2019) recommends three infrastructure-related actions to 
maximise inclusive growth:

 - Driving social value8 from infrastructure investment

 - Acknowledging the need to increase the  
supply of low-cost rented housing

 - Treating investment in public  
bus provision as equal to  
road and rail

CREATING PLACES THAT  
ENABLE INCLUSIVE GROWTH

CONTRIBUTING TO: INFRASTRUCTURE  |  PLACE

8Social value serves as 
an umbrella term for the 
wider economic, social and 
environmental effects of an 
organisation’s actions.

2.2

7Spatial planning is sometimes used instead of ‘town planning’ 
or ‘land use planning’ and, in this document, refers to policy, 
strategy and activity to develop places and communities 
through the physical built and natural environment and local 
infrastructure, such as transport and broadband.

15REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

CREATING PLACES THAT ENABLE INCLUSIVE GROWTH

P
age 73



HOUSING

The former chairman of the Social Mobility Commission 
stated that “the UK housing market is exacerbating 
inequality and impeding social mobility” (LSE, 2017). 

This challenge can be seen in Gloucestershire. The Social 
Mobility Index (Appendix 2) shows that Cotswold district is 
ranked 292nd of 324 areas for housing affordability (average 
house prices compared to the median annual salary of 
employees who live in the local area). 

Housing affordability – including in the rental market – 
is a challenge not only for those working in lower paid 
sectors but also for young people, starting off in their 
careers. Gloucestershire’s 2050 Vision seeks to create a 
magnet county, one that attracts young people to stay or 
to move here and contribute to the local economy, but 
Gloucestershire will not be attractive to young people if they 
cannot afford to live here.

Acknowledging the supply of housing as important 
is a key step in aligning plans and strategies that will 
enable social mobility and inclusive growth, as well 
as those to increase productivity through a thriving 
workforce. As such, housing partners should be around 
the table in any discussions to move this agenda on.

PUBLIC TRANSPORT

The same can be said for those planning and delivering 
public transport infrastructure, for example through the 
county’s Local Transport Plan. Public transport plays a 
critical role in enabling people to access education, 
training, and employment opportunities, particularly 
from areas where car ownership is lower. 

In Gloucestershire, 40,000 households (17%) do not have 
access to a car or van (2011 Census). This increases to 
up to 40% of households in wards such as Barton and 
Tredworth and Westgate in Gloucester, and St Paul’s and 
Oakley in Cheltenham. This may in part be because they are 
central to urban areas and currently served by bus services. 
However, these areas are also amongst the most deprived 
in the county, with residents more likely to experience 
inequality and to be most in need of support to access 
training and employment opportunities.

Access to public transport options that are affordable and 
fit for purpose is also an issue in rural parts of the county, 
where we see social mobility challenges. The County All-
Party Parliamentary Group report on social mobility (2018) 
supports the argument that accessibility and particularly 
public transport are key factors affecting social mobility in 
rural shire counties:

“This limit on accessibility is impacting on choices for work, 
training and education, particularly for young people, in 
turn impacting on social mobility in the longer term… But 
transport can also have an immediate impact on those 
already in the labour market, limiting access to childcare, 
better employment or training opportunities.”

It argues that broadband infrastructure is also important, 
supporting greater choice, flexibility and accessibility in 
education, training and employment.

PLANNING

Recent work by Gloucestershire’s Public Health team to 
bring together planning and health provides an opportunity 
to consider the impact of spatial planning on health in 
its widest sense. Work is already underway to build the 
evidence base for robust health policies in local plans, and 
to develop a health impact assessment toolkit to maximise 
opportunities for health and wellbeing in planning policy and 
development. This must be a partnership effort, bringing 
together housing, transport and health with others to plan 
and deliver healthy and inclusive places.

This work considers health and wellbeing in its broadest 
sense but there is an opportunity to focus efforts where the 
greatest impact on inclusive growth and health inequalities 
could be achieved. 

It includes:

 - Encouraging planning authorities to create ambitious 
planning policy frameworks and health impact assessment 
tools for the design of homes and neighbourhoods

 - Supporting and training planners and planning 
committees across the county to recognise and expect 
design that promotes wellbeing and health

 - Identifying and showcasing beacon developments across 
the county in order to create a shift in expectations with 
residents, planning authorities and developers

 - Making sure that planning specifically enables inclusive 
growth to address health inequalities, e.g. by addressing 
the difference between income and house prices or rent 

This work will continue to encourage the shaping of places 
that enable and support the delivery of inclusive growth.

17%
do not have access to a car 
or van (40,000 households)

2050
Vision is to create a  
magnet county

2.2

16REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

CREATING PLACES THAT ENABLE INCLUSIVE GROWTH

P
age 74



PROMOTING ‘GOOD  
WORK’ FOR ALL2.3

Our workplace can have an 
impact – positive or negative 
– on our physical and mental 
health and wellbeing. 

Public Health England (PHE) reports 
that a good working environment 
is good for health, and that a bad 
working environment may contribute 
to poor health (PHE, 2016). 

Public Health England also argues 
that lower skilled workers and those 
with fewer qualifications are more 
likely to experience poor working 
conditions, as well as worse health 
(Figure 6). This is a similar pattern 
of inequality that we have seen 
throughout this report.

But the working environment is also 
an important factor in economic 
prosperity. The Taylor Review of 
Modern Working Practices (2017) 

Jobs need to be 
sustainable and offer 
a minimum level of 
quality, to include 
not only a decent 
living wage, but also 
opportunities for in-
work development, 
the flexibility to enable 
people to balance work 
and family life, and 
protection from adverse 
working conditions that 
can damage health.

SIR MICHAEL MARMOT

Fair Society, Healthy Lives, 2010

CONTRIBUTING TO: BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT  |  PEOPLE

FIGURE 6

argues that “better designed 
work that gets the best out of 
people can make an important 
contribution to tackling our 
complex challenge of low 
productivity.” PHE (2016) argues 
that healthier, active and engaged 
employees are more productive 
and have lower levels of sickness 
absence and presenteeism (attending 
work when ill). 

In Gloucestershire, nearly 2% of 
employees have had a day off sick 
in the last week and 1% of working 
days are lost to sickness absence. 
The costs of presenteeism alone 
nationally are estimated to be £30bn 
annually due to lower productivity, 
for example (PHE, 2016). PHE states 
that this presents a strong business 
case to take action, as well as a 
public health one.

Figure 6. Long-term conditions 
in unskilled and professional 
occupations (PHE, 2016)

SKILLED & 
UNSKILLED  
OCCUPATIONS

Employees from 

unskilled 
occupations  
(52%)
experience long-term  
conditions ...

... more than groups from

professional 
occupations  
(33%) 

17REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

PROMOTING ‘GOOD WORK’ FOR ALL

P
age 75



STAGECOACH WEST AND J D NORMAN 
WORKING FOR A HEALTHY GLOUCESTERSHIRE

As with many aspects of this report, what’s good 
for health is good for business.

There has been a lot of work in Gloucestershire over 
the last couple of years to encourage businesses, 
large and small, to improve the health and wellbeing of 
their employees. Workplaces have improved policies, 
practices and the working environment across a 
range of areas, including mental health and wellbeing, 
physical activity, and nutrition. 

During 2016/17, the Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), in partnership with 
Public Health, worked with health@work to take local 
employers through a Workplace Wellbeing Charter 
accreditation scheme. 

A total of 40 Gloucestershire employers were 
accredited, with a workforce of over 18,000 people. 
92% of those accredited made a measurable 
improvement on their initial benchmark, with over 90% 
of employees surveyed reporting they had noticed 
recent changes in health and wellbeing provision in their 
workplace. 79% of employees surveyed reported they 
already had or would be likely to make future lifestyle 
changes as a result of the support they had received 
through the workplace.

Work is now underway to build on the success of this 
programme and to continue to promote and support 
healthy workplaces in Gloucestershire. 

One workplace that has worked to develop a culture that 
encourages employee wellbeing is Stagecoach West, 
which has depots in Gloucester, Cheltenham and Stroud. 
Stagecoach recognised a concern that sickness and turnover 
levels were slowly increasing. They consulted their staff, who 
told them that by hearing their views, supporting them and 
taking more interest in their health and wellbeing the company 
would become much more of an employer of choice. So they 
set about addressing health and wellbeing through:

 - Visible buy in from leaders: signing up to Time to Talk 
and communicating leaders’ commitment to staff health 
and wellbeing; resourcing a Wellbeing Leader and fully 
trained Wellbeing Champions.

 - Training for champions and managers: including 
mental health, how to have effective conversations, and 
even blood pressure readings.

 - Wellbeing vision: shared from day one of employment, 
promising to give support, provide an open door policy, 
prioritise and nurture personal development, and create 
social activity.

 - Expert support for staff: access free of charge to 
a nurse to give health MOTs, financial and mortgage 
advisors, and experts in fitness, smoking cessation 
and alcohol dependence, referring to Healthy Lifestyles 
Gloucestershire when needed.

 - Staff performance and Wellness Action Plans: 
managers can include Wellbeing Champions in early 

conversations with employees to understand what may 
be affecting their performance. Champions support 
with Wellness Action Plans (WAPs), designed to get the 
employee back on the road to recovery, without needing 
disciplinary action in the first instance. WAPs are also 
mandatory for anyone in a management role and optional 
for anyone else who might benefit.

 - Depot campaigns and engagement: Time to Talk 
sessions, healthy eating roadshows, and links to national 
campaigns, particularly those affecting men. Senior 
leaders are also more engaged, e.g. giving out healthy 
breakfast items at 4am or at lunchtime in canteens, with 
directors finding out how things are going for staff.

Another Gloucestershire workplace, J D Norman Industries 
in Lydney, has also benefitted from a focus on the health and 
wellbeing of their workforce, which is largely made up of older 
male employees working in heavy manufacturing. 

Traditionally, the company reported a lack of engagement 
from staff in health and wellbeing but, with support from 
human resources and occupational health, they have 
successfully reached more employees and encouraged them 
to get more involved. 

This has resulted in increased health awareness and  
made team members more mindful of their own wellbeing,  
leading to a downturn in sickness absence and a positive 
impact on profitability. The early intervention strategies have 
improved employee health, and led to effective return to  
work programmes.

CASE 
STUDY2.3

90%
noticed changes in 
health and wellbeing 
in their workplace

76%
would be likely 
to make future 
lifestyle changes

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 18

PROMOTING ‘GOOD WORK’ FOR ALL

P
age 76



But ‘good work’ is about more than just a healthy 
workplace. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
(2015) refers to studies that define ‘good work’ as 
being “safe, fair, secure, fulfilling, supportive and 
accommodating” and the Taylor Review outlines six  
high level indicators of good quality work:

Businesses that have diverse, inclusive workplaces 
recognise this brings improved productivity. For example, 
offering flexible working can enable employers to reach 
a wider talent pool, both male and female, including 
returners, older workers and people with disabilities. 
Creating a workplace which is truly flexible can  
improve productivity. 

HM Government’s UK Industrial Strategy, 2017

Locally, partners seeking to increase productivity and grow a 
thriving economy are developing plans to make workplaces in 
Gloucestershire more flexible, including through the emerging 
Local Industrial Strategy.

This approach will be a key element of the strategy set out 
in Gloucestershire’s 2050 Vision and the emerging Local 
Industrial Strategy to attract and retain younger workers 
as well as to realise the untapped potential of an ageing 
workforce. It should also contribute to healthier workplaces. 
But only if greater flexibility is offered alongside other 
aspects of ‘good work’ as part of permanent, secure and 
fulfilling employment.

A study commissioned by Public Health England (IPPR, 2017) 
found that although flexibility, adaptability, responsiveness, and 
an ability to deal with uncertainty are the keys to being able to 
thrive within today’s labour market, temporary contracts, zero 
hour contracts, job insecurity and low pay are all associated 
with poorer mental health amongst younger workers.

Flexibility can be an asset that attracts and retains a 
diverse workforce and contributes to productivity and 
business competitiveness, but it can also present a 
risk to health and wellbeing if not carefully planned 
and managed.

Another significant challenge will be to make sure that ‘good 
work’ can be enjoyed by all, not just those working in certain 
sectors. It is likely that flexibility will be more easily achieved 
in some sectors than in others. Poorer working conditions 
and health outcomes are experienced by those in lower 
paid jobs. So if we are to tackle inequalities through the 
workplace, we must think about how flexibility – and other 
features of ‘good work’ – can be achieved across business 
sectors, wherever possible.

The next chapter considers how the health, care and public 
sectors, in particular, can do their bit.

1 WAGES

2 EMPLOYMENT QUALITY

3 EDUCATION & TRAINING

4 WOR K ING CONDI T IONS

5 WOR K-L IFE BA L A NCE

6 CONSU LTAT I V E PA RT ICIPAT ION 
& COL L ECT I V E R EPR ESEN TAT ION

2.3

19REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

PROMOTING ‘GOOD WORK’ FOR ALL

P
age 77



HEALTH, CARE AND THE  
PUBLIC SECTOR AS INCLUSIVE 
GROWTH PARTNERS

2.4

In our efforts to drive 
inclusive growth, there is 
considerable opportunity to 
realise the untapped potential 
benefits of the spending and 
employment power of local 
anchor institutions, such as 
local authorities, educational 
establishments and the NHS. 

These organisations are a form of 
‘sticky capital’ as they are unlikely 
to close down and leave an area. 
A Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
report (2017) found that if ten anchor 
institutions in the Leeds City Region 
shifted an additional 10% of their 
total budget to spend locally, it could 
drive an additional £168 to £196 
million into the local economy.

In Gloucestershire, around 74,000 
people were working in the Health 
and Care and Public Sectors 
in 2015, making up just over a 
quarter of the local workforce 
(GCC, 2015). Organisations such 
as Gloucestershire County Council, 
NHS trusts, GCHQ, the University 

of Gloucestershire and others have 
a significant opportunity to lead by 
example as key partners in delivering 
inclusive growth.

The Joseph Rowntree Trust study of 
anchor institutions in Leeds (2017) 
identifies several opportunities to 
maximise this potential by:

 - Shifting just 5 to 10% of their  
current spend to competitive 
suppliers in the region

 - Truly embedding social value into 
criteria for choosing suppliers

 - Raising demand for 
apprenticeships by securing one 
apprenticeship for every £1 million 
they spend

 - Sending collective market signals 
relating to the importance of 
employment practices that provide 
‘good work’

 - Collaborating with local suppliers 
to build their capacity to bid for 
public procurement opportunities.

As leaders of place, 
councils fully recognise 
the fundamental 
importance of local 
collaboration between 
local government, 
business, the NHS and 
higher education –  
we are stronger and  
more effective when we 
work together.

CLLR MARK HAWTHORNE

Leader of Gloucestershire County 
Council and Chairman of the Local 
Government Association People & 
Places Board (NHS Confederation, 
2019)

CONTRIBUTING TO: PLACE  |  PEOPLE

20REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

HEALTH, CARE AND THE PUBLIC SECTOR AS INCLUSIVE GROWTH PARTNERS

P
age 78



GROWING THE RIGHT 
SKILLS FOR OUR 
HEALTH AND CARE 
WORKFORCE  
OF THE FUTURE

60
students will qualify 
in the summer 2020

A recent briefing note by the NHS Confederation 
(2019) identifies the benefits for the health and care 
system from contributing to Local Industrial Strategies 
and, specifically, inclusive growth, including:

 - Addressing the future workforce in the context of 
an ageing population

 - Adopting and scaling health innovations into 
practice

 - Developing an estate fit for the 21st century

 - Pooling investment

 - Increasing wellbeing

 - Managing demand for services

Many of these benefits are relevant to other anchor 
institutions and local organisations, not just health 
and care.

It is clear that there are considerable mutual benefits 
and that local health, care and public sector 
organisations have a key role to play in promoting 
and supporting inclusive growth in Gloucestershire. 
In particular, the developing Integrated Care 
System (ICS) in the county provides an exciting 
opportunity to collaborate across health and 
care to achieve economic growth that can be 
enjoyed by all.

2.4

Development of a sustainable health 
and care workforce is a key priority for 
Gloucestershire’s Integrated Care System 
(ICS).

The Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), 
with the county’s three NHS trusts – Gloucestershire 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, 2gether NHS Foundation 
Trust and Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust – 
identified a local and national shortage in the workforce 
required to meet the county’s health and care needs.

Working in collaboration with the University of 
Gloucestershire, they founded a new adult nursing 
degree, with the first cohort enrolling on the general 
nursing degree from September 2017. 60 students will 
qualify in the summer of 2020, having had hands-on 
experience in a wide range of settings, including the 
acute hospitals and mental health services. This year, the 
undergraduate nursing programmes are expected to have 
filled all of their places, with the mental health programme 
being oversubscribed and capacity increased.

Gloucestershire is also one of 24 national test sites 
delivering training for a new nursing associate role, which 
sits alongside existing nursing care support workers and 
fully-qualified registered nurses to deliver hands-on care 
for patients.

The first registered nursing associates (RNAs) qualified in 
2019, with 30 new RNAs already working on wards and 
in community settings across the county’s three NHS 
trusts. These are beginning to meet what is foreseen by 
many as significant future demand for this role.

Health is the biggest employer in Gloucestershire and 
these courses will provide the right skills for local people 
to have lifetime careers in the sector, attracting and 
retaining a growing workforce for the future. 

The registered nursing associates are 
already making a difference to patient 
care and multi-disciplinary team 
working since joining our teams in 
May. We need more of them!

SUSAN FIELD

Director of Nursing at Gloucestershire 
Care Services NHS Trust

CASE 
STUDY

74,000
people were working in Health, Care 
and Public Sectors in 2015

1OF24
national test sites delivering training

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 21

HEALTH, CARE AND THE PUBLIC SECTOR AS INCLUSIVE GROWTH PARTNERS

P
age 79



RECOMMENDATIONS
My report sets out the challenges and opportunities of driving inclusive growth to tackle health 
inequalities and increase productivity. No one business or organisation can do this alone.

I make the following recommendations to partners across the system in order to deliver on the ambitions set out in this report.

1
The Health and Wellbeing Board should set out 
its position on inclusive economic growth and its 
benefits to health (and vice versa) and seek to 
influence and align its strategy and actions wherever 
possible with those of economic development 
partners, particularly GFirst Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP).

GFirst LEP, in the development of the Local 
Industrial Strategy and other key strategies and 
plans, consider the recommendations of this report 
and set out its plans to ensure that everyone in 
Gloucestershire can contribute to and benefit from 
local growth. Representation by GFirst LEP on the 
Health and Wellbeing Board would support this.

GFirst LEP and the Employment and Skills Board 
should consider their role in tackling social mobility 
and promoting inclusive growth.

Key partner organisations should cooperate to 
undertake a ‘deep dive’ of Gloucestershire’s social 
mobility indicators, to better understand areas 
for focus and trends of concern and agree a joint 
approach to increasing social mobility. In the 
meantime, partners should continue to focus efforts 
around school readiness to maintain the early 
improvements being seen.

Public Health and Local Planning Authorities should 
continue to work together with other partners 
in housing, transport and other infrastructure 
specialists to maximise opportunities to build 
healthy communities with a thriving and inclusive 
economy. This should make sure that there is 
a strong understanding of inequalities amongst 
planners and other partners, and that actions taken 
to create healthy places benefit people from all 
socio-economic backgrounds.

Businesses and public sector partners should 
consider how ‘good work’ in Gloucestershire could 
be measured and encouraged amongst local 
employers. Plans to improve the flexibility of the 
workplace should seek to make sure that this is 
available to all, wherever possible.

Local anchor institutions should consider how 
they can lead by example in delivering inclusive 
growth through their employment and spending 
power. There may be an opportunity for the One 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) to 
play a key role in this at a local level.

2

5

6

7

3

4

03

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

RECOMMENDATIONS

22

P
age 80



APPENDIX 1

This report focuses on just one topic, albeit one that is complex. 
However, it is important to consider the overall health and wellbeing of 
the Gloucestershire population, which we can best summarise through a 
balanced dashboard of population health indicators.

Here, you can see the Local Authority Health Profile for Gloucestershire 
published by Public Health England on an annual basis. This shows 
a broadly healthy population, in line with or better than national rates 
across most indicators. However, profiles are also available at district 
level and these show greater variation. 

Much more information on the health and wellbeing of Gloucestershire 
residents can be found in the comprehensive Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment, which is available on the Inform Gloucestershire 
website: https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/understanding-
gloucestershire-a-joint-strategic-needs-assessment-jsna

Over the next year, we will be developing a population health dashboard 
for the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. Future annual reports will review this dashboard.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE’S POPULATION  
HEALTH INDICATORS

Health summary for Gloucestershire

The chart below shows how the health of people in this area compares with the rest of England. This area’s value for each
indicator is shown as a circle. The England average is shown by the red line, which is always at the centre of the chart. The
range of results for all local areas in England is shown as a grey bar. A red circle means that this area is significantly worse
than England for that indicator. However, a green circle may still indicate an important public health problem.

83.774.2
86.879.4
237.8545.7
45.6141.3

100.0195.3
6.118.3

79.5
83.1

333.8
73.5

136.8
9.9

80.0
83.6
301.4
63.6
123.6
10.8

n a
n a

5,220
1,104
2,154

176

2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16

1 Life expectancy at birth (Male)
2 Life expectancy at birth (Female)
3 Under 75 mortality rate: all causes
4 Under 75 mortality rate: cardiovascular
5 Under 75 mortality rate: cancer
6 Suicide rate

60.044.7
96.354.3
90.853.8

13.571.3
50.6578.9

364.7854.2
52.6
77.1
67.9

39.7
185.3
575.0

50.4
78.4
68.2

40.8
214.3
538.8

1,313
n a

5,823

756
1,287

713
2016
2017
2017

2014 − 16
2016/17
2016/17

10 Cancer diagnosed at early stage
11 Diabetes diagnoses (aged 17+)
12 Dementia diagnoses (aged 65+)

7 Killed and seriously injured on roads
8 Hospital stays for self−harm
9 Hip fractures in older people (aged 65+)

6.5100.0
388.21,151.1
8.123.1
78.053.3
40.574.9

34.2
636.4
14.9
66.0
61.3

38.4
600.4
14.3
69.2
59.8

144
3,784

71,233
n a
n a

2014/15 −
16/17

2016/17
2017

2016/17
2016/17

13 Alcohol−specific hospital stays (under 18s)
14 Alcohol−related harm hospital stays
15 Smoking prevalence in adults (aged 18+)
16 Physically active adults (aged 19+)
17 Excess weight in adults (aged 18+)

4.636.5
2.328.1
96.737.9
1.67.9

11.329.2

18.8
10.7
74.5
3.9
20.0

14.9

8.6^78

*68

3.1
17.1

157
302

2,758
63

1,000

2016
2016/17
2016/17

2014 − 16
2016/17

18 Under 18 conceptions
19 Smoking status at time of delivery
20 Breastfeeding initiation
21 Infant mortality rate
22 Obese children (aged 10−11)

5.742.0
13.938.9

21.8
25.7

15.0
27.8

n a
n a

2015
2017

23 Deprivation score (IMD 2015)
24 Smoking prevalence: routine and manual
     occupations

6.130.5
74.644.8
82.460.9
0.09.6
7.042.2

16.8
57.8
74.4
0.8
20.0

12.4
61.4
80.8

0.4^86

11.0

13,080
3,711

303,900
110

6,810

2015
2015/16
2016/17
2016/17
2016/17

25 Children in low income families (under 16s)
26 GCSEs achieved
27 Employment rate (aged 16−64)
28 Statutory homelessness
29 Violent crime (violence offences)

7.428.9
329.43,215.3
1.369.0

17.9
793.8
10.9

16.4
514.5

3.8

938
2,000

71

Aug 2013 −
Jul 2016

2017
2014 − 16

30 Excess winter deaths
31 New sexually transmitted infections
32 New cases of tuberculosis

Li
fe

 e
xp

ec
ta

nc
y

an
d 

ca
us

es
of

 d
ea

th
In

ju
rie

s 
an

d
ill

 h
ea

lth
B

eh
av

io
ur

al
 ri

sk
fa

ct
or

s
C

hi
ld

he
al

th
In
eq
ua
−

lit
ie

s
W

id
er

de
te

rm
in

an
ts

of
 h

ea
lth

H
ea

lth
pr

ot
ec

tio
n

Indicator names Period
Local
count

Local
value

Eng
value

Eng
worst

Eng
best

For full details on each indicator, see the definitions tab of the Health Profiles online tool: www.healthprofiles.info

Indicator value types
1, 2 Life expectancy - Years 3, 4, 5 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population aged under 75 6 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population aged 10 and over 7 Crude rate per 100,000
population 8 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population 9 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population aged 65 and over 10 Proportion - % of cancers diagnosed at stage 1 or 2 11
Proportion - % recorded diagnosis of diabetes as a proportion of the estimated number with diabetes 12 Proportion - % recorded diagnosis of dementia as a proportion of the estimated number with dementia
13 Crude rate per 100,000 population aged under 18 14 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population 15, 16, 17 Proportion - % 18 Crude rate per 1,000 females aged 15 to 17 19, 20 Proportion
- % 21 Crude rate per 1,000 live births 22 Proportion - % 23 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015 score 24, 25 Proportion - % 26 Proportion - % 5 A*-C including English & Maths 27 Proportion - % 28
Crude rate per 1,000 households 29 Crude rate per 1,000 population 30 Ratio of excess winter deaths to average of non-winter deaths (%) 31 Crude rate per 100,000 population aged 15 to 64 (excluding
Chlamydia) 32 Crude rate per 100,000 population

€“Regional” refers to the former government regions.
*68 Value not published for data quality reasons ^78 There is a data quality issue with this value ^86 Aggregated from all known lower geography values

If 25% or more of areas have no data then the England range is not displayed. Please send any enquiries to healthprofiles@phe.gov.uk

Youmay re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of theOpenGovernment Licence. To view this licence, visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3

© Crown Copyright 2018 4 Gloucestershire - 3 July 2018

HEALTH SUMMARY FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE

The chart on the right shows how the health of people in this area 
compares with the rest of England. This area’s value for each indicator is 
shown as a circle. The England average is shown by the red line, which 
is always at the centre of the chart. The range of results for all local areas 
in England is shown as a grey bar. A red circle means that this area is 
significantly worse than England for that indicator. However, a green 
circle may still indicate an important public health problem.

Health summary for Gloucestershire

The chart below shows how the health of people in this area compares with the rest of England. This area’s value for each
indicator is shown as a circle. The England average is shown by the red line, which is always at the centre of the chart. The
range of results for all local areas in England is shown as a grey bar. A red circle means that this area is significantly worse
than England for that indicator. However, a green circle may still indicate an important public health problem.

83.774.2
86.879.4
237.8545.7
45.6141.3

100.0195.3
6.118.3

79.5
83.1

333.8
73.5

136.8
9.9

80.0
83.6
301.4
63.6
123.6
10.8

n a
n a

5,220
1,104
2,154

176

2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16
2014 − 16

1 Life expectancy at birth (Male)
2 Life expectancy at birth (Female)
3 Under 75 mortality rate: all causes
4 Under 75 mortality rate: cardiovascular
5 Under 75 mortality rate: cancer
6 Suicide rate

60.044.7
96.354.3
90.853.8

13.571.3
50.6578.9

364.7854.2
52.6
77.1
67.9

39.7
185.3
575.0

50.4
78.4
68.2

40.8
214.3
538.8

1,313
n a

5,823

756
1,287

713
2016
2017
2017

2014 − 16
2016/17
2016/17

10 Cancer diagnosed at early stage
11 Diabetes diagnoses (aged 17+)
12 Dementia diagnoses (aged 65+)

7 Killed and seriously injured on roads
8 Hospital stays for self−harm
9 Hip fractures in older people (aged 65+)

6.5100.0
388.21,151.1
8.123.1
78.053.3
40.574.9

34.2
636.4
14.9
66.0
61.3

38.4
600.4
14.3
69.2
59.8

144
3,784

71,233
n a
n a

2014/15 −
16/17

2016/17
2017

2016/17
2016/17

13 Alcohol−specific hospital stays (under 18s)
14 Alcohol−related harm hospital stays
15 Smoking prevalence in adults (aged 18+)
16 Physically active adults (aged 19+)
17 Excess weight in adults (aged 18+)

4.636.5
2.328.1
96.737.9
1.67.9

11.329.2

18.8
10.7
74.5
3.9
20.0

14.9

8.6^78

*68

3.1
17.1

157
302

2,758
63

1,000

2016
2016/17
2016/17

2014 − 16
2016/17

18 Under 18 conceptions
19 Smoking status at time of delivery
20 Breastfeeding initiation
21 Infant mortality rate
22 Obese children (aged 10−11)

5.742.0
13.938.9

21.8
25.7

15.0
27.8

n a
n a

2015
2017

23 Deprivation score (IMD 2015)
24 Smoking prevalence: routine and manual
     occupations

6.130.5
74.644.8
82.460.9
0.09.6
7.042.2

16.8
57.8
74.4
0.8
20.0

12.4
61.4
80.8

0.4^86

11.0

13,080
3,711

303,900
110

6,810

2015
2015/16
2016/17
2016/17
2016/17

25 Children in low income families (under 16s)
26 GCSEs achieved
27 Employment rate (aged 16−64)
28 Statutory homelessness
29 Violent crime (violence offences)

7.428.9
329.43,215.3
1.369.0

17.9
793.8
10.9

16.4
514.5

3.8

938
2,000

71

Aug 2013 −
Jul 2016

2017
2014 − 16

30 Excess winter deaths
31 New sexually transmitted infections
32 New cases of tuberculosis

Li
fe

 e
xp

ec
ta

nc
y

an
d 

ca
us

es
of

 d
ea

th
In

ju
rie

s 
an

d
ill

 h
ea

lth
B

eh
av

io
ur

al
 ri

sk
fa

ct
or

s
C

hi
ld

he
al

th
In
eq
ua
−

lit
ie

s
W

id
er

de
te

rm
in

an
ts

of
 h

ea
lth

H
ea

lth
pr

ot
ec

tio
n

Indicator names Period
Local
count

Local
value

Eng
value

Eng
worst

Eng
best

For full details on each indicator, see the definitions tab of the Health Profiles online tool: www.healthprofiles.info

Indicator value types
1, 2 Life expectancy - Years 3, 4, 5 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population aged under 75 6 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population aged 10 and over 7 Crude rate per 100,000
population 8 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population 9 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population aged 65 and over 10 Proportion - % of cancers diagnosed at stage 1 or 2 11
Proportion - % recorded diagnosis of diabetes as a proportion of the estimated number with diabetes 12 Proportion - % recorded diagnosis of dementia as a proportion of the estimated number with dementia
13 Crude rate per 100,000 population aged under 18 14 Directly age-standardised rate per 100,000 population 15, 16, 17 Proportion - % 18 Crude rate per 1,000 females aged 15 to 17 19, 20 Proportion
- % 21 Crude rate per 1,000 live births 22 Proportion - % 23 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015 score 24, 25 Proportion - % 26 Proportion - % 5 A*-C including English & Maths 27 Proportion - % 28
Crude rate per 1,000 households 29 Crude rate per 1,000 population 30 Ratio of excess winter deaths to average of non-winter deaths (%) 31 Crude rate per 100,000 population aged 15 to 64 (excluding
Chlamydia) 32 Crude rate per 100,000 population

€“Regional” refers to the former government regions.
*68 Value not published for data quality reasons ^78 There is a data quality issue with this value ^86 Aggregated from all known lower geography values

If 25% or more of areas have no data then the England range is not displayed. Please send any enquiries to healthprofiles@phe.gov.uk

Youmay re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of theOpenGovernment Licence. To view this licence, visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3

© Crown Copyright 2018 4 Gloucestershire - 3 July 2018REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

APPENDIX 1

23

P
age 81

https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/understanding-gloucestershire-a-joint-strategic-needs-assessme
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/understanding-gloucestershire-a-joint-strategic-needs-assessme


APPENDIX 2
SOCIAL MOBILITY INDEX RANKINGS FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE

E A R LY Y E A R S G C CO FD S T

OV E R A L L R A N K 273 259 268 297 112 274

% of nursery providers rated ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’ by Ofsted 
(based on nursery location) 151 151 151 151 151 151

% of children eligible for free school meals achieving a ‘good level  
of development’ at the end of Early Years Foundation Stage  
(based on residence)

300 278 289 313 136 304

YOU T H G C CO FD S T

OV E R A L L R A N K 300 311 323 252 86 239

% of young people eligible for free school meals that are not in 
education, employment or training (positive destination) after 
completing KS4

227 322 301 251 19 161

Average points score per entry for young people eligible for free  
school meals at age 15 taking A-level or equivalent qualifications 
(based on residence)

254 139 324 105 36 188

% of young people eligible for free school meals at age 15 achieving 
2 or more A-levels or equivalent qualifications by the age of 19  
(based on residence)

302 247 185 243 106 237

% of young people eligible for free school meals at age 15 entering 
higher education by the age of 19 (based on residence) 275 275 275 275 275 275

% of young people eligible for free school meals at age 15 entering 
higher education at a selective university (most selective third by 
UCAS tariff scores) by the age of 19 (based on school location at 15)

230 230 230 230 230 230

WOR K I NG L I V E S G C CO FD S T

OV E R A L L R A N K 126 80 158 222 59 77

Median weekly salary (£) of employees who live in the local area,  
all employees (FT and PT)(based on residence) 204 113 243 250 126 146

Average house prices compared to median annual salary of  
employees who live in the local area (based on residence) 115 70 292 124 193 166

% of people that live in the local area who are in managerial and 
professional occupations (SOC 1 and 2)(based on residence) 222 49 30 238 130 134

% of jobs that are paid less than the applicable Living Wage  
Foundation living wage (based on job location) 58 116 113 242 50 48

% of families with children who own their home (based on residence) 176 158 201 81 44 98

G C CO FD S T

OV E R A L L R A N K 
(1 to 324 where 1 is the best social mobility) 282 225 268 303 43 199

S C HO OL G C CO FD S T

OV E R A L L R A N K 231 101 59 267 53 103

% of children eligible for free school meals attending a primary 
school rated ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’ by Ofsted (school location) 59 23 51 165 39 10

% of children eligible for free school meals attending a secondary 
school rated ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’ by Ofsted (school location) 247 75 54 275 133 147

% of children eligible for free school meals achieving at least the 
expected level in reading, writing and maths at the end of Key  
Stage 2 (based on residence)

154 273 214 241 124 202

Average attainment 8 score for pupils eligible for free school meals  
(based on residence) 311 159 89 235 74 199

K E Y  
G :GLOUCEST ER   |   C :CHELT EN H A M   |   CO:COTS WOL D   |   FD:FOR EST OF DE A N 
S:ST ROU D   |   T:T E W K ESBU RY

K E Y 

Source of 2016 data: www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index 
Source: www.gov.uk/governmnet/publications/social-mobility-index-2017-data

HOTSPOT:GOOD SOCI A L MOBIL I T Y

COLDSPOT:P OOR SOCI A L MOBIL I T Y

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

APPENDIX 2

24

P
age 82

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index
http://www.gov.uk/governmnet/publications/social-mobility-index-2017-data


APPENDIX 3
PROGRESS UPDATE FROM THE 2017/18 ANNUAL REPORT

Last year, my annual report focused on mental wellbeing 
and highlighted priorities for the future across five areas 
including children and young people’s mental health, self-
harm and suicide, and mental health stigma. Since then, 
progress has been made against many of these priorities.

 - Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
and its partners launched an All Age Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy for Gloucestershire. The vision of the 
strategy is for every resident to enjoy the best possible 
mental health and wellbeing throughout the course of 
their life.

 - Since the launch of the Gloucestershire Wellbeing 
(GloW) pledge in 2018, 39 organisations have signed up. 
(To see which organisations have joined the movement, 
visit www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow) Many of 
those who have signed up to the GloW commitment 
form part of the Good Mental Health Group, who work 
collaboratively to make sure that more people living in 
Gloucestershire can have good mental wellbeing.

 - In December, Government announced that 
Gloucestershire was one of only a handful of areas in the 
country to be successful in securing funding as a Mental 
Health Trailblazer site, supporting the implementation of 
four Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs) in schools. 
Gloucestershire was also selected to trial a four-week 
waiting time for referral to treatment for specialist 
children and young people’s mental health services.

 - We continue to help people to build the Five Ways 
to Wellbeing into their lives, including to help build 
resilience in young people as an essential part of 
our strategy to prevent and mitigate against Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs).

 - Through our self-harm prevention action plan we have 
created a tool to help professionals discuss self-harm 
with young people and create a prevention and support 
plan. We have a rolling programme of training for front 
line professionals such as school nurses and police 
officers and have improved the guidance available 
to GPs on identifying and managing self-harm. We 
continue to commission the valuable Self-Harm Helpline 
for people who are self-harming, their friends and family 
and professionals.

 - Preventing suicide continues to be a priority for the 
county and we have funded a GP to develop and deliver 
training for practice staff. We have a Communications 
and Engagement Plan to prevent negative media 
reporting and promote sources of support for people 
in distress and a suite of suicide prevention training 
available. This year we will be launching a public 
campaign to promote the life saving Zero Suicide 
Alliance 20 minute training. We are also working with 
Sunflowers Suicide Support to pilot a service for 
children bereaved by suicide. 

 - 267 people have accessed our Mental Health First Aid 
(MHFA) and Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training 
(ASIST) training in the last year. This includes foster 
carers, who have accessed Mental Health First Aid to 
help them support the young people they care for.

 - Kingfisher Treasure Seekers, Gloucestershire County 
Council and the Gloucestershire Tackling Stigma group 
have recently launched Glos Talks, an exciting new 
countywide campaign to address mental health stigma. 
Glos Talks is spreading a simple message: it is ok to talk 
about mental health!

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19

APPENDIX 3

25

P
age 83

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow


GLOSSARY
All-Party Parliamentary Group 
All-Party Parliamentary Groups (APPGs) are informal 
cross-party groups run by and for Members of 
the Commons and Lords, though many choose to 
involve individuals and organisations from outside 
Parliament in their administration and activities. 

Anchor institutions 
Anchor institutions are enterprises such as universities 
and hospitals that are rooted in their local communities 
by mission, invested capital or relationships with 
customers, employees, and suppliers.

Core Cities
The Core Cities Group is a self-selected and self-
financed collaborative advocacy group of large 
regional cities in the United Kingdom outside Greater 
London. There are ten cities: Birmingham, Bristol, 
Cardiff, Glasgow, Leeds, Liverpool, Manchester, 
Newcastle, Nottingham and Sheffield.

Early Years 
The Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) sets 
standards for the learning, development and care of 
children from birth to five years old. 

Economic inactivity
A person of working age (16 to 64) is counted as 
economically inactive if they are out of work, they 
have not been actively looking for work in the past 
four weeks, and they are not waiting to start a job. 
People who are caring for their family or retired are 
also counted as economically inactive. A person 
in full-time education is counted as economically 
inactive unless they are either in paid work or looking 
for and available to start work.

Free school meals (FSM) 
Free school meals (FSM) are a crucial entitlement 
for families living in poverty. They help to ensure 
that children from the lowest income families get a 
nutritious meal in the middle of the day.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 26

GLOSSARY

P
age 84



GLOSSARY

GHWB – Gloucestershire Health  
and Wellbeing Board 
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board  
brings together elected members, leaders from  
the NHS, social care, police and others to work 
together and support one another to improve the 
health and wellbeing of the local population and 
reduce health inequalities.

Gross value added (GVA) 
Gross value added (GVA) is the measure of the value 
of goods and services produced in an area, industry 
or sector of an economy. In national accounts GVA is 
output minus intermediate consumption.

Integrated care system (ICS)
In an integrated care system, NHS organisations, 
in partnership with local councils and others, take 
collective responsibility for managing resources, 
delivering NHS standards, and improving the health 
and care of the population they serve.

Inclusive growth
Inclusive growth is about enabling more people 
and places to both contribute to and benefit from 
economic success. A policy or strategy that does 
not have a focus on living standards of those at the 
bottom of the income distribution cannot describe 
itself as an inclusive growth strategy.

Living wage
A living wage is the minimum income necessary for a 
person to meet their basic needs, e.g. food, housing 
and clothing, and enjoy a decent standard of living. 
The UK national living wage is £8.21 for people over 
the age of 25. The Real Living Wage Foundation 
argues this should be set higher at £9.00 in the UK 
and £10.55 in London.

Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) 
Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) are voluntary 
partnerships between local authorities and businesses 
set up in 2011 by the Department for Business, 
Innovation and Skills to help determine local economic 
priorities and lead economic growth and job creation 
within the local area. 

Prevalence
Prevalence is the proportion of a population who have a 
specific characteristic in a given time period.

Productivity
Productivity can be described as the effectiveness 
of productive effort as measured in a range of way, 
usually in terms of the rate of output, e.g. a business’s 
product, per unit of input, e.g. working hours.

School readiness
School readiness is a term that can mean different 
things to different people. Many interpret it to mean 
that a child is ready to start the reception class in 
school. However, the more technical definition relates 
to a child being ready to start Key Stage 1 learning, 
i.e. ready to transition from Reception to Year 1 at  
age five.

Social gradient 
The social gradient in heath refers to the fact that 
inequalities in population health status are related to 
inequalities in social status.

Wider determinants
Wider determinants, also known as social determinants, 
are a diverse range of social, economic and environment 
factors which impact on people’s health. 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 27

GLOSSARY

P
age 85



REFERENCES

County APPG & CCCN (2018) Social Mobility in Counties.  
(Available online via CCN, 2018)

County Councils Network (CCN) (2018) ‘Unfair’ council funding holding back social mobility 
in rural counties, MPs warn. 31 October 2018.  
https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/unfair-council-funding-holding-back-social-
mobility-in-rural-counties-mps-warn/ 

Department for Business, Innovation & Skills (BIS) (2014) Does worker wellbeing affect 
worker performance?  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/366637/bis-14-1120-does-worker-wellbeing-affect-workplace-performance-final.pdf 

Gloucestershire County Council (2015) Sector Snapshots.  
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/economy/sector-snapshots/ 

Gloucestershire County Council (2018) The Productivity Puzzle. 
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2082585/productivity-puzzle-finalv3.pdf 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) (2019) Unemployment Bulletin 130: May 2019.  
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2090094/unemployment-bulletin_-may-19.pdf 

HM Government (2017) Industrial Strategy: Building a Britain fit for the future.  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/664563/industrial-strategy-white-paper-web-ready-version.pdf 

Inclusive Growth Commission (IGC) (2017) Making the economy work for everyone.  
www.thersa.org/discover/publications-and-articles/reports/final-report-of-the-inclusive-
growth-commission 

IPPR (2017) Flexibility for who? Millennials and mental health in the modern labour market.  
www.ippr.org/files/2017-07/flexibility-for-who-report-july-2017.pdf 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 28

REFERENCES

P
age 86

https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/unfair-council-funding-holding-back-social-mobility-in-rura
https://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/unfair-council-funding-holding-back-social-mobility-in-rura
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3666
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3666
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/economy/sector-snapshots/ 
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2082585/productivity-puzzle-finalv3.pdf  
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2090094/unemployment-bulletin_-may-19.pdf 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6645
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6645
https://www.thersa.org/discover/publications-and-articles/reports/final-report-of-the-inclusive-grow
https://www.thersa.org/discover/publications-and-articles/reports/final-report-of-the-inclusive-grow
https://www.ippr.org/files/2017-07/flexibility-for-who-report-july-2017.pdf 


REFERENCES

NHS Confederation (2019) Health in all local industrial strategies?  
Briefing: June 2019.  
www.nhsconfed.org/resources/2019/06/health-in-all-local-industrial-strategies 

OECD (2019) Inclusive Growth. www.oecd.org/inclusive-growth/ 

Public Health England (PHE) (2016) Health & Work: Infographics. 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-work-infographics

Public Health England (PHE) (2018) Local Authority Health Profile: Gloucestershire 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles 

Public Health England (PHE) (2019) Local Tobacco Control Profiles for England:  
July 2019 data update  
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control 

Social Mobility Commission (2017) Social Mobility Index: 2017 data.  
www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-index-2017-data 

Social Mobility Commission (2019) State of the Nation 2018-19: Social Mobility  
in Great Britain.  
www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-in-great-britain-state-of-the-nation-
2018-to-2019 

Taylor, Matthew (2017) Good Work: The Taylor Review of Modern Working Practices.  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/627671/good-work-taylor-review-modern-working-practices-rg.pdf 

Town & Country Planning Association (TCPA) (2012) Reuniting health with planning: 
healthier homes, healthier communities.  
www.tcpa.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=90dfdb6c-e68e-42ce-955f-fd5b15f69ba0 

Kings Fund (2013) Broader determinants of health: future trends.  
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-broader-
determinants-health 

Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2015) Work is good for your health – should we 
cheer or circle the wagons?, August 2015.  
www.jrf.org.uk/blog/work-good-your-health-%E2%80%93-should-we-cheer-or-circle-wagons 

Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2017) Maximising the local impact of anchor 
institutions: a case study of Leeds City Region.  
www.jrf.org.uk/report/maximising-local-impact-anchor-institutions-case-study-leeds-
city-region 

Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2019) How Local Industrial Strategies can deliver 
inclusive growth.  
www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Inclusive%20Growth%20LIS%20
Masterclass%20Slides.pdf 

Local Government Association (LGA) & Public Health England (PHE) (2016), Health, 
work and health related worklessness: A guide for local authorities.  
https://www.local.gov.uk/health-work-and-health-related-worklessness-guide-local-authorities 

Local Government Association (LGA) (2019) Nobody Left Behind: Maximising the 
health benefits of an inclusive local economy.  
www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/22.15%20inclusive%2growth_04.1.pdf 

London School of Economics & Political Science (LSE) (2017) Low-cost housing 
schemes have little impact on social mobility. 3rd July 2017.  
www.lse.ac.uk/News/Latest-news-from-LSE/2017/07-July-2017/Housing-and-social-mobility 

Marmot, M. et al (2010) Fair Society, Healthy Lives.  
www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-
marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2018/19 29

REFERENCES

P
age 87

http://www.nhsconfed.org/resources/2019/06/health-in-all-local-industrial-strategies
http://www.oecd.org/inclusive-growth/  
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-work-infographics 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-in-great-britain-state-of-the-nation-2018-to-2019
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-in-great-britain-state-of-the-nation-2018-to-2019
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6276
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6276
http://www.tcpa.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=90dfdb6c-e68e-42ce-955f-fd5b15f69ba0 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-broader-determinants-health 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-broader-determinants-health 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/blog/work-good-your-health-%E2%80%93-should-we-cheer-or-circle-wagons
http://www.jrf.org.uk/report/maximising-local-impact-anchor-institutions-case-study-leeds-city-region 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/report/maximising-local-impact-anchor-institutions-case-study-leeds-city-region 
http://www.lse.ac.uk/News/Latest-news-from-LSE/2017/07-July-2017/Housing-and-social-mobility 
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-


Report of the Director of Public Health 2018/19

P
age 88



P
age 89



Health and wealth: a cycle

“Being in good employment is protective of 

health. Conversely, unemployment 

contributes to poor health. Getting people 

into work is therefore of critical importance 

for reducing health inequalities”

Marmot Review, 2010

But what’s good for health is also good for 

business: increased performance and 

productivity, lower sickness absence, etc.

P
age 90



Health inequalities in Gloucestershire

Our population is comparatively healthy – BUT, this hides inequality

P
age 91



Inclusive growth and health inequalities
“Inclusive growth is economic growth that is distributed fairly across 

society and creates opportunities for all.” (OECD)

Inclusive growth: a crucial part of any strategy 

to increase productivity

Tackling inequalities through inclusive growth 

should also tackle poor long-term economic 

performance and improve the productive 

potential of Gloucestershire

P
age 92



Social mobility: a driver of inclusive growth

Social mobility index 
ranking (out of 324)

Social mobility can be considered across three domains:

• Early years and school readiness

• Educational attainment and post 16 options

• Rewarding employment opportunities

3 of 6 Gloucestershire districts are in the bottom 

20% nationally in social mobility index rankings.

Particular challenges against Early Years and 

Youth indicators

P
age 93



Social mobility: a driver of inclusive growth

School readiness is a key determinant of outcomes in later life but 
Gloucestershire’s 5 year olds are:

• Less likely to have reached a ‘good level of development’ than in England

• Even less likely if they are eligible for free school meals

• Less likely to reach expected level in phonics

This disparity can also be seen at age 15/16:

• Gloucester City ranks 311th out of 324 for GCSE attainment by children with 
free school meals

• Young people eligible for free school meals at age 15 are less likely to go on 
to enter higher education by the age of 19 than in other parts of England

P
age 94



Places that support inclusive growth

Three key infrastructure-related actions to 

support inclusive growth:

• Social value from infrastructure projects

• Delivering affordable housing – Cotswold 

ranked 292nd out of 324 for housing 

affordability

• Investing in public transport – plays a 

critical role in enabling people to access 

education, training, and employment 

opportunities where car ownership is lower

P
age 95



‘Good work’ for all
Good work is “safe, fair, secure, fulfilling, supportive and 

accommodating” (Joseph Rowntree Foundation)

• Healthier, active and 

engaged employees are 

more productive and  

have lower levels of 

sickness absence and 

presenteeism

• But ‘good work’ is about  

healthy workplaces and 

more!

P
age 96



The role of the health, care and public sectors

Around 74,000 people working in these sectors in Gloucestershire in 2015 –

just over a quarter of the total workforce

Opportunities to drive inclusive growth:

- Future workforce

- Employment practices

- Procurement spend

- Social value

- Public estate

- Health innovations

P
age 97



Recommendations
1. The Health and Wellbeing Board should set out its position on inclusive 

economic growth and its benefits to health (and vice versa) and seek to 
influence and align its strategy and actions wherever possible with those of 
economic development partners, particularly GFirst LEP

2. GFirst LEP, in the development of the Local Industrial Strategy and other key 
strategies and plans, consider the recommendations of this report and set out 
its plans to ensure that everyone in Gloucestershire can contribute to and 
benefit from local growth. Representation by GFirst LEP on the Health & 
Wellbeing Board would support this

3. GFirst LEP and the Employment & Skills Board should consider their role in 
tackling social mobility and promoting inclusive growth

P
age 98



Recommendations
4. Key partner organisations should cooperate to undertake a ‘deep dive’ of 

Gloucestershire’s social mobility indicators, to better understand areas for 
focus and trends of concern and agree a joint approach to increasing social 
mobility. In the meantime, partners should continue to focus efforts around 
school readiness to maintain the early improvements being seen

5. Public Health and Local Planning Authorities should continue to work together 
with other partners in housing, transport and other infrastructure specialists to 
maximise opportunities to build healthy communities with a thriving and 
inclusive economy. This should make sure that there is a strong understanding 
of inequalities amongst planners and other partners, and that actions taken to 
create healthy places benefit people from all socio-economic backgrounds

P
age 99



Recommendations
6. Businesses and public sector partners should consider how ‘good 

work’ in Gloucestershire could be measured and encouraged 
amongst local employers. Plans to improve the flexibility of the 
workplace should seek to make sure that this is available to all, 
wherever possible

7. Local anchor institutions should consider how they can lead by 
example in delivering inclusive growth through their employment 
and spending power. There may be an opportunity for the One 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) to play a key role in 
this at a local level

P
age 100



Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

sarah.l.scott@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Questions or comments?

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GLOUCESTERSHIRE BUSINESS RATES POOL MID-YEAR UPDATE

Meeting Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee
20 November 2019

Report author Andrew Cummings – Strategic Director of Resources
Stroud District Council 
Tel: 01453 754115 Email: andrew.cummings@stroud.gov.uk

Background 
documents

Report to GEGJC June 2019

Main consultees Gloucestershire Chief Financial Officers

Purpose of report To update members of the committee on the forecast outturn of the 2019/10 
Business Rates Pool and agree new uses of the SEDF

Recommendations The Committee:
1. Note the forecast outturn of the Business Rates Pool for 2019/20
2. Agree the allocation of SEDF balances against the project (s) ‘agreed in 

principle’ by the Joint Committee in September 2019, as set out below:
i) £70,000 of reserves currently held in the Strategic Economic 
Development Fund is used for the purposes of revenue funding 
contribution towards the overall cost of the commission of the Rail 
Investment Strategy (RIS) for Gloucestershire. (Reserve funding will be 
available in two tranches - £40k in 19/20 and £30k in 2020/21) Appendix 
1 (attached)
ii) £40,000 of reserves currently held in the Strategic Economic 
Development Fund is used for the purposes of revenue funding 
contribution towards the overall cost of the commission of the LNP Capital 
Mapping Work in 19/20. Appendix 2 (attached) 
iii) £500,000 of reserves currently held in the Strategic Economic 
Development Fund is used for the purposes of revenue funding 
contribution towards supporting the commission of work for the newly 
established Central Gloucestershire City Region Board in 19/20. 
Appendix 3 (to follow) 
iv) £200,000 of reserves currently held in the Strategic Economic 
Development Fund is used for the purposes of revenue funding 
contribution to match fund the development of an economic evidence 
base and prospectus, to support that growth potential, so that 
Gloucestershire can further develop this value proposition that will set it 
apart from other counties, towns and cities in 19/20. Appendix 4 (to 
follow) 

Page 103

Agenda Item 8

mailto:andrew.cummings@stroud.gov.uk


Reasons for 
recommendations

To update the Committee on the forecast for the Business Rates Pool

Resource 
Implications

There are no resource implications to implementing this recommendation.  

Page 104



Background 
1. After the end of the Business Rates Pilot Gloucestershire is again operating as a pool, 

including all of the Districts. 
2. The last update report to this Committee predicted that there would be a gain from the 

pool to the Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF) of £643k in 2019/20.

Financial Forecast – Business Rates Pool
3. Mid-year forecasts have been prepared by each of the districts for business rates to be 

collected for the year which have been collated to produce a forecast outturn for the 
pool.  The current prediction is that the gain from pooling will be £3.6m across the 
County which will result in a transfer to the SEDF of £720k.

4. The distribution of the pool benefit, which is based on the previously agreed 
methodology, is set out in the table below.

Distribution
19/20 
forecast 
Outturn

Strategic Economic Development Fund (as 
administered by GEGJC) £720k

District Councils (for financial resilience or 
other uses including growth initiatives) £2.303m

County Council (for financial resilience or 
other uses including growth initiatives) £577k

Total Pilot Gain £3.6m

5. This figure will continue to be monitored throughout the financial year with the final 
figure being known after year end audit procedures have been completed at all districts 
during 2020.

Future of the Business Rates Pool
6. The recent one year spending review from the Government has delayed the reforms to 

the Business rates Retention system by one year.  The impact of this is that pooling 
continues to generate a financial benefit during the 2020/21 year. This was not 
expected in previous pool forecasts.

7. As designated pool lead Stroud DC has confirmed to government on behalf of 
Gloucestershire that we wish the pool to continue into 2020/21.

8. This extension generates an additional year of income to the SEDF.  Early forecasts put 
this benefit at £723k which has been incorporated in the long term projection for the 
SEDF at Appendix A.

Page 105



New Proposed Funding Requests for SEDF

9. Rail Investment Strategy

The Gloucestershire Chief Executives Group, at its meeting in June, had agreed in 
principle, to providing the further £70,000 required to complete the proposed two 
phased approach for the Rail Study Commission. At their meeting in September 2019, 
GEGJC briefly considered this  funding request, raised as part of the Local Transport 
Plan Review item and presentation, for a funding contribution towards the commission 
of a Rail Investment Strategy for Gloucestershire, and gave  ‘in principle support’ 
subject to ratification at this meeting.

The commission of a Rail Investment Strategy for Gloucestershire will establish the 
economic value in terms of gross added value and jobs created by enhancing rail 
services in Gloucestershire to major economic centres including London, Birmingham 
Bristol, Oxford, and Cardiff. The study will underpin GCC’s priorities for rail investment 
in the County and inform the ongoing review of the Gloucestershire Local Transport 
Plan (LTP). It will also be a key part of the emerging Local Industrial Strategy (LIS). The 
attached SEDF Expression of Interest template (Appendix 1) provides more 
information about the Commission. Funding from GCC and the LEP had been identified 
and committed for the study, leaving a short fall of £70,000 to complete the two phases 
of the overall commission.
 

10.  LNP Natural Capital Mapping

The LNP's Green Infrastructure Pledge has been implemented county-wide and has 
successfully recognised and integrated the importance of natural capital and Green 
Infrastructure in Gloucestershire at the policy level. This achievement has not yet 
transitioned into delivery on the ground. To ensure this is done in a coordinated 
manner, the LNP is developing a suite of tools. One of these is the Building with Nature 
standard, which is already being implemented across the County. Another is the 
Natural Capital Baseline map, for which the LNP is seeking a funding contribution to 
develop. The LNP has presented the Natural Capital Map concept to the SOG in 
September, and the full GEGJC has heard from Doug Hulyer and Jackie Jobes at the 
inception of this project some months before that. GFirst LEP has committed £10,000 to 
this project, the Environment Agency, GWT and LNP a further £5,000 each.

The LNP would like to request approval for release of a further £40,000 from the SEDF 
in principle on 20th Nov, pending approval from the SOG that the LNP has answered its 
questions sufficiently. The attached SEDF Expression of Interest template (Appendix 
2) provides more information about the proposal.

11. Central Gloucestershire City Region Board

The new Central Gloucestershire City Region Board, established by Leadership 
Gloucestershire and made up of Leaders and Chief Executives of the County Council, 
Tewkesbury Borough Council, Cheltenham Borough Council and Gloucester City and 
other partners, met for the first last week, and resolved to ask the GEGJC to allocate a 
one off sum of £500,000 to support their work. This will include some commissioning 
of additional resources to support their vision, and various pieces of work 

Page 106



masterplanning activities. The SEDF Expression of Interest template (Appendix 3) 
provides more information about the planned work – to follow. 

12. Cyber Tech growth for Gloucestershire

The Cyber Tech industry is of growing importance to Gloucestershire’s economic 
future.  Forming key elements of the 2050 Vision and the emerging Local Industrial 
Strategy it is evident that Cyber provides the county with a high value and fast growing 
specialist industry.

The vision for Cyber Central was launched earlier this year providing a compelling 
vision in which sees Gloucestershire become the UK capital of the Cyber Tech 
industry, placing us on the global platform. There has been considerable government 
support and interest in Gloucestershire’s leading role in this field, due to the national 
security interests as well as the rapid growth potential for the industry.  The recent 
Ministerial visit to Cheltenham by Robert Jenrick Secretary of State for MHCLG, 
focussed on promoting the importance of  Cyber Tech, as part of the launch of the 
Western Gateway.
  
A request is being made to seek a £200,000 funding contribution from the Business 
rates Pool SEDF fund, to match fund the development of an economic evidence base 
and prospectus, to support that growth potential, so that Gloucestershire can further 
develop this value proposition that will set it apart from other counties, towns and 
cities. The SEDF Expression of Interest template (Appendix 4) provides more 
information about the proposal – to follow.

Risk Assessment
13. As always there is a risk to the business rates pool in 2019/20 from the settling of 

backdated appeals.  The issue of NHS Trusts requesting charitable status remains the 
most significant financial risk to the pool and pool members.

Officer Advice
14. No officer advice required

Equalities considerations
15. There are no equalities considerations associated with this decision. It is purely a 
       financial consideration.

Consultation feedback
16.  Each of the Business Rates Pool members has been consulted about this report.

Performance Management/follow-up
17. The final position of the Business Rates Pool for 2019/20 will be reported after the end 
      of the audit process.  

Page 107



Appendix A

Projected Balance of the SEDF

GEGJC 
Decision 
Date

2018/19
(£’000)

2019/20
(£’000)

2020/21
(£’000)

2021/22
(£’000)

Item 

Funding
SEDF Balance b/f
2017/18 Pool (confirmed)
2018/19 Pilot Gain (indicative)
Pool Gain (indicative)
SEDF Funding

Allocations
Operating Costs for Joint 
Committee
LEP Core Funding (Match)

LEP/LA Inward Investment 
Programme (EU Match)

J.10 Business Case Commission 
(contribution)

Economic Intelligence Data
Commissioning Fund

Rail Investment Strategy – to be 
ratified by the Joint Committee

LNP Capital Mapping

Central Gloucestershire City 
Region Board

Cyber Centre

Total Allocations

Nov 17

Nov 17

Nov 17

Nov 18

Nov 18

Sept 19

336
828

2,854
615

4,633

(5)

(250)

(75)

(275)

(25)

0

(630)

4,003

720
4,723

(5)

(250)

0

0

(25)

(40)

(40)

(500)

(200)

(1,060)

3,663

723
4,386

(5)

0

0

0

0

(30)

(35)

4,351

4,351

(5)

0

0

0

0

0

(5)

SEDF Balance c/f 4,003 3,663 4,351 4,346

Page 108



Notes

 LEP Core Funding beyond 2019/20 subject to future decision in March 2020.
 SEDF balance held and accounted for by Gloucestershire County Council

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

Expression of Interest/Application Template

Gloucestershire Economic Growth: Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF): This fund is for 
the benefit of the whole of Gloucestershire, and utilising funds from the current 
Gloucestershire Local Authority Business Rates Pool. It facilitates collective
work on the economic development agenda and reflects the commitment of the Pool
participants to drive economic investment which also links to the planning and
infrastructure process. Eligibility criteria for the fund has been established and agreed by all 
participants, against which bids for funding are assessed. 

Access to the Fund is for the principle stakeholders only – the Local Authorities and Local 
Economic Partnership, and any project or funding request will need to have a clearly 
identified sponsoring lead organisation/contact. Expression of Interest submissions should 
be completed and submitted for consideration by the Gloucestershire Economic Growth 
Joint Committee Senior Officer Support Group, at a relevant meeting. They will assess its 
potential against the criteria and whether a good strategic fit. his mirrors the same approach 
adopted for the consideration of new projects for the Gloucestershire Capital Investment 
Pipeline (CIP).

The award of funds must be agreed unanimously by each of the members of the Pool, as 
part of the Business Rates Pool standing item at the Gloucestershire Economic Joint 
Committee meetings. 

Project Name: 

Gloucestershire Rail Investment Strategy (GRIS) 

Investment theme: Tick the primary theme that best fits your project. If applicable, also tick a sub 
theme. If ‘other’ state and explain.)

Primary Investment theme:
Business Environment □  Housing □  Infrastructure X Place Shaping  □ Skills and Employment 

Other □  

Sub investment theme:
Digital □  Education □  Employment □ Energy  □ Housing □ Regeneration □  Transport X    

Other □

Promoter Details:

Promoter Organisation Gloucestershire County Council 
Promoter Address Economic Growth & Strategic Planning Team

Shire Hall
Westgate Street
Gloucester
GL1 2TH

Page 111



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

Primary Contact (name & job 
title)

Rob Niblett
Planning Officer

Email Address Robert.niblett@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Contact Telephone Number 01452 425695

Project Summary (Max 250 words) (Describe your project idea clearly and succinctly, including what 
the investment would buy, and why it would lead to economic growth for Gloucestershire. Include 
the potential timeframe, and any significant drivers or constraints related to the scheduling of the 
investment.

To commission a Rail Investment Strategy (RIS) for Gloucestershire to establish the 
economic value in terms of Gross Value Added (GVA) and jobs created by enhancing rail 
services in Gloucestershire to major economic centres including London, Birmingham, 
Bristol, Oxford and Cardiff.

Similar documents have been produced for amongst others Worcestershire, 
Swindon/Wiltshire and the West Midlands Combined Authority.  The piece of work proposed 
for Gloucestershire would, in part, fill in the gaps for Gloucestershire as well as build on 
existing studies which have utilised the same methodology e.g. the Ashchurch for 
Tewkesbury Rail Strategy.  

Summary of benefits/outcomes that will be delivered (Max 250 words) (Expanding on your 
summary, provide information on the tangible benefits or outcomes that would be delivered, leading 
to the growth of the Gloucestershire economy. These could address challenges or capitalise on 
opportunities, including those associated with improving productivity.
List the expected benefits, estimated quantities and indicate the timescales).

The study will underpin GCC’s priorities for rail investment in the County and inform the 
ongoing review of the Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP).  It will also be a key part 
of the emerging Local Industrial Strategy (LIS).

A list of strategic infrastructure and service priorities are proposed in the LTP and the 
Gloucestershire RIS will provide the evidence base to prioritise these and lobby the rail 
industry for them to be delivered. It will also give a more robust evidence base upon which to 
bid for funding from the Government for improvements to stations and other rail related 
infrastructure which is highly competitive.  

The GRIS would also provide the evidence base when responding to rail franchises which 
are key opportunities to influence the DfT who set out the service level specification.  If 
enhanced services on specific routes which are priorities for the County aren’t specified it 
makes it harder to get them included at a later stage as other locations will have benefitted 

Page 112

mailto:Robert.niblett@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

from improved connectivity if they have had a more robust evidence base.  

The route of the Bristol to Birmingham railway closely mirrors the M5 which is already 
heavily congested with junctions that are at, or likely to reach capacity in the near future. 
Currently rail accounts for around one per cent of journeys in the County with the national 
average approximately five per cent.  Hence the rail network has a critical role in enabling 
sustainable economic growth that is planned in the County in accordance with Government 
policy. Increased rail connectivity for visitors and residents of Gloucestershire is critical in 
boosting economic activity, reducing congestion on the road network, improving air quality 
and help tackle climate change. It will also improve access to jobs and education and 
provide an alternative to cars for those seeking employment.   The GRIS would help flesh 
out these issues.  

Strategic Fit (Max 150 words) (Give the local, regional or national context for your project. Explain 
how it clearly aligns to the Strategic Economic Plan v2 
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2018/sep-2-update2018v3.pdf
and complements the local District strategies and delivery plans

The proposed scheme would help with the key strategic priority of connection as set out in 
the SEP 2 update of 2018.  It would help deliver improved integrated transport connectivity 
within Gloucestershire and to the main urban centres of London, Birmingham and Bristol.  It 
would help people to access employment and training, thus enabling business growth and 
boosting economic activity.    

Evidence of need or demand (Max 150 words) (give details of the evidence you can reference that 
supports your case that there is a need or demand for this project)

As discussed earlier rail accounts for approximately one per cent of rail journeys in 
Gloucestershire with the national average being around five per cent.  Therefore there is 
considerable scope to increase rail based journeys both with in the county and to 
destinations further afield by a range of measures including higher frequency services and 
improvements to stations.  

Summary of the project costs and any sources of funding:  (Estimated total capital cost of the 
project, and (if available) list the main elements of the budget. Provide details of any potential or 
secured source(s) of funding and the likely shortfall.)

Phase 1 – around £50,000 and phase 2 around £50,000, depending on the final agreed 
scope of the RIS.  In the spirit of joint working, Gloucestershire County Council have 
identified £25,000 and GFirst LEP £10,000.  This leaves a short fall of approximately 
£70,000.

Page 113

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2018/sep-2-update2018v3.pdf


Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

The methodology for such a study has been established and some of the data has already 
been collected so the overall cost will be less than if starting from first principles.  

Phase 1 will establish which services/routes are a priority in terms of supporting economic 
growth as set out in the review of the JCS, Local Plans, LIS, 2050 Plan and other relevant 
documents. It will build on and add to the data already collected and establish a sustainable 
geographical spatial strategy.  It will establish what relatively low cost rail infrastructure 
improvements can be made to achieve the above outcomes.  

A workshop will be held to review the work carried out so far, identify gaps and confirm what 
our priorities are from an officer and Member perspective.  

Phase 2 will look at the confirmed priorities in more detail as well as the broader long term 
key connectivity issues that would assist rail use.   It will look at longer term rail 
infrastructure improvements required to sustain growth.  Other options such as bus rapid 
transit and guided bus ways connecting urban locations to rail will be considered.

Summary of the Revenue Investment(s) required (Explain how the project would be deliverable and 
sustainable by explaining the sources of revenue funding to support the likely cost needed to deliver 
the project following the capital investment)

In the spirit of joint working, Gloucestershire County Council have identified and committed 
£25,000 and GFirst LEP £10,000. This leaves a short fall of approximately £70,000. 

The Gloucestershire Chief Executives Group on 10th June, agreed in principle, to providing 
the further £70,000 required in order to complete the proposed two phased approach for the 
Rail Study Commission.

Project Status (select from one of the following, and provide brief explanation)

Concept Stage (very early stages, requires 
considerable development before it could be 
considered for funding)

Outline Stage (early stages, some detail clear but 
longer term aspiration which will need further 
development)

The methodology for such a study has been 
established and some of the data has 
already been collected, so the overall cost 
will be less than if starting from first 
principles. The GCC internal Business Case 
process has been completed and signed off 
and an Inception Meeting with the 
Consultants and relevant scheduled
  

Page 114



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

Developed Stage (clear project plan, deliverable, 
but seeking funds)

Mobilising Stage (project moving close to 
delivery, which still has some challenges to 
overcome)

Project Status: key milestones (where applicable, provide brief notes on the current situation)

Promoter identified  GCC is commissioning SLC/Systra consultants 
to complete the work, under an approved 
Single Tender procurement process.

Full Business case available

Planning Status 

Land Assembly (potential requirement for CPO)

Confirmed Funding Sources

Design Detail Stage

Earliest Potential Start Date

Key challenges/risks  associated with Project (give brief indication of the main challenges or risks 
associated with the successful delivery of this project)

 
Challenge / Risk  Potential Impact  / mitigation
Funding shortfall (£70k) If this funding is not available for the Rail Investment Strategy, 

then GCC’s ability to bid for rail infrastructure enhancements in 
a highly competitive environment and influence franchise 
specifications will be significantly compromised.  
Gloucestershire will continue to lose out to other areas with 
regard to bids/discussions on enhanced infrastructure and 
services. This could have a long term impact on our ability to 
secure significant Government and private sector investment 
for key strategic infrastructure to realise our county growth 
ambitions.

Page 115



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

Declaration by Applicant

I certify to the best of my knowledge the information submitted on this form is true and correct.

Signed (on behalf of Promoter) 

 ______________________   

Date :- 15/8/19

Name and title:  Rob Niblett, Planning Officer

Sent to: (Name of organisation / person ) –  Gloucestershire County Council - Claire Edwards

Date submitted: 16/8/19

Page 116



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

Expression of Interest/Application Template

Gloucestershire Economic Growth: Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF): This fund is for 
the benefit of the whole of Gloucestershire, and utilising funds from the current 
Gloucestershire Local Authority Business Rates Pool. It facilitates collective
work on the economic development agenda and reflects the commitment of the Pool
participants to drive economic investment which also links to the planning and
infrastructure process. Eligibility criteria for the fund has been established and agreed by all 
participants, against which bids for funding are assessed. 

Access to the Fund is for the principle stakeholders only – the Local Authorities and Local 
Economic Partnership, and any project or funding request will need to have a clearly 
identified sponsoring lead organisation/contact. Expression of Interest submissions should 
be completed and submitted for consideration by the Gloucestershire Economic Growth 
Joint Committee Senior Officer Support Group, at a relevant meeting. They will assess its 
potential against the criteria and whether a good strategic fit. his mirrors the same approach 
adopted for the consideration of new projects for the Gloucestershire Capital Investment 
Pipeline (CIP).

The award of funds must be agreed unanimously by each of the members of the Pool, as 
part of the Business Rates Pool standing item at the Gloucestershire Economic Joint 
Committee meetings. 

Project Name: 

Natural Capital Baseline Map & Investment Portfolio

Investment theme: Tick the primary theme that best fits your project. If applicable, also tick a sub 
theme. If ‘other’ state and explain.)

Primary Investment theme:
Business Environment x  Housing x  Infrastructure x Place Shaping  x Skills and Employment Other 

X - Environment  

Sub investment theme:
Digital □  Education □  Employment □ Energy  □ Housing □ Regeneration □  Transport □    

Other □

Promoter Details:

Promoter Organisation Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership 
Promoter Address

Primary Contact (name & job 
title)

Matt Whitney – Partnership Manager

Page 119



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

Email Address matt@gloucestershirenature.org.uk

Contact Telephone Number 07999 079 221

Project Summary (Max 250 words) (Describe your project idea clearly and succinctly, including what 
the investment would buy, and why it would lead to economic growth for Gloucestershire. Include 
the potential timeframe, and any significant drivers or constraints related to the scheduling of the 
investment.

Background

The GLNP have already created a Nature Recovery Network map, soon to be a statutory requirement 
of Local Authorities, which spatially illustrates landscape-scale priority habitats for biodiversity and 
the ecological networks needed to connect them. 

Project Outline

With SEDF funding GLNP will add data on ‘ecosystem services’ and economic data, creating a Natural 
Capital Baseline Map which will spatially represent the availability, quality and quantity of ‘natural 
capital’ assets and the services derived from them (see ‘Strategic Fit’ for definition of terms). This 
will spatially identify the environmental constraints and opportunities in relation to growth, leading 
to identification of optimal investment opportunities for economic growth.

This map will act as a robust, integrated evidence base for planners, enabling better, quicker 
decision making about proposed developments and strategic allocations.   

Benefits for Growth

The shared environmental baseline is the missing link that is needed to deliver the environmental 
duties and aspirations of Local Plans and the Local Industrial Strategy. It will support quicker and 
better delivery of strategic housing and employment allocations, resulting in reduced costs and 
increased productivity of the workforce. The map will also highlight where investment in natural 
capital solutions will:

- protect/increase resilience of existing economic activity to climate change;
- remove constraints on previously unfeasible infrastructure projects.

It will also provide evidence to support all economic growth decisions.

Drivers & Constraints to scheduling
Local Planning documents commit to delivering 58,000 new homes by 2031 – the Natural Capital 
Map will help ensure they are delivered on time and in the most efficient and appropriate locations 
for economic growth and environmental sustainability.

Further statutory obligations that urge expediency in releasing funds are detailed in the following 

Page 120



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

sections of this report.

Summary of benefits/outcomes that will be delivered (Max 250 words) (Expanding on your 
summary, provide information on the tangible benefits or outcomes that would be delivered, leading 
to the growth of the Gloucestershire economy. These could address challenges or capitalise on 
opportunities, including those associated with improving productivity.
List the expected benefits, estimated quantities and indicate the timescales).

The Natural Capital Map will provide an easy-to-use, robust evidence base which will facilitate 
quicker and better decision-making by development managers, leading to improved outcomes for 
Gloucestershire’s communities, economy and natural environment. The support this provides to the 
planning process will see quicker delivery of housing, business developments and infrastructure, and 
in more appropriate areas which will stimulate and maximise economic growth opportunities whilst 
preserving and enhancing the county’s natural capital. 

The associated Natural Capital Investment Portfolio will support a Natural Capital approach to 
growth, as detailed in the Local Industrial Strategy. It will support and build upon existing 
frameworks through which investment decisions about infrastructure, business development and 
housing can be made. It will support and enable the delivery of the Big Ideas proposed by Leadership 
Gloucestershire’s Vision 2050. For instance, the map and investment portfolio will provide the 
evidence base and rationale for a Regional Park in the Severn Vale, which can deliver the multiple 
benefits of:

- Maintaining and enhancing natural environment to attract and retail talented young people 
as evidenced and described in the Local Industrial Strategy;

- increased economic activity from leisure and recreational activities;
- improved public health outcomes through access to nature, and associated productivity 

benefits;
- support decision makers to ensure that vital environmental resources required for growth 

are safeguarded and managed properly eg water storage for resilience against drought in a 
changed climate, flood risk mitigation etc;

Timescales
The consultants have already been selected through a competitive, open tendering process. Work 
would start in January 2020 and take approx. 5 months.

Strategic Fit (Max 150 words) (Give the local, regional or national context for your project. Explain 
how it clearly aligns to the Strategic Economic Plan v2 
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2018/sep-2-update2018v3.pdf
and complements the local District strategies and delivery plans
Economic growth depends upon Natural Capital (UK Government’s 6th State of Nature report). 
Natural Capital can be defined as the stocks of the world’s assets; the societal benefits derived 
therefrom are ‘ecosystem services’, (eg clean air, flood-risk mitigation, carbon sequestration).

Page 121

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2018/sep-2-update2018v3.pdf


Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

The LEP have committed to a Natural Capital approach to investment and growth (in line with the UK 
government’s 25 Year Environment Plan), carbon neutrality and enhanced environmental criteria for 
developments. The Councils have committed to Carbon Neutral agendas, as well as a strategic 
approach to Green Infrastructure.

The NPPF requires protection of designated landscapes and habitats, identification of ecological 
networks, and a strategic approach to planning for Green Infrastructure. 

Climate change will reduce availability of ground water and increase flood risk to homes and 
businesses. This has impacts for economic growth, through reduced productivity and agricultural 
outputs, damage to assets. Investing in Natural Capital increases our resilience to such threats and 
will keep Gloucestershire’s economy thriving.

Top 6 inter-related climate change risks for the UK (BEIS, Climate Change Risk Assessment, 2017)

Evidence of need or demand (Max 150 words) (give details of the evidence you can reference that 
supports your case that there is a need or demand for this project)

The Environment Act (2019) requires of Local Authorities:
 development and maintenance of a Nature Recovery Network and associated Strategy. 
 delivery of Biodiversity Net Gain on all new developments T

These will require a geographically strategic approach, which would be facilitated by this Natural 
Capital Map.

All 6 Districts and the County have declared Climate Emergencies. There is a strong and growing 
public and political expectation to deliver tangible actions that act upon this commitment. The 
achievement of Carbon Neutrality will no doubt require a strategic approach to planting trees, 
facilitated by this Natural Capital Map.

The JCS and Local Plans have committed to the building of 58,000 homes by 2031. This Natural 
Capital Map will facilitate better, quicker planning decisions and help ensure these homes are 
sustainable.

Page 122



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

The UK Government’s Climate Change Risk Assessment (2017) shows climate change is having and 
will increasingly have significant negative impacts upon economic growth. Investment in Natural 
Capital will mitigate these impacts and make Gloucestershire resilient to the challenges ahead.

Summary of the project costs and any sources of funding:  (Estimated total capital cost of the 
project, and (if available) list the main elements of the budget. Provide details of any potential or 
secured source(s) of funding and the likely shortfall.)

The total capital cost of this project is £65,000.

GLNP have secured £10,000 from the LEP and contributions of £5,000 each from Gloucestershire 
Wildlife Trust, Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership and the Environment Agency.

Summary of the Revenue Investment(s) required (Explain how the project would be deliverable and 
sustainable by explaining the sources of revenue funding to support the likely cost needed to deliver 
the project following the capital investment)

There are costs associated with the management, maintenance and governance of the tool. The 
funding will ensure the creation of a clear business plan. The costs would be met by a structured 
utilisation methodology and hierarchy of charging. As detailed above, certain users of this tool will 
require expert technical assistance in order to extract granular data for informing decisions. For 
instance, a tiered system of charging might be introduced, whereby farmers and landowners pay a 
certain amount for access to certain layers of data, developers pay a higher fee for accessing the 
site-specific data they need to support their applications. It is possible that the tool could be 
maintained and updated by the Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental Records, as part of the 
Strategic Level Agreements they hold with Local Authorities.  

Project Status (select from one of the following, and provide brief explanation)

Concept Stage (very early stages, requires 
considerable development before it could be 
considered for funding)

Outline Stage (early stages, some detail clear but 
longer-term aspiration which will need further 
development)

Developed Stage (clear project plan, deliverable, The project has been clearly conceptualised, 
designed and planned. A consultant has been 

Page 123



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

but seeking funds) selected following competitive tendering and 
based upon a clear brief. Some funds have been 
secured and invested already.

Mobilising Stage (project moving close to 
delivery, which still has some challenges to 
overcome)

Project Status: key milestones (where applicable, provide brief notes on the current situation)

Promoter identified  Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership

Full Business case available No, but this is to be informed by information 
held by, and related to, the Local Authorities.

Planning Status N/A

Land Assembly (potential requirement for CPO) N/A

Confirmed Funding Sources LEP - £10,000

Design Detail Stage N/A

Earliest Potential Start Date 2 Jan 2020

Key challenges/risks  associated with Project (give brief indication of the main challenges or risks 
associated with the successful delivery of this project)

 
Challenge / Risk  Potential Impact  / mitigation
Data security Data scrutiny and governance board established
Data robustness As above

Declaration by Applicant

I certify to the best of my knowledge the information submitted on this form is true and correct.

Signed (on behalf of Promoter) 

 ______________________   

Page 124



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Development Fund July 2019

Date :-

Name and title:

Sent to: (Name of organisation / person )

Date submitted:

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



1

GFIRST LEP UPDATE FOR GEGJC MEETING

 20 NOVEMBER 2019

Prepared by Dev Chakraborty (Deputy Chief Executive GFirst LEP)

1) Gloucestershire Growth Deal – attachments
 

Attached to this report are the most up to date spreadsheets (up to 28th October 2019) for 
the Growth Deal programme.

These highlight;

i) ‘Forward Look’ – a comprehensive list of all Growth Deal funded projects 
with a focus on their current status. 

ii) ‘Projects Summary’ – a comprehensive list of all Growth Deal funded projects 
that highlights forecasted outputs from each project. 

These documents are also available on GFirst LEP’s website; 
http://www.gfirstlep.com/projects/

2) Growth Deal – ‘Headlines’ (to end of October 2019)

 Growth Hub:  The ERDF contract for the 3-year project extension for the 
Growth Hub Core has been confirmed, and the funding agreement has been 
signed.

 Growth Hub Network: Forest of Dean (Vantage Point) Growth Hub opening – 
further delayed to Spring 2020.  Stroud Growth Hub opening - February 
2020.  Cheltenham Growth Hub Opening – Summer 2020.

 Farm 491: The Programme Manager role has been filled by Luke Halsey.        
A celebratory event took place on 18th September to mark a year since the 
Alliston Centre (Cirencester Growth Hub) was opened.

 Hartpury University Tech-Plate: All of the buildings have now been handed 
over from the contractors. The first phase of the branding is complete and 
there is considerable technology in place.  Visitor engagements are starting to 
take place and are being recorded.  Formal launch to take place in February 
2020, with Minette Batters, NFU President confirmed for VIP speech.

 Cyber Central (Cheltenham Cyber Park): Full Business Case and detailed 
design work on West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme (WCTIS) 

Page 127

Agenda Item 9

http://www.gfirstlep.com/projects/


2

Phases 1 and 2 continues – these will both go to LEP Investment Panel and 
Board approval in December 2019.  

Phase 1 construction programmed for April 2020.  Phase 2 in Summer 2020.

 A40 Innsworth Gateway: Work is currently ongoing to get a funding 
agreement finalised.  Draft Heads of Terms have been agreed with Robert 
Hitchins Ltd and GCC.  Detailed design of the scheme has commenced with 
drawings submitted to Highways England and GCC as part of the technical 
approval process. 
 

 A419 Corridor: Unchartered Severn Trent apparatus has become an issue 
with mitigation plans agreed.  Due to these issues, programmed completion 
is now end of spring 2020.

 Lydney Cycling Improvements: Construction to begin in October 2019.  
A recent ‘meet the contractor’ event was held with positive feedback from 
the attendees.

 Five Valleys Shopping Centre, Stroud: The project is in Phase 3 of 4 and is 
taking shape at considerable pace – the Mall area is being redeveloped as 
well as wrapping the car park.  New residential apartments have been 
released to the market, finished to a high quality specification.

3) GFirst LEP Annual Review - Thursday 19th September.  

The event was a great success, attracting over 350 attendees and extensive media coverage. 
At the event, the draft Local Industrial Strategy was launched for public consultation as well 
as a focus on Cyber Central, the GFirst LEP Education team, our new Mentoring Service and 
our Inward Investment project.  Our VIP guest speaker was Jeremy Fleming, Director of 
GCHQ.

Please see https://www.gfirstlep.com/news/gfirst-lep-annual-review-2019/

4) Gloucestershire Economic Growth Capital Investment Pipeline (CIP)

At the same time as producing Gloucestershire's Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) GFirst LEP will 
be developing an Investment Plan to demonstrate how we could use capital investment to 
deliver on our strategy.

Page 128

https://www.gfirstlep.com/news/gfirst-lep-annual-review-2019/


3

The investment required comes in all forms to deliver against a broad range of priorities 
including:

Innovation – to ensure new ideas can be brought forward.
Skills and employment – delivering inclusive opportunities for our residents and businesses.
Business environment – to make sure our business community thrives.
Infrastructure, including energy and digital connectivity – crucial to the future of our 
business and resident population.
Housing – across a range of tenures and locations.
Regeneration and place shaping – to make sure that Gloucestershire is a great place to live, 
work and visit.
The Gloucestershire Economic Growth Capital Investment Pipeline (CIP) is shared across 
GFirst LEP, Gloucestershire County Council and the six District Councils in Gloucestershire, to 
maintain a viable pipeline of capital projects that have the potential to support significant 
economic growth, and are seeking public funding, wherever it may come from. This will 
form the backbone of our Investment plan.

Although no new funding has currently been identified, we felt the time was right to set up 
a LEP Board sub-group to start the process of agreeing the scoring criteria, starting to 
shorten the current long list of projects and potentially identifying any gaps. 
This sub-group is scheduled to meet on November 27th.

5) Inward Investment project

This is the collaborative bid with the County Council and the six District Councils supported 
by ERDF European funding to set up a dedicated team to focus on inward investment in the 
county, in particular (non- EU) foreign direct investment.

The overall project value is £1 million with 50% coming via ERDF and is for a period of 3 
years – January 2019 to December 2021.

The focus is on four key sectors; Cyber, Agri-Tech, Advanced Engineering & Manufacturing & 
Renewables.

‘Headlines’ since our last meeting;

 24 July: DIT Agri-Tech Team Visit
The Agri-Tech Team from Department for International Trade visited Gloucestershire 
for a full day to learn about its Agri-Tech offer. The visit was hosted at Hartpury 
University & Hartpury College, Gloucester Growth Hub and Farm491 at the Royal 
Agricultural University.

 30 August: Forest of Dean Listening to Business Visit - Assurant

Page 129



4

Together with the Forest of Dean District Council, we visited Assurant, a global US 
insurance firm based in the Forest of Dean. We are supporting Assurant on its 
expansion and access of skills and talent in the local area.

 12 September: Agri-Tech New Zealand Delegation Visit
We hosted a delegation of 10 Agri-Tech companies and educative institutions from 
New Zealand. We arranged meetings and ‘speed dating’ with some of our top
local agri-tech companies. The visit was delivered jointly with our agri-tech partners, 
including Campden BRI, Hartpury University & Hartpury College, Royal Agricultural 
University, Sibling Distillery and the University of Gloucestershire.

 23-27 September: Visit to China
David Owen, CEO, and Chris Lau, Head of Inward Investment, visited four cities in 
China to promote Gloucestershire and meet with potential key investors.
In Shenzhen the team met with BYD to explore green transport alternatives for 
Gloucestershire.
At the UK Zhengzhou City Regeneration Forum, David Owen presented 
Gloucestershire’s inward investment opportunities alongside Manchester and 
leading British companies such as Arup, Atkins and Mott Macdonald.
A meeting was held with Renishaw in Shanghai, to help the company with access to 
the China market.
In Guangzhou we had the opportunity to understand first-hand trade and 
investment opportunities from the Greater Bay Area.

 1 October: Retail DSK
Diane Savory, Chair and Nigel Jobson, Chair of Retail and the high street business 
group, together with Chris Lau, presented exciting developments in the 
Gloucestershire’s retail sector to a group of overseas officers based in British 
Embassies and Consulates. This included Gloucester Quays, Market Towns as well as 
UK:DRIC.

 14-15 October: MIPIM UK, London
We promoted Gloucestershire’s capital investment offer to institutional investors at 
the largest property conference in the UK.

 15-18 October: World Agri-Tech Innovation Summit and Future Food-Tech
A Gloucestershire team including Farm491, Hartpury University & Hartpury College, 
Tewkesbury Borough Council and Gloucestershire County Council visited two of the 
most important Agri-Tech events in the UK. At World Agri-Tech Innovation Summit 
we had the opportunity to meet with some of the agri-business leaders and to 
present Gloucestershire’s Agri-Tech proposition. Future Food-Tech, on the other 
hand, gave us the opportunity to learn more about current and future development 
in the agri-food sector.

 21-23 October: World China Entrepreneur Convention (WCEC)
With over 3,000 Chinese delegates attending the convention, WCEC is the largest 
Chinese entrepreneurs’ event and for the first time it was held outside of China. 

Page 130



5

 29 October: Agri-Tech Cornwall Business Forum
This was the second in the series of Business Forums organised by Agri-Tech 
Cornwall. The main focus of the event was around data collection and data 
management in the Agri-Tech sector. It provided good networking opportunities 
with innovative companies.

 30-31 October: Advanced Engineering Show at the NEC, Birmingham
We attended the UK's largest annual advanced manufacturing trade show and had 
the chance to see the latest advances in aerospace, composites, automotive, medical 
devices, etc. An excellent to meet with local, national and international companies in 
the advanced manufacturing sector.

6) Local Industrial Strategy (LIS)

Our draft Local Industrial Strategy (and the Gloucestershire Five Foundations of Productivity 
Evidence Report) were launched on September 19th along with a set of consultation 
questions. 

Open consultation closed on October 31st, however, we extended the deadline for a number 
of organisations who requested an extension. 

Drop-in sessions for businesses were held in Growth Hubs and all of our Business Groups 
will have responded to the consultation questions.

We were very keen to hear the voice of the next generation in our Local Industrial Strategy 
and so commissioned Young Gloucestershire and The Participation People to collaborate on 
a research project. As far as we are aware we were the only LEP to commission specific 
research with young people. In total, we engaged with 5,261 young people aged between 
14 and 25 years of age. 

Our aim was to ensure that our draft would dovetail with other existing and emerging 
strategies including the Local Transport Plan, Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Joint Core 
Strategy, and the Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy, reflecting shared ambitions 
and synergies across the county.

We received feedback from a wide range of organisations from the private, public and 
voluntary sectors and overall were encouraged by the responses.

I thought it might be useful to share the feedback we received from our local authority 
partners and there is a collated response attached to this report.

Please see links below to read the draft Local Industrial Strategy, the Gloucestershire Five 
Foundations of Productivity Evidence Report and our Youth Survey;

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2019/gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-
strategy_2019.pdf

Page 131

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2019/gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-strategy_2019.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2019/gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-strategy_2019.pdf


6

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2019/gloucestershire_five-foundations-of-
productivity_evidence-report_2019.pdf

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2019/gfirst-lep-youth-survey-2019v2.pdf

Dialogue with Government has commenced on the draft Local Industrial Strategy, 
developing it further, agreeing priorities and joint areas of activity, working towards a jointly 
agreed document by March 31st 2020.

Our intention is to prepare a consultation report for the December 10th LEP Board meeting, 
setting out the results of the local consultation and the headlines from HMG’s initial 
feedback, with a set of recommendations. 

Page 132

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2019/gloucestershire_five-foundations-of-productivity_evidence-report_2019.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2019/gloucestershire_five-foundations-of-productivity_evidence-report_2019.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2019/gfirst-lep-youth-survey-2019v2.pdf


Gloucestershire Growth Deal Projects Summary Key

As at 28-10-19 Funding approved and progressing

Funding allocated but pending final board approval

Current Total Forecasts with Actuals where available

Project Name Growth Fund Category Homes Total jobs
Private 

Leverage £m's

Public Sector 

Leverage £m's

Commercial 

Floorspace m2 

Employment 

Land Ha

Skills 

Capital m2 App'ships
BCR (Road 

schemes)

Growth Hub Amalgamated 9,400,000£             Business Support 0 6644 £0.05 £27.8 2127 0 3800 0 N/A

Merrywalks Centre, Stroud* 3,000,000£             Business Support 0 500 £27.0 £0.0 20292 1.37 0 0 N/A

Farm 491 2,920,000£             Business Support 0 207 £0.8 £0.0 1380 0 0 0 N/A

Glos Airport Anson Park Development* 1,885,000£             Business Support 0 85 £7.0 £0.0 7500 4 0 0 N/A

Glos Airport South Camp 550,000£                 Business Support 0 106 £9.7 £0.0 12000 6.8 0 0 N/A

UK Digital Retail Innovation Centre 400,000£                 Business Support 0 50 £0.2 £0.0 550 0 150 0 N/A

Cheltenham Cyber Park * 22,000,000£           Enabling Infrastructure 1100 7500 £50.0 £0.0 40000 45 0 0 N/A

Cinderford Northern Link Road 3,800,000£             Enabling Infrastructure 110 0 £0.0 £5.3 0 2 0 0 N/A

Gloucester Railway Station Improvements* 3,750,000£             Enabling Infrastructure 200 300 £7.7 £0.6 10000 5.3 0 0 N/A

A40 Innsworth Gateway* 4,530,000£             Housing 1300 630 £3.3 £0.0 5000 8.3 0 0 TBC

Blackfriars & Quayside 4,130,000£             Housing 250 45 £85.0 £12.0 4000 2.5 0 0 N/A

Hartpury College, Tech-to-Plate 1,000,000£             Innovation 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0.0 500 0 N/A

GREEN Skills Centre 5,000,000£             Skills 0 125 £19.5 £15.1 0 10.7 4401 300 N/A

Berkeley Green Cyber Security Centre 3,000,000£             Skills 0 129 £4.0 £0.4 1461 0 1461 213 N/A

Cinderford  - New Gloscol Campus * 2,600,000£             Skills 55 150 £0.0 £12.5 0 0 6000 0 N/A

Gloucestershire STEM centres 2,096,000£             Skills 0 0 £0.0 £3.8 0 0 6141 1064 N/A

Elmbridge (Tail-end Major road scheme) 9,070,000£             Transport 0 0 £0.0 £5.2 0 0 0 0 5

Gloucester Transport Hub ** 6,400,000£             Transport 100 0 £40.0 £8.8 1000 0 0 0 N/A

A419 Stonehouse Improvements 4,360,000£             Transport 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 18

A40 Over Roundabout ** 2,230,000£             Transport 0 0 £0.1 £0.5 0 0 0 0 5

Gloucester South West By Pass 2,000,000£             Transport 0 0 £0.1 £5.3 0 0 0 0 12

Berkeley Bridge Replacement 1,990,000£             Transport 0 0 £0.0 £1.0 0 0 0 0 5

B4063 Staverton Bridge Junction 1,600,000£             Transport 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

Cheltenham Spa Railway Station ** 1,497,000£             Transport 0 0 £1.8 £0.2 0 0 0 0 TBC

Lydney Cycling Improvements 1,000,000£             Transport 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

St Barnabas Roundabout 1,000,000£             Transport 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

Abbeymead /Metz Way ** 500,000£                 Transport 0 0 £1.0 £1.2 0 0 0 0 4

Forecast Totals* 101,708,000£     3115 16471 £257.2 £99.6 105310 86.0 22453 1577

Full Programme Commitment 2255 14280 N/A 75.3 N/A 1014

* for GD3 schemes includes outcomes post 2021

** Original GLTB scheme

£285.8

P
age 133



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Growth Deal Projects 'Forward Look' Key  Milestones (pipeline schemes)

(Based on latest  information at time of publication) Assessment/Due Diligence

Nov-19 Inv Panel/LEP  Board

Rev 21 Funding agreement (subject to board approval)

Notes Formal project launch 

All pipeline projects are still subject to  investment appraisal and LEP Board approval Start of construction/implementation

FY 2020/21 Q2 FY 2020/21 Q3 FY 2020/21 Q4

LGF 2021

Project Title Category Summary RAG Rating £m's Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul-Sept Oct-Dec Jan-Mar

Growth Hub Expansion
Business 

Support

Expanded Core Growth Hub and New 

Business School @ UoG
£5.000

Growth Hub Network
Business 

Support

Network of Growth Hubs across the 

county
£4.400

Merrywalks Centre Stroud***
Business 

Support

Re-development of the Merrywalks 

Shopping Center and Car-Park
£3.000

Est 

Completion

Farm 491
Business 

Support

Agri-tech innovation and business 

incubator centre (RAU)
£2.920

Gloucs Airport Anson Park 

Development***

Enabling 

Infrastructure

Access road from B4063 to expand 

Anson Park
£1.885

Inv Panel/ 

Board

Project 

Launch
Est Completion

Gloucs Airport South Camp
Enabling 

Infrastructure

New access road to open up land for 

development
£0.550

UK Digital Retail Innovation 

Centre

Business 

Support

Retail skills & digital high street pilot 

scheme
£0.400

Formal 

Launch

WCTIS (Cyber Park) Phase 1
Enabling 

Infrastructure
A40 Corridor Mitigation Schemes £7.770 Due Diligence

Inv Panel/ 

Board

Funding 

Agreement

Project 

Launch
Est Completion

Gloucester Railway Station 

Improvements***

Enabling 

Infrastructure

Redevelopment of underpass, 

frontage and car park access
£3.750 Due Diligence

Inv Panel/ 

Board

Funding 

Agreement

Project 

Launch
Est Completion

Cinderford Northern Link Road
Enabling 

Infrastructure

Access road enabling new college 

campus and first phase of 

development of Northern Qtr, 

£3.800

A40 Innsworth Gateway Housing
Traffic mitigation to release a 

strategic housing site
£4.530 Due Diligence

Inv Panel/ 

Board

Project 

Launch
Est Completion

Blackfriars & Quayside Housing
De-risking and preparation of site for 

development
£4.130

Hartpury College Tech to 

Plate***
Innovation

Application of Digital Productivity 

Tools in Livestock Management
£1.000

Funding 

Agreement

Project 

Launch

Construction 

start
Completion

GREEN Skills Centre Skills
Gloucs Renewable Energy, 

Engineering & Nuclear Skills Centre
£5.000

Berkley Green Cyber Security 

Centre
Skills

Cyber Security skills centre, dual 

location UoG & Berkely
£3.000

Gloucestershire College New 

Campus (Cinderford)
Skills

Funding to support build of new 

Gloscol campus in Cinderford
£2.600

Gloucestershire STEM centres Skills
STEM teaching facility upgrades at 5 

sites across Gloucs.
£2.096

Elmbridge (Tail End Major DfT 

scheme)
Transport

Major roundabout upgrade A40, key 

strategic route.
£9.070

Gloucester Transport Hub** Transport
New Transport Hub for Gloucester & 

highways mods
£6.400 Completion

A419 Stonehouse 

Improvements
Transport

Junction improvements along A419 

between M5 J13 and Stonehouse
£4.360

Construction 

start
Est Completion

A40 Over Roundabout ** Transport

Widening approaches to the 

roundabout & provision of a third 

circulatory lane 

£2.230

Gloucester South West By Pass Transport
Widening of Llanthony Road section 

of South West bypass. 
£2.000

Construction 

start
Est Completion

A38 Berkeley Bridges Transport Replacement Northbound bridge £1.990

B4063 Staverton Bridge 

Junction
Transport

Upgrade to the B4063/Old Gloucester 

Road junction
£1.600

Inv Panel / 

Board

Funding 

Agreement

Construction 

start
Est Completion

Cheltenham Spa Railway 

Station**
Transport

Improvement to station forecourt, 

additional parking and 

cycle/pedestrian access to A40

£1.497
Funding 

Agreement

Project 

Launch

Est 

Completion

Lydney Transport Strategy Transport
Local junction improvements and 

cycle access
£1.000 Inv Panel Board

Funding 

Agreement

Project 

Launch
Est Completion In Operation

St Barnabas Roundabout Transport
Roundabout upgrade, improved 

cycling safety
£1.000

Inv Panel / 

Board

Construction 

start
Est Completion

Abbeymead /Metz Way** Transport
Junction & Pedestrian Crossing 

upgrades (smart signals)
£0.500

Est 

Completion

* DfT 'Retained' scheme currently £87.478

** Original GLTB scheme £101.716

***Re-allocated scheme £14.238

In Delivery

Construction Phase

Design & Planning

Detailed design, planning and procurement phase

Full Business Case Development

In Operation

Investment/Development Phase

                                                                               In Delivery

In Delivery

In Delivery

In Delivery (full network)

In Delivery 

In Delivery

In Delivery 

In phased construction programme.

Three further Tier 2 Hubs in development & due to open in 2020.  Stroud and Forest of Dean to open Spring 2020.  Cheltenham due to open in Summer 2020.

2018

FY 2019/20 Q3 FY 2019/20 Q4

2019

FY 2020/21 Q1FY 2019/20 Q2FY 2018/19 Q3 FY 2018/19 Q4 FY 2019/20 Q1

2020

Final Business Case - Due 

Diligence
Planning Stage

Planning Stage

Construction Phase

Construction Phase (potentially starting earlier at risk)

Soft Launch' In Delivery

Construction PhaseProgramme Development and Individual Scheme Approvals 

Funding Agreement Construction Phase

In Operation

In Operation

In Operation

In Operation

In Operation

Construction Phase

Scheme Development

Construction Phase

Construction PhaseScheme Development

Final Business Case - 

Due Diligence
Construction Phase

In OperationConstruction Phase

Final Business case - 

Due Diligence
Funding Agreement

Full Business Case Development

Detailed Design, Land Aquisition & Planning Construction Phase

In Delivery

In Delivery

    In Operation

Construction Phase

Funding Agreement Construction Phase

P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

Community and Infrastructure 
Shire Hall 

Gloucester 
GL1 2TH 

20th November 2019 
colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

01452 328470 

Katie Jenkins, Director of Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy 
GFirst LEP, 
The Growth Hub,  
Oxstalls Campus,  
Oxstalls Lane,  
Gloucester  
GL2 9HW 

Dear Katie 

The Draft Local Industrial Strategy for Gloucestershire 
Consultation Feedback from Gloucestershire County Council 

Thank you for consulting Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) on the above 
matter. Having consulted with Members and officers of the Council, I have the 
following comments to make:   

The Draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) has been well 
received by GCC and we would like to thank GFirst LEP for the opportunity for 
GCC officers, from our Communities and Infrastructure Team, to work with 
you on the preparation of the LIS and for the wider GCC departments to have 
the opportunity to comment on this first draft. 

Whilst the Council Leader and LEP Board Member, Cllr Hawthorne, has 
openly expressed the view that the Local Industrial Strategy could be even 
more aspirational, in general, Members are pleased to see how our own GCC 
Strategic Plans and Polices are embedded into the LIS, as an important 
foundation. For example: 

Gloucestershire Looking to the Future 2019-2022 Council Strategy 

Zero Carbon versus push for Growth and a Green Gloucestershire. Ultimately, 
we want all of our residents to have the best start in life and go on to become 
engaged and active members of their communities.  

Page 137

mailto:colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 

2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
However, we are also fully committed to the climate change agenda and duly 
recognise the need for balance in delivering services and forward planning 
future investments, hence the aim is to enable this in as sustainable a way as 
possible. To this end, the Council has already reduced its own carbon 
emissions by 60%, in the last few years and will continue to challenge itself 
and work collaboratively with key stakeholders to take further steps towards 
becoming carbon neutral. 
 
Heath and Wellbeing Strategy 
 
GCC has an obligation to work to raise living standards for all, but especially 
our more deprived dependent and isolated residents. Consequently, the 
Council remains fully committed to securing the benefits of sustainable, high 
quality inclusive economic growth for local people and communities, enabling 
local people to build and nurture strong social networks and vibrant 
communities and improve the quality, affordability, availability and suitability of 
housing. To this end, a consultation response from the Gloucestershire Health 
and Wellbeing Board has been submitted directly, reinforcing such aims and 
highlighting opportunities for collaboration in delivering the LIS, including an 
interesting ‘anchor institution offer’.  
 
Fastershire Strategy 2019-2022 
 
With significant GCC capital investment and a forward thinking strategy we 
will continue to strive to ensure we have the best digital connectivity across 
the County. As a result, Gloucestershire is particularly strong and distinctive in 
its full fibre coverage across the County, particularly in our more rural areas, 
which is a valuable platform for the future and for enabling delivery of the 
digital aspirations of the LIS, especially. To date, Phase 1 of the Fastershire 
strategy has provided approximately 90% of the homes and businesses 
across Herefordshire and Gloucestershire with access to superfast broadband 
and speeds of 30Mbps or above. Over the next two years, Phase 2 of the 
project’s strategy will increase total superfast coverage to around 98%, as it 
seeks to provide faster broadband to premises that were not covered by 
Phase 1 or commercial rollout. 
 
Commitment on Employment and Skills 
 
Over the next ten years there will be significant growth in new housing and 
associated infrastructure. It is vital therefore that we have a local workforce 
that can respond to the needs of our local businesses with particular focus on 
skills in STEM, Construction, Design, Teaching, and  the Public Sector 
workforce in particular for Health and Care  to support our growing County. 
Businesses and young people need the right opportunities and skills in order  
 

Page 138



 

3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
to create and retain jobs. Working with local partners, Gloucestershire County 
Council has been aspiring to raise the level and increase the range of skills 
available to young people and help young people develop the skills employers 
are looking for with a particular commitment to increasing apprenticeship 
opportunities.  
 
Energy Strategy and Emerging Climate Change Strategy 
 
A key focus for GCC, echoed by the County’s residents, is to maintain and 
enhance our natural environment.  GCC has committed to safeguard the 
County’s natural landscape and environment for future generations with a 
pledge to embed local green infrastructure into thinking and planning for 
future development and regeneration with a pioneering Action Plan that: 

• Commits the Council to working towards an 80 per cent reduction in the 
council`s corporate carbon emissions no later than 2030, striving towards 
100 per cent with carbon offsetting by the same date. 

• Commits the council to following the scientific advice of the Committee on 
Climate Change, and deliver a carbon neutral county by 2050, and work 
with partners to identify what measures would be needed to deliver a 
stepped target of 80 per cent carbon reduction by 2030 to reflect the 
intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report on climate 
change. 

• Following public consultation we are refining our emerging plans to 
support a major commitment to plant one million trees over the plan 
period, a commitment to a reduction in emissions targets and working 
with partners to ensure we embrace a circular economy. 

As part of our work to ensure we have the evidence to support our claims 
within the Glos LIS, some very innovative and groundbreaking evidence of 
“green” local businesses, particularly in construction, has been discovered. It 
would be good to see some of these used as case studies within the LIS. 

 
Local Transport Plan  
 
Ensuring our residents can be well connected to access places they need to, 
whether for work, services or leisure, we want to ensure strong connectivity 
across our County. We envisage that the next generation will want highly 
responsive transport – Mobility As A Service (MaaS). They will want clean air 
and streets that aren’t congested with motorised vehicles. We are on the cusp 
of a profound transport revolution. Gloucestershire will grasp this challenge  
as embedded in the LTP and seek evidence of this through how and where it 
develops and the innovations it enables, in order to transform how and why 
we travel. 

Page 139



4 

The LTP Review aims to influence how and when people choose to travel so 
that individual travel decisions do not cumulatively impact on the desirability of 
Gloucestershire as a place to live, work and invest. 

The strong correlation between these LTP ambitions and those outlined in the 
LIS is welcomed and this will strengthen Gloucestershire’s position to secure 
infrastructure funding and implement our ambitious transport vision. 

Vision 2050 

Gloucestershire’s local environment including quality countryside, towns and 
cities, and built heritage, is important. There is widespread appreciation of the 
local environment and concern for its protection.  

GCC’s Vision 2050 has set out a number of ambitions that we see strongly 
embedded within the draft LIS: 

A magnet County - attracting more 18-40 year olds with high level 
qualifications, who want to live and work in the county. 
An innovative County - with more businesses starting up, growing, and 
investing in research and innovation. 
A skilled County - more people with high-level skills and jobs in skilled 
occupations. 
A prosperous County - rising productivity and household income, offering 
higher living standards.  
An inclusive County - economic and social benefits of growth to be felt by 
all. 
And finally A healthy, happy County - people to have a good work/life 
balance and to see improved health and wellbeing. 

All of these vital GCC strategic aims embedded within the LIS will ensure that 
our Gloucestershire residents can be confident of a place to Live, Work, Learn 
and Enjoy our County. It is also vital that all Gloucestershire residents are 
supported in the aims and ambitions of the Gloucestershire LIS and as stated 
in the National Industrial Strategy: 

“We need to ensure that everyone, no matter what their background or level 
of skill, has an opportunity to enter into and progress at work and through the 
education and training system. Barriers that prevent under-represented 
groups from realising their full potential need to be broken down” 

Page 140



5 

As a result it is recommended that ‘due regard’ considerations are given 
greater attention by the LEP consistent with the objectives/duties of the 
Equalities Act 2010, within the overall strategy. 

Accordingly and in terms of our detailed feedback, please find enclosed the 
completed LIS Consultation pro-forma, together with a paper of suggested 
technical amendments, the contents of which are a collective response 
provided from officers across several departments within the Council 
including, Public Health, Integrated Disabilities Commissioning, Adult 
Education and Communities and Infrastructure.  

These responses were approved by the Council’s Cabinet on 13th November 
2019. 

If you would like to discuss any of the points raised in the completed 
consultation response, please do not hesitate to contact me.   

Finally, as regards next steps, whilst it is duly recognized that, at the clear 
request of government, the LIS is not intended to be a bidding document, the 
Council welcomes GFirst’s ongoing efforts to develop an Investment Plan in 
parallel to the strategy and would be keen to continue to work alongside the 
team to substantiate and refine such a plan to ensure the LIS moves on into 
its implementation phase effectively and with clear intent and purpose.   

Yours faithfully 

Colin Chick 
Strategic Adviser (Communities and Infrastructure) 
Gloucestershire County Council 

Tel:  01452 328470 
Email: colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 141

mailto:colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Appendix 2a 

1 

The Draft Local Industrial Strategy for Gloucestershire Consultation Feedback 
from Gloucestershire County Council 

Technical Comments and Suggested Amendments 

The following are suggested amendments where officers felt that alternative wording 
or corrections were more technically correct. These have been listed under the 
appropriate headings, however, should further clarity be required please contact 
either Claire Edwards or Sandie Donaldson. 

MAGNET COUNTY 

Page 16, the statistic that is referred to from the UK Commission for Employment and Skills 
paper isn’t clear – is it saying that people are leaving through retirement at a higher rate of 
new jobs becoming available?  

Page 17, the Health & Wellbeing Strategy is referenced but the statement actually refers to 
the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018/19 

There are a few references to working with “health community partners” and these are very 
welcome. However, this could be amended to either “health, care and public sector partners” 
or to “partners working in the health and care system”. 

GREEN 

Page 33 | Affordable, sustainable ‘green’ housing; 3rd Paragraph; 

The current paragraph wording would benefit from changes to clearly show to readers of the 
LIS how it is coherent and joined-up with well-establishing, active policy initiatives and 
applicable standards that are already being enforced with new development. A suggested 
revision could read:-  ‘…These will be sustainable settlements that: - meet the nationally 
recognised Building with Nature benchmark (developed in Gloucestershire) for green 
infrastructure; will embed the principles of the circular economy; deliver affordable, inclusive 
and sustainably-designed eco-friendly homes that promote healthy lifestyles; improve 
connectivity and increase active travel; and protect and bring about improvements to our 
natural assets’    

Page 33 | Final Paragraph; 

As explained above for the 3rd paragraph of Affordable, sustainable ‘green’ housing, 
opportunities to champion well–established, active policy initiatives such as support for the 
transition to the circular economy, should be taken. A suggested revision could read as 
follows: - ‘…We will act as champions for research and development to encourage the 
necessary change of mind-set to achieve a cleaner and greener Gloucestershire which has 
successfully transitioned to the circular economy. This will be achieved through delivering 
new housing, commercial development and supporting infrastructure, and the upgrading of 
the built environment – particularly the retrofitting of existing housing stock. Established 
sustainable construction policy commitments contained in Gloucestershire’s county and 
district local plans will be supported and practice guidance as exemplified by Stroud District 

Page 142



Appendix 2a 

2 

Council’s “Sustainable Construction & Design Checklist and the County Council’s “Waste 
Minimisation in development Projects’ Supplementary Planning Document will be promoted.’ 

Page 39 | we want to…; 

The bullet point covering the ‘circular economy’ would benefit from a bit of re-working as it 
isn’t currently capturing the challenge for the LIS and other key partners over the coming 
years. It should ideally headline the key measures and mechanisms that will need to be 
employed. This is important to ensure readers are in little doubt about what is understood by 
the term ‘circular economy’ and where we are with its implementation. Delivering a circular 
economy is described as a ‘key challenge’ and ‘requiring a fundamental step change’ in the 
functioning of the economy. A suggested revision to the bullet point could read as follows: -  
‘…support the transition to the circular economy throughout Gloucestershire that will deliver 
a step change in resource efficiency, more rapid innovation to keep products and materials 
at their highest use for as long as possible and an uplift in preventing and minimisation the 
amount of waste generated.’ 

On p. 35of draft LIS – with transport contribution to in excess of 40% of all CO2 emissions in 
Gloucestershire being transport related, reducing road based CO2 emissions need to be 
listed as one of the actions to reduce Gloucestershire’s reliance on fossil fuels.  

p. 38: the engagement about clean public transport methods should not only be with regional
partners, but also with local partners, such as GCC

The total of Growth Deal related investment in transport infrastructure since 2015 was in 
excess of £37m, unlocking a total investment in transport infrastructure of more than £50m in 
growth deal funded schemes with a further £24m Growth Deal investment in transport 
infrastructure planned until 2021. The monetary and other benefits created for 
Gloucestershire though this investment significant and it is hoped that future close 
cooperation will continue to deliver for Gloucestershire 

 It is good that infra-structure is a core function – however like Transport/ Thinktravel – 
infrastructure underpins all the other core functions of ideas, places and business 
environment - with people at the centre. 

There is no real mention of walking/only a slight mention of cycling. Suggested additional 
text   ‘better walking and cycling links and connectivity to enabling more people to actively 
travel for more of their daily journeys” 

 It would be prudent to include: “ e-bikes can play a pivotal role in emerging technology and 
can change travel behaviour to increase connectivity and extend frequency and average trip 
distances under pedal power for business commuter and leisure by 2-4x plus”  This distance 
opening up increased connections between rural and urban communities and access to 
employment and growth from new and existing communities – but also widening multi-modal 
options for connecting to high frequency trains/buses etc.    

 Linked to above and multi-modal connections – If a target  could be in here to include better 
cycle links and accessibility to bikes i.e. cycle hire scheme across the county at key 
transport/community/employment hubs  

Page 143



Appendix 2a 

3 

Potential to Include and highlight more the key function of integrated travel hubs – which 
could use innovative access to information to enable smarter greener travel 

Door-door- needs to extend to multiple trips and multi-modal options – young people or 
families in modern society rarely travel door to door - home – to work – their travel behaviour 
tends to amount to multiple trips to multiple destinations – and accessibility to sustainable 
and active travel needs to match this.  

Opportunity to match Infrastructure to making the county the greenest – ‘greenest county 
greenest commute’ – and use the principles of GI to embed across all aspects of economic 
& residential growth. 

All new infrastructures should be green infrastructure 

Would like to see if the LEP, as part of the LIS Gloucestershire, conduct similar surveys to 
the ‘Sustrans Bike Life reports’ which could extend to all forms of sustainable transport 
potentially. https://www.sustrans.org.uk/bike-life/ 

IDEAS 

Page 49 we want to…; 

Whilst the focus here is on Agri-tech matters, the paragraph that references the ‘healthy 
circular economy’ may benefit from a revision to ensure readers of the LIS are not confused 
as to what is being supported.  It is not clear what a ‘healthy circular economy in food and 
farming’ is and whether it is different to the government’s wider ambitions to deliver a 
‘circular economy’? Also, is there an opportunity being missed here to show how the LIS is 
hooking up to the Government’s strategic ambitions expected in the forthcoming Agriculture 
Bill…? A suggested revision could read as follows: - ’By transitioning to the circular economy 
through food and farming, our aim is to make Gloucestershire a leader in building natural 
capital, improving food security and driving-up efficiency, reducing food-relates illness and 
contributing to the fight against climate change.’      

PEOPLE 

There is a lack of clarity about what the LEP mean by “young people” – whilst the LEP may 
wish to avoid defining this too strictly, this will be subject to very different interpretation by 
the audience, so some clarity may be helpful. The ordering of “attract and retain” used 
throughout the document also implies that the primary intention is to bring young people in to 
Gloucestershire, rather than to ensure young people here are given opportunities to learn 
and develop skills that are needed by local business sectors and secure good quality jobs 
here. A suggested alternative might be “develop, attract and retain”. 

Page 55 There could also be a clearer definition of or narrative for “flexible working”, e.g. on 
p55. This can mean a range of things to different people (everything from the ability to work 
from home through to 3-4 day weeks, portfolio careers, etc.) – what is and isn’t in scope? Or 
is part of our strategy to work on this? 

Page 144



Appendix 2a 

4 

INFRASTRUCTURE 

Page 67 – The current landscape - Some of the train times seem slightly high/low. 

Gloucester to Cardiff can be achieved in 1:05 mins  

Moreton to Worcester – 39 mins  

Moreton to Oxford – 38 mins  

Cam and Dursley – 35 mins  

Perhaps Kemble to London (1hr 15 mins) and Lydney to Bristol Temple Meads (1hr 36 mins) 
should be added to the map as these bare important commuter routes. The station data 
needs referencing and dating. 

Page 69 – Recent Investment - An additional bullet point should be added:  Supporting the 
North Cotswold Line Task Force in improving services between Moreton in Marsh and 
Oxford/London. 

Rail Study – The paragraph needs updating as the 2015 Amey Rail Study has, to some 
extent, been superseded.  Suggest: Gloucestershire County Council with support from 
GFirst LEP and the district councils have commissioned a Rail Investment Strategy for 
Gloucestershire.  This will establish the economic value of county rail routes and provide the 
evidence base to prioritise future investment on the rail network.  It will also inform 
sustainable transport options for existing and proposed new large scale development 
identified in local plans. 

P.69 recent investment: Not clear, why this section refers to the Connecting Places
strategies, only, not to the whole LTP. Also: the list of recent transport investments includes
a number of schemes that have not happened yet (A46 alignment, Motorway junction
upgrades, WCTIS, etc.). There is also some recent investment to future investments missing
from this list. Please get back to GCC transport officers to ensure that the list either includes
all of the recent transport investment, or all of the transport investment that is likely to come
forward in the future.

Page 70 | Housing, 2nd Column, 2nd paragraph bullet points; 

There is a good opportunity here to demonstrate coherence within the LIS around its key 
supporting messages – particularly clean growth and the circular economy. As such the 
bullet-points that make reference to waste management matters and pioneering initiatives 
would benefit from a bit of reworking. A suggested revision to the 2nd bullet point could read 
as follows: - ‘- meaningfully contribute to delivering the circular economy, improving energy 
efficiency and the uptake of green energy solutions, and;’ A suggested revisions to the 3rd 
bullet point could read as follows: - ‘ – act as a national pioneer, piloting innovative and 
technologically advanced clean and green design approaches within new construction.’   

Page 145



Appendix 2a 

5 

Page 70 | Housing, 2nd Column, 4th Paragraph; 

There is another opportunity to demonstrate coherence within the LIS around its key 
supporting messages – particularly clean growth and the circular economy. A suggested 
revision could read as follows: - ‘This will require collaboration by all of the county’s local 
authorities to ensure future homes are resource and energy efficient, digitally connected and 
future-proofed. Work to support this is already underway. 

Page 71 Smart charging the EV Super Highway’ scheme needs to be explained 

Page 73 | what we need…, 2nd Column, last-bullet point (single prioritised infrastructure 
plan); 

The reference to the proposed SoCG should add the following bullet point: - ’support the 
transition to the circular economy.’   

Page 73 Mass transit transport solution 

This section might need amending to remove reference to Guided Busways as I don’t think 
the EoI states a preference for a particular technology at the moment.  The EoI is keeping 
options open in terms of what type of system would be employed 

Page 73a single prioritised Infrastructure plan  

This should refer to seven planning authorities not districts. 

Reference to the seven local plans needs clarifying as the Development Plan for 
Gloucestershire consists of the: 

• Joint Core Strategy (Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury)

• Current adopted local plans for Cheltenham, Tewkesbury & Gloucester

• Local plans for Cotswold, Forest and Stroud,

• Minerals Local Plan,

• Waste Core Strategy, part of the former Waste Local Plan,

It would be simpler to just refer to the Statutory Development Plan for Gloucestershire which 
covers the six districts and GCC. 

Page 74 talks about the development of a cycle strategy. This should build on the work GCC 
is doing with its Local Cycle and Walking Investment Plans. We have cycle strategies – both 
national and local. We have important major local industries lobbying for better cycle routes. 
We need the commitment to their delivery. 

Page 74 | what we need… 

Page 146



Appendix 2a 
 

6 
 

For reasons of consistency with other changes suggested concerning the circular economy, 
the bullet point on page 74 may benefit from a little reworking. However, it is not clear 
whether it is meant to be transport-focused in line with the other bullet-points around it? The 
assumption has been made this isn’t the case. A suggested revision could read as follows: - 
‘A positive and supportive investment environment in which to secure the infrastructure and 
networks needed to deliver the circular economy. This should build upon existing good 
practice in place across our industries, and align with wider, cross-cutting ambitions to drive 
forward the waste hierarchy – particularly focused on achieving greater resource efficiency, 
encouraging more re-use, and maximised opportunities for recycling and recovery.’ 

'A resilient transport network that enables sustainable economic growth by providing door to 
door travel choices' (LTP Vision) 

Gloucestershire's LTP has been updated to support delivery of the Strategic Economic Plan, 
the emerging Local Plans and, where possible, maximise the opportunity for further levels of 
investment as they become available for transport within the county.  It also enhances the 
ability of County Council officers to successfully negotiate with developers to secure 
infrastructure associated with emerging developments 

Page 74 –Rail Strategy  

A fourth bullet should be added: Improve connectivity between the Forest of Dean via 
Lydney station and the Greater Bristol Area 

• Improve connectivity between the Forest of Dean via Lydney station and the greater Bristol 
area. 

Page 78 – please check locations of centres on map (Birmingham is not correct and the link 
should following the M5) + add Cardiff 

Page 79 - The Forest of Dean District is a Defra R80 classified area, in which 95% of its 
population still live in a rural environment. – remove the word still as this implies they haven’t 
been able to move instead of choosing to live somewhere 

Page 79 - Tourism - Whilst the Cotswolds is the largest AONB in Gloucestershire there are 
two others – Wye Valley and Malvern Hills.  Whilst the latter is only a very small area the 
Wye Valley covers a larger area to the west of the county and being the birthplace of modern 
tourism and the’ picturesque movement’ should be mentioned.  The map should include 
Malvern Hills and Wye Valley AONBs. Approx. 65,000 people use the station during the 
National Hunt Festival.  This would equate to 130,000 actual rail journeys. 

Page 80 – Local Plans  

As discussed above this needs clarifying.  The Joint Core Strategy is an overarching 
planning document covering Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury.  I don’t think 
Gloucester City have an actual adopted local plan.  For Tewkesbury and Cheltenham some 
of their adopted local plan policies have been ‘saved’ but are somewhat dated.  All three 
JCS authorities are progressing their respective local plans but are not adopted at the 
moment as they have had to wait for the JCS to be adopted.  The Forest of Dean doesn’t 
have an adopted local plan but have an adopted Core Strategy, Allocations Plan and Area 
Action Plan. They are at the early stages of LP production.  

Page 147



Appendix 2a 
 

7 
 

GCC has an adopted and emerging Minerals LP and Waste Core Strategy. 

To avoid all this rather complicated, tedious and technical planning discussion something 
that refers to the Statutory Development Plan for Gloucestershire providing the framework 
for future growth discussed in the LIS might be simpler. 

Looking beyond the county – references to the M4 access being via South Glos – the A417 
links the Central Gloucestershire City Region to the M4 and Thames Valley – the omission of 
this corridor at a time when we are making a case for the A417 Missing Link seems short 
sighted. 

There is inconsistencies with references to the Sub-National Transport Bodies – please note 
that GGC as a member of the Western Gateway and the G:First LEP through the Western 
Gateway’s Transport and Business Forum – through this they would be able to influence 
Sub-national polices/ priorities.  The links to Midlands Connect are not so strong other than 
being a partner on the A46 Partnership group 

PLACE 

The Place section doesn’t read as a very coherent section at the moment – although all of 
the elements are important, it reads like a collection of topics, rather than as a clear 
aspiration for the place. From a health perspective, should  the section on inclusive growth 
and social mobility could be moved into the People section and the Place section focus on 
the role of anchor institutions as one of Gloucestershire’s assets to build on, alongside 
tourism, culture, the city region, etc. 

Page 82 it needs to be made clear, that growth needs to be allocated in sustainable 
locations, to enable access with sustainable modes 

Gloucestershire's LTP has been updated to support delivery of the Strategic Economic Plan, 
the emerging Local Plans and, where possible, maximise the opportunity for further levels of 
investment as they become available for transport within the county.  It also enhances the 
ability of County Council officers to successfully negotiate with developers to secure 
infrastructure associated with emerging developments. 

We want 

To preserve the county’s deeply rural environment, we want to keep Gloucestershire at least 
95% building-free. In total, less than 3% of the total land in the county has been built on, 
highlighting how rural the county is, whilst revealing an opportunity for further use of the 
county’s land to unlock sites for future housing and employment. This statement should be 
reworded as it contradicts the Growth agenda and the proposed city region 

 

GENERAL COMMENTS ON DOCUMENT OVERALL 

Practically, the ‘diversity’ of the Gloucestershire population is not really addressed in the 
pictures included.  There were very few pictures of ‘older people’ although they are 
mentioned throughout the document as being important.  Only one picture containing people 
from minority ethnic groups is included, a picture of an RAU event page 51– in which case 

Page 148



Appendix 2a 

8 

they may have been students.  Almost all pictures contain young white people and certainly 
none with an obvious disability. 

Also whilst the document does look very professional, a lot of the text is rather small even on 
the general text pages.  This is perhaps difficult to read for some people and the pages 
where there is small white text out of a very dark background (dark blue or green) are 
particularly tiring to read. 

. 

Page 149



Appendix 2 

1 

Please enter your details below: 

Name: 
The Council 

Organisation: 
Gloucestershire County Council 

Date: 
15th November 2019 

Fill in this template and send to LIS@gfirstlep.com 

Thank you for taking the time to read our Draft Local Industrial Strategy for Gloucestershire, which has been 
developed using extensive evidence and engagement with stakeholders. 

We would love to hear your views – especially on the following five questions. 

Please send your feedback to LIS@gfirstlep.com by 31st October 2019. 

Consultation questions: 

1. How well does this draft strategy represent the challenges, opportunities and priorities for raising
productivity and prosperity in Gloucestershire?

PUBLIC HEALTH 
Welcomes the references to both the health and wellbeing of the population (and its impact on 
Gloucestershire’s productivity and prosperity) – including where they are linked to the natural 
environment, agri-tech sector and infrastructure. The ambition set out on p83 to adopt and ‘active-by-
design-first’ is one we would support, although we would argue that planning healthy places shouldn’t be 
limited to active design but should also consider wider health impacts/benefits. 

Also welcome are references to the benefits of social mobility and inclusive growth to ensure that 
everyone in the County has the opportunity to contribute to and benefit from a thriving economy. 
However, suggest that this could be better embedded as a thread throughout the document, rather than 
as a ‘bolt on’ or another priority in the Place section, where the prominence of inclusive growth and social 
mobility is really welcome but doesn’t have the narrative to explain to a reader unfamiliar with the 
concepts why it is relevant and important.  
To address this, could the document briefly refer to what inclusive growth and social mobility means in 
the context of cyber? (e.g. the positive link with Cyber Central’s neighbouring community on p28 could be 
really drawn out.) Could it refer to what it means in the context of agri-tech or to skills and flexibility? 

There are other hooks throughout that could help embed this concept, e.g. referring to “the most flexible 
and inclusive place to work” on p8, to a diverse housing offer on p9 or in sections on education, training 
and skills for the cyber sector on p25. 

Another way of addressing this could be to remove the section on inclusive growth and social mobility 
from the Place section and embed it within the People section. The Place section could then focus on the 
role of anchor institutions as an asset of Gloucestershire (see further suggestions under Q5) – this may 
also help with a clearer narrative within that section. 

However, whilst there is a clear rationale for the emphasis on younger people in the document, the ageing 
population is positioned as a purely negative factor/driver, e.g. on p16. We believe this could be 
addressed without diluting the ambition and focus of the draft LIS on the magnet county concept by 
acknowledging the untapped potential of the older workforce and positioning them as an asset, e.g. in  

Page 150

mailto:LIS@gfirstlep.com
mailto:LIS@gfirstlep.com


Appendix 2 

2 

skills and knowledge transfer and mentoring, and as beneficiaries of a more flexible working environment 
that enables them to work longer and to contribute to local productivity. 

INTEGRATED DISABILITIES COMMISSIONING HUB 

Overall the strategy is good, however and it would be useful  to see the strategy as a progressive 
document in terms of inclusivity. Recognising the opportunity to build something for the many young 
people who stay in Gloucestershire and who can be overlooked, we would summarise this as :- 

• More recognition of the diversity of the workforce
• Encouragement for employers to recruit to strengths of individuals rather than “qualifications”
• More investment in careers advice in schools – particularly around alternatives to University
• Co-production with young people – what is it they want?
• Wider understanding of the employment demographic and consideration of other areas where

opportunities do and will continue to exist
• Investment in areas of deprivation to encourage young people with significant challenges to

participate in apprenticeships and employers to consider more entry level jobs to get people into
the workforce and then build their skills

• More diverse representation in higher management roles to encourage participation from
disadvantaged people

COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

Skills 
The draft strategy adequately represents several of the main challenges of the county’s residents (ageing 
population, retention of our younger workforce, skills and investment) providing a structure to address 
the need for additional investment and growth opportunities. 

Whilst referenced and evidenced in the ‘Five pillars evidence base’, there are significant public sector and 
health and social care sector recruitment and retention challenges in the county which the draft LIS does 
not directly address and which do impact on productivity and inclusion within Gloucestershire. GCC and 
District Councils have identified the following job roles where recruitment and/or retention is difficult, 
either because of salary and benefits competition with the private sector or where local authorities are 
competing with one another to attract/retain individuals with particular skill sets: 
• Lawyers and solicitors
• Building control inspectors
• Planners, especially transport planners
• Accountants
• HR advisors (experienced)
• ICT specialists
• Data analysts
• Property managers
• Qualified social workers, especially children’s social workers
• Highways major projects managers and planners
• Housing officers
• Trading Standards officers

Given the infrastructure improvements and developments highlighted and proposed in the draft LIS, the 
ageing population in the county and the substantial predicted growth of the health and care sector, this 
places increasing strain on the public sector as it seeks to support and contribute positively to these 
changes.  

Considerable further analysis of the health and care sector in Gloucestershire has been carried out and 
the findings are available to support this response. A summary of the analysis and further figures from 

Page 151



Appendix 2 
 

3 
 

‘Burning Glass’ LMI tool have been incorporated into the GCC and GFirst LEP ‘Labour Market and Skills 
Review 2018/19’ (p. 86, 100-101) which can be made available alongside the GCC response to the LIS 
draft. 
 
The references to social mobility and inclusive growth are welcomed but would be better embedded in 
the ‘people’ chapter of the LIS and feedback from within GCC and a range of education and skills providers 
in the county, emphasises the importance of having a strong intermediate level (level 2 and level 3) 
curriculum offer that will enable access to qualifications for people to enter the workforce and also act as 
‘stepping stones’ to higher level qualifications that will, potentially, have bigger impacts on productivity 
gains. Without these ‘stepping stones’ we won’t be able to develop effective progression pathways into a 
wide range of job roles required by businesses and organisations in the county. We therefore strongly 
support the idea of a digital skills partnership reporting into the Gloucestershire Employment and Skills 
Board (GESB or SAP) that could ensure effective planning, coordination and delivery of digital skills across 
the county, from the ‘digital citizen’ type skills of getting online and basic ICT through to specialised, L4+ 
courses in cyber-tech/cyber security. This will enable the focus on inclusiveness and well as productivity 
gains in terms of digital skills. 
 
Whilst referenced in the draft LIS, apprenticeships need to be highlighted further as both a challenge and 
an opportunity as they represent very effective ways of improving local businesses’ and organisations’ 
capacity and productivity and of tackling the threats posed by large numbers of employees in the county 
reaching retirement age and leaving the workforce, so generating significant replacement demand. GCC 
can help significantly with this – see ‘skills’ answers to Qs 2, 5 and 6 and further insights/evidence 
generated for the GESB by GCC Skills and Employment Commissioning Team (referenced in the answer to 
Q 8). 
 
Progression links for local schools, colleges and training providers to local universities (University of 
Gloucestershire, Hartpury University and the Royal Agricultural University) could all be strengthened and 
greater emphasis placed on each institution playing to its strengths and specialisms. We are conscious 
that all three institutions are seeking to serve a national (and to some extent, international) market for 
students but all three could further strengthen their links with local businesses and organisations to 
extend their work on such things as student placements, ‘live’ projects with employers and student 
employability and recruitment programmes in order to encourage graduates to stay on in Gloucestershire 
at the end of their studies, having formed strong bonds with local employers and having identified local 
career progression opportunities. 
 
The geographical position of Gloucestershire, effectively between the ‘magnet’ cities of Bristol and 
Birmingham, impacts on the net loss of young people to other areas. This needs to be acknowledged in 
the LIS and linked effectively to the Vision 2050 proposals around Cheltenham and Gloucester. 
 
Finally, there is also a need for an ‘implementation plan’ or similar document to clarify the specific actions 
that GFirst LEP and partner organisations, including GCC, need to take to ensure effective collaboration 
and delivery of the strategy and to prevent duplication of effort and limited resources. 
 
Inclusive Growth 
The issue of inclusive growth seems to be missed from the document; it is not just about working with 
health community partners, rather inclusive growth is about reversing poverty.  It should focus on 
improving living standards for all citizens especially those at the bottom not just boosting productivity.  It 
is about engaging people in economic growth by building on social infrastructure (homes, education, 
vocational skills).  It is a move away from GVA growth to the quality of GVA.  When considering inclusive 
growth it is important to consider how the local labour market functions, what the composition of local 
businesses is and how they operate. 
 
 

Page 152



Appendix 2 
 

4 
 

Green 
Concerns have been raised over some of the language used for ‘Green’ and the apparent inconsistencies 
between the need to maintain the status quo while moving towards the creation of a city region. 
 
E.g.: establish Gloucestershire as a leader in sustainable growth by developing a baseline to determine 
how best to protect, maintain and enhance our natural capital assets 
We are in the midst of a climate change emergency. We must ensure that our growth is not at the expense 
of our unique environment both locally, nationally and globally – 
 
These statements do not seem to embrace sustainable growth but protect natural assets which could 
prevent future growth especially in the Green belt. Clarification is sought over those aspects of the 
environment where there truly is value i.e. AONBs  In addition, the recommendations regarding the 
designations in the Forest of Dean and Cotswold should be mentioned to show a degree of separation 
from the M5 growth corridor. 
 
Some form of words should be included about supporting growth in highly accessible locations to take full 
advance of existing public transport corridors and reducing the need to drive i.e. sustainable growth 
 
Transport 
Managing transport demand to enable economy to grow (without congestion). Meeting the obligations 
arising from the climate emergency. Making sure Gloucestershire benefits from the data revolution which 
has a strong urban focus nationally. 
 
Movement of goods from a transport perspective, more could be said about the reasons for reduced 
productivity. One of the key factors influencing productivity is connectivity, with congestion significantly 
reducing productivity. (According to Atkins estimates the costs of delays on roads in Gloucestershire in 
2005 were equivalent to £50m - £100m per year in GVA equivalence Atkins. 2008. Economic Costs of 
Congestion in the Regions) 
 
Regarding prosperity for all, transport (or lack of accessible transport) is a key barrier for people accessing 
jobs and education. For those without access to a private car, bus services, walking and cycling are of 
utmost importance. People who use these modes engage in more active travel which improves mental 
and physical health and thus economic productivity.  Consideration for the movement of goods, 
considering the counties recognition as manufacturing and new market opportunities, including exports.  
What will the future movement of goods look like in a carbon neutral growth economy? 
 
GCC welcomes the identification of a need for : 
-              A mass-transit transport solution 
-              Better cycle links 
-              Rail projects 
-              Innovative technology driven transport solutions.  
 
However, in order to truly provide an integrated transport offer to the people of Gloucestershire, the 
wider network of mass public transport (Bus and Rail) should not be overlooked. What is needed is a 
better overall network of public transport provision. The Gloucestershire LTP (currently under review)  
sets the long-term transport strategy for Gloucestershire up to 2031. It aims to influence how and when 
people choose to travel so that individual travel decisions do not cumulatively impact on the desirability of 
Gloucestershire as a place to live, work and invest. 
 
It is important to note that we are still trying to understand what is required  to support opportunities and 
priorities for raising productivity and prosperity across some areas of work as we are still awaiting the 
outcome of several commissions currently underway;  these are:  
 

Page 153



Appendix 2 

5 

  Industrial Land Assessment Commission 
Rail Commission 
Housing Needs Assessment  
Fastershire Strategy Review 
Mobile Connectivity Report 
Port Access Study 

We will continue to feed information into the LIS evidence base and refinement of the Strategy as it 
arises. 

Ageing Society 
As stated in the LIS Gloucestershire has an ageing population, with a 59% increase in the over-65 age 
group expected by 2040, growth not currently predicted to be matched by any other age group. This is our 
current skilled workforce and should be seen as an asset to the County. Can we not reference the 
opportunities this might present to us in relation to harnessing the transferable skills and experience 
these Gloucestershire residents have to offer? 

2. What is the most important aspect of the draft strategy that we need to deliver to attract and retain young
people in Gloucestershire?

PUBLIC HEALTH 
The supply of affordable housing is a clear potential barrier to the main focus of the draft LIS in becoming 
a magnet County. However, affordable housing is only mentioned in the document with direct reference 
to young people, e.g. p33 and p70 – ignoring the fact that this is a challenge for people of all ages and that 
there is an interrelationship across the local housing offer. This could be addressed whilst retaining 
reference to young people by softening the language, e.g. to refer to “affordable housing, including for 
young people”. 
It is also clear that young people value what Gloucestershire has to offer, in terms of its natural 
environment and we would support the strong emphasis on the green agenda within the LIS, including in 
terms of its many benefits to the health and wellbeing of residents and the local workforce. 

INTEGRATED DISABILITIES COMMISSIONG HUB 
There is a pool of overlooked young people who may well have skills to offer at the level required but who 
need additional investment to help them overcome prejudice and raise their aspirations.  More needs to 
be explained at an earlier stage to identify what opportunities exist for young people and to encourage 
employers to play a major part in the curriculum/careers advice.   This is met in part with the Careers and 
Enterprise Company work through the LEP but it needs to grow and young people themselves need to tell 
us what they want to know. Flexible working environments are essential to accommodate the wider 
needs of a diverse and dynamic workforce, it is encouraging to see this mentioned but with no real 
demonstration as to how this can be achieved. 

COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
Skills 
Rather than one single most important aspect, there are several inter-related aspects of the draft LIS that 
need to be actively co-ordinated and delivered by local stakeholders:  

Page 154



Appendix 2 
 

6 
 

 
a) Sufficient and visible education and employment opportunities  
To attract and retain young people in Gloucestershire, it is critical that the county has sufficient education 
and employment opportunities for future generations and that these are visible to, promoted to and 
understood by young people. For example, many SMEs and the job roles within them are relatively 
‘invisible’ to many young people unless the school/college in which they are studying has a strong careers 
strategy with effective linkages to local businesses. We also need to ensure that young people are ‘work 
ready’ and have clearer progression pathways into local job roles and local businesses. This could be 
achieved through the adoption of a much improved employability programme within schools and colleges 
such as the programme developed through the ESF-funded ‘EDGE’ project and through the expansion of 
employer pledges and support across wider sectors such as digital, health, legal, social care and 
engineering. Whilst good progress has been made in recruiting enterprise advisers to work with schools 
and connect them better to local businesses and employers, there is still some evidence of schools with 
sixth forms, that are more reluctant to/less active in fully implementing the Baker clause and impartial 
careers support. This needs to be rectified to enable all Gloucestershire school students to fully 
understand the career options and progression pathways open to them, including apprenticeships, T-
levels, etc. 
 
b) Closer matching of further, adult and higher education course offers with local employer needs 
We need the courses and curricula offered within our local universities to be closely aligned with the 
needs of local employers. Whilst universities serve a national (and sometimes international) base of 
employers, closer and more effective links with local employers, including public sector organisations, 
would help retain graduates by highlighting and making tangible the links and career opportunities with 
local businesses. Sector pathways that are clear and easy to follow would help young people and their 
parents to decide on their subject option choices and their progression choices, whether staying on into 
sixth form, entering traineeships, apprenticeships, T-Levels, or higher education.  
 
c) Develop, extend and target our local apprenticeship offer 
To enable us to attract/retain the younger people in Gloucestershire and build and cement their 
relationships with local employers, we need to be offering Higher Degree Apprenticeships across the 
larger organisations based in the county. Examples of such apprenticeships where there is evidence of 
demand include: Chartered Legal Executive; Civil Engineer; Cyber Security Technical Professional; District 
Nurse; Environmental Practitioner; Post Graduate Engineer; Post Graduate Teacher; Public Health 
Practitioner . These are all available now for delivery and whilst there is a huge demand for lower level 
apprenticeships across the sectors, these higher degree apprenticeships will attract people to undertake 
their degree whilst also not accruing the debt that the traditional university degrees bring with them. 
Most of the above apprenticeships would be covered by the Apprenticeship Levy and are around the 
£27,000 funding mark over the lifetime of the apprenticeship. 
 
Greater focus should be placed on encouraging/requiring apprenticeship levy paying organisations 
transferring some of their levies out to local SMEs to support their uptake on apprenticeships. This 
approach saves the employer the 5% contribution they would usually have to pay towards the training 
costs. GCC is leading the way in the county by already doing this, with good uptake and supports £260k 
per year that otherwise would be lost back to Treasury. By challenging other levy-paying organisations to 
do the same, whilst providing advice on good practice and how to do this, GCC can play a strong 
leadership role in the expansion of apprenticeships in Gloucestershire. 
 
To expand apprenticeship uptake in SMEs and provide them with support in their apprenticeship offering 
such as succession planning, best practice, managing providers/colleges, the creation and management of 
a group of consultative employer representatives from across the county is recommended. This group 
could be drawn from the employers in the county that are already delivering their own apprenticeship 
programmes effectively. 
 

Page 155



Appendix 2 
 

7 
 

 
d) Housing that is affordable and accessible to young people 
We also need to improve the availability of and access by young people to Gloucestershire’s affordable 
housing, particularly in areas such as the Cotswolds where property prices are high and to make sure that 
this affordable housing (along with the rest of the county) has high speed and reliable broadband to 
enable more flexible agile working from home and communal working places close to home.  
 
e) Improved public transport 
Young people are often very reliant on public transport but the services, particularly in the rural areas of 
the county, are often too infrequent or arrive too late to enable young people to get to work/their place 
of study. We therefore need to invest in and improve public transport provision in Gloucestershire, 
especially rural parts of the county. 
 
f) Raised aspirations 
We need better interaction with Schools enabling us to raise aspirations of the next generation. 
 
Magnet County 
This strategy will embrace the continued promotion of Gloucestershire’s suitability and attractiveness to 
young families and professionals, particularly around the 30-40 age groups, and will build on the need to 
attract younger people to the local housing market and enable those aged 18-30 to more easily buy or 
rent property. This is the first time the report quantifies what is ‘young people’ This should be made 
clearer, especially in the executive summary and the constant references to young people. 
 
Transport 
Recognising the challenges. The next generation will want highly responsive transport – Mobility As A 
Service (MaaS). They will want clean air and streets that aren’t congested with motorised vehicles. We are 
on the cusp of a profound transport revolution. Gloucestershire will grasp this and show evidence of 
understanding this through how and where it develops and the innovations it enables in order to 
transform how and why we travel. Young people will not be following in their parents’ footsteps (or cars). 
They will embrace a world where quality of life and the environment are more closely understood and 
well delivered and they will choose (those that can) to live and work in those places – wherever they may 
be in the world. Talk to and listen to young people. Don’t assume they envisage a future anything like the 
present we have created. 
From child to young adult there is an absolute need for LIS to put prioritisation in enabling residents 
(parents) and especially young people  to first be able to walk/cycle/and access Public transport – this is 
not apparent and would be good to be transparent across the whole strategy. It is also good to develop 
independence and socialisation. Many young people don’t have access to their own car. Some never will. 
Therefore investment in public transport walking and cycling is of key importance. 
There also needs to be more transport support for the night time economy in order for young people to 
both work in it and take part in it.  
The quote that the survey of young people revealed that transport was their number one ‘worst thing 
about living in Gloucestershire’ is striking. Could GCC officers be provided with the full survey, please? 
Also, did the survey ask to specify this in a bit more detail, so that we can understand the statement a bit 
better? 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 156



Appendix 2 

8 

3. What is the most important aspect of the draft strategy that we need to deliver to raise productivity and
prosperity for all people in the county?

PUBLIC HEALTH 
See comments on inclusive growth above. 

INTEGRATED DISIBILITIES COMMISSIONING HUB 
More recognition of the diversity of the workforce 
Suggest a case study of where we have excelled in supporting inclusivity/integrated disabilities – there is a 
good case study in the Public Health Annual Report 2018/19: Healthonomics: tackling health inequalities 
through inclusive growth. 

COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
Skills 
Without continual investment in the skills of those entering the workforce and the upskilling/CPD of those 
already in the workforce, it is very unlikely that productivity and prosperity improvements will take place. 

Additionally, to raise productivity and prosperity for all people in the county it is critical that infrastructure 
improvements are implemented within both transport and internet connections mitigating 
Gloucestershire’s geographical barriers. It is imperative that we increase the mobility and ability for 
communities and businesses to connect more easily; reducing travel, costs and increasing access to 
information and change. 

We need fast and reliable broadband to facilitate more flexible working (e.g. from home) and online 
learning.  

Better transport connections are needed to enable those geographically isolated to access work 
opportunities in the more urban areas of Cheltenham and Gloucester (e.g. Forest of Dean and Cotswolds 
residents) and play a full role in the development of the cyber-tech sector and other growth/emerging 
sectors. Greater awareness and use of the Thinksmart travel scheme for apprentices would also help more 
people to access apprenticeships and develop their careers as they can access free (subsidised) bus travel 
(100 journeys). We also need to consider whether we can extend this scheme to enable free travel for the 
duration of their apprenticeships. 

Transport and Green 
Building in accessible locations is key to this and should be a fundamental component of green growth. It 
is unsustainable and unviable to rely on rural passenger transport or single occupancy car trips 
We will need to work closely with sub-national transport bodies, including the Western Gateway and 
Midlands Connect,  to exploit strategic road and rail corridors, and develop innovative public transport 
solutions that include walking and cycling. 
Please note that developing innovative public transport solutions that include walking and cycling, at this 
stage is picked up within the LTP 
It would be good to get a much stronger element of inclusion into this. Realise that people with 
disabilities, both physical and hidden, require inclusive healthy space and may be deterred by transport 
networks which are congested and car dominant. Notice, some of the high tech industries are particularly 
dominated by people who may have disabilities. In addition, the ageing population means there is more 
need for Alzheimer aware designs/ spaces where people can work near family. People will also work for 
longer parts of their lives and will have more portfolio careers. The breadwinner will no longer ‘go off to 
work’ in a private car; the ability to integrate working life with family and caring will be increasingly 
valued. Parts of the country that show evidence of understanding how to build a genuinely inclusive 
economy are more desirable for all members of the community to live and work in. This is a dramatic 
determinant of loneliness and social deprivation levels and requires human centred living and working 
spaces. Note the growth of the care sector; consider integrating work space with housing; communal food 

Page 157



Appendix 2 

9 

growing; carbon free initiatives; embrace diversity and imaginative futures. The emerging LIS puts 
emphasis on the importance of flexible working opportunities in Gloucestershire. These will have to be 
met by flexible transport offers that enable people to access all areas of Gloucestershire, provide mode 
choice and flexibility in user patterns. 

Digital Mobility 
With its pioneering credentials for Broadband coverage of the County, Fastershire and the continued roll 
out of digital connectivity is a key aspect in raising productivity. The LIS embraces this objective well and 
recognises the importance for businesses and homes alike, offering flexible working opportunities and 
support for inclusivity. 

4. How should we develop Gloucestershire’s Growth Hubs to help deliver the ambitions set out in the draft
strategy?

PUBLIC HEALTH 
No comments from public health 

INTEGRATED DISIBILITIES COMMISSIONING HUB 
No comments from Integrated Disabilities Commissioning Hub 

COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
Skills 
The Growth Hubs need to help businesses identify and tackle their recruitment and workforce 
development needs, including skills and continuing professional development. The Hubs could then use 
this information to help the Gloucestershire Employment & Skills Board (GESB/SAP) to commission and 
direct provision where and when it is needed by local businesses.  

The Growth Hubs could provide a channel for audits of and effective advice to businesses about how to 
improve their flexible working. This should focus on the benefits to the businesses of promoting and 
offering flexible working as well as the ‘how’ and links to businesses/organisations in the county that have 
already done so and made gains in recruitment for key roles or improved retention as a result. 

The Growth Hubs also need to further strengthen partnership working between academia and businesses 
to innovate and grow and continue to provide opportunities for small businesses to try out new 
approaches and technologies (e.g. via the GCC Library Service’s innovation labs).  

The Growth Hubs should continue to make their services accessible across the county (e.g. by extending 
opening hours, where demand justifies this) and enable the multi-agency/partnership working that is a 
feature of the Tewkesbury Growth Hub. 

Growth Hubs could consider introducing a Growth Hub employee ambassadors scheme to enable local 
employers to better understand the benefits and services offered by the Growth Hub and promote them 
internally to their fellow employees. 

Each Growth Hub should have a travel plan. Each Growth Hub should also routinely provide travel 
information to all visitors and should be located at or near public transport hubs. 

Ensure the Growth Hubs are centres of innovation. They should operate as effectively in a virtual sense as 
physically. They should be emblems of how we can live, work and travel in a modern environmentally and 
socially responsible way. They should excite and help deliver hope in a political climate of uncertainty and 
changing climate due to global warming. The Growth Hubs should showcase imaginative ways of working 
and travelling and not travelling. 

Page 158



Appendix 2 
 

10 
 

 
5. Which aspect of the draft strategy could you or your organisation help us to deliver? 

PUBLIC HEALTH 
The draft strategy makes reference to working with “health community partners” – as anchor institutions 
with considerable employment and purchasing power and estates, they are key partners and this 
acknowledgement is welcome. Public Health colleagues within GCC can support with this relationship to 
help ensure it is an effective one and maximising benefits for a thriving and inclusive local economy. 
 
INTEGRATED DISIBILITIES COMMISSIONING HUB 
No comments from Integrated Disabilities Commissioning Hub 
 
COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
Transport Infrastructure 
Skills 
Aspiration and increased inclusion:  
GCC’s Adult Education Service can support this priority by continuing to engage and support those 
communities that have traditionally been ‘hard to reach’ and where levels of aspiration and achievement 
are low. We can also support by ensuring that our accredited courses are aligned to the local labour 
market information, as well as expanding our work with local employers to identify opportunities for our 
learners. 
Through our commissioning of external providers, GCC Skills and Employment commissioning team works 
with a number of sub-contracted provider partners in the county who have an effective track record with 
and reach into ‘hard to reach’ communities and disadvantaged groups. 

 
Libraries and library service staff are very well integrated into local communities, including in some of the 
rural and other communities in the county where other services are relatively limited because of 
geography or for reasons of social exclusion. GCC’s libraries and library service can continue to act as 
outreach points into the areas that are not so well connected where we can provide training (possibly 
through Adult Ed) and build on the excellent work of the Innovation Labs particularly in respect to 
supporting SMEs and in cyber, digital and IT skills training. 

 
Delivering the skills needed by local businesses:  
GCC’s Adult Education in Gloucestershire (AEiG) can contribute as a learning provider to ensuring that 
“Gloucestershire’s education and training system meets the skills demands of local businesses”. Through 
the flexible nature of it’s community learning and skills offer, it can also be very responsive to local 
community and employer needs. As an employer, GCC can build and strengthen our own contribution, 
e.g. through recruiting and retaining young people, developing effective flexible (agile) working, etc.  

 
Apprenticeships: 
GCC can continue to take a lead role in the county in promoting and enabling Apprenticeship Levy 
transfer, especially to SMEs in priority sectors and in developing and sharing good practice such as 
through its existing apprenticeship programme where apprentices ‘rotate’ across a number of different 
work teams in GCC in order to develop a broader set of skills and experience. This model could be further 
promoted to and developed with SMEs that would not have the capacity to do this but which could still 
offer apprenticeship opportunities, if delivered in partnership. 

 
Adult Education in Gloucestershire (AEiG) could: a) increase delivery volumes of SME Apprenticeships and 
b) increase delivery of all programmes and qualifications to offer structured programmes that align with 
countywide skills demands and improve career pathways into Higher Education. 

 
Support for and implementation of the GESB/SAP priorities 
GCC supports the strategic direction, administration and data analysis functions of the GESB/SAP, with 
three members of staff involved in these aspects of its operation. 

Page 159



Appendix 2 
 

11 
 

 
5.a. What could you do? 
PUBLIC HEALTH 
Public Health colleagues within GCC can provide facilitated access to a system of ‘anchor 
institutions’ in the health and care sector, e.g. via the Health & Wellbeing Board and the 
Integrated Care System (ICS). As a system, Public Health are working to develop our ‘offers’ to the 
LEP and the implementation of the LIS relating to skills, employment, the workplace, procurement, 
infrastructure and research and our ‘asks’ to enable us to work effectively towards supporting the 
aims of the LIS. 
Our intention is that this helps to articulate some real and tangible actions that support the 
ambition of a magnet county. 
 
COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
Transport  
Are able to produce guidance (LTP) / seek and secure external and government funding to deliver 
multi modal and exciting transport projects. We also fund and access significant evidence data 
bases which help understand many issues such as congestion projections/ social attitudes/ the 
effects of development on the transport network/ the effects of subsidy (and other stick as and 
carrots)/ mosaic analysis of where smarter choices will recoup best returns etc. GCC welcomes the 
mentioning of its emerging LTP. Officers feel that the emerging LIS aligns well with the objectives 
and ambitions set out in the emerging LTP. 

 
Skills 
Aspiration and increased inclusion:  
GCC’s Adult Education Service will continue to deliver targeted and tailored learning provision to 
hard-to-reach groups and communities across the county, making sure that effective information, 
advice and guidance on progression and employment opportunities are embedded to help raise 
aspirations and enable progression into work or further/higher education. 

 
As a major local employer, GCC could increase the number of staff who contribute to raising 
aspirations of students in the county’s schools and colleges by volunteering to become enterprise 
advisers to work with schools/colleges on their careers strategies and links with local employers, 
for programmes such as mentoring, practice interviews and young entrepreneurs and to continue 
to identify talent and encourage career progression of young people entering the GCC workforce. 

 
Delivering the skills needed by local businesses:  
GCC can continue to provide detailed analysis of the local and national employment and skills 
‘landscape’ and ‘levers’ to enable provision to be directed to local need (e.g. skills capital funding, 
devolved or locally co-ordinated Adult Education Budget, etc.) Please reference the GCC and GFirst 
LEP ‘Labour Market and Skills Review 2018/19’. 
 
 
5.b. What support would you need? 
PUBLIC HEALTH 
In order to contribute effectively, the channels of communication would need to be open and 
constructive and enable collaborative working across public and private sectors. 
 
COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
Transport          
 Funding/ A voice / Consultation/ Recognition of the key role of transport and the extent to which 
transport professionals can support delivery of the LIS. In order to deliver the ambitions set out in 
Gloucestershire’s Local Transport Plan, funding bids are a significant funding source for transport 

Page 160



Appendix 2 
 

12 
 

infrastructure investment in Gloucestershire. A strong alignment of emerging policy documents in 
Gloucestershire, such as the LIS, the LTP, Local Plans, Gloucestershire’s energy strategy as well as 
the emerging climate change strategy will strengthen any bid that is put forward and ensure that 
all partners can unite behind making the case to invest in Gloucestershire. The parts of the country 
where innovative and ground breaking transport schemes are driving the local economy are 
supported by this type of strong relationship. 
 
Skills 
GCC’s Adult Education Service would appreciate the following support: 

• More in-depth information around labour market information, that comes in a readable 
format that doesn’t take a lot of analysis and improved access to county-wide curriculum 
and employment data from the Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board (GESB) or 
SAP. 

• Better working relationships/partnerships with local colleges and universities where by we 
support each other rather than working against each other, aligning progression routes for 
learners allowing them the opportunity to access all levels of education 

• Greater strategic representation and ongoing engagement with key stakeholders.  
• Structured review of linkages with and progression opportunities for residents into  local 

colleges and HE providers e.g. Hartpury University, University of Gloucestershire, College 
Royal Agricultural University, Gloucestershire College, Cirencester College, South 
Gloucestershire and Stroud College This should include a strategic overview including; 
delivery aims, outcomes and learner destinations to fully shape our county’s delivery. 

 
 
5.c. Do you have any additional insights or evidence to support the action needed? 
 
COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
Transport 
Transport is possibly the most important factor in how the economy expands and shapes in 
Gloucestershire. So much is understood now about the need for active travel; clean green space 
for mental and physical health; innovation and diversity. The ‘male pale stale’ view of providing 
more car parks and more car based travel is dated and no longer serves any part of the country 
which wants to stand out as a beacon of economic progression. 
 
Skills 
Data and analysis of employment and skills across Gloucestershire: 
The GCC and GFirst LEP ‘Labour Market and Skills Review 2018/19’ has been prepared by the Skills 
and Employment Commissioning Team in GCC and provides the data analysis required for the 
transition of the GESB into a SAP as well as underpinning evidence on employment and skills that 
goes beyond and into more detail than that provided in the ‘Five pillars’ evidence base. This will be 
used by the GESB/SAP to inform employment and skills investment and actions in the county. 

 
Data and analysis of the health & social care workforce needs across Gloucestershire: 
The attached integrated workforce report ‘One Gloucestershire: Gloucestershire Workforce – data 
pack, July 2019’ gives a detailed overview of the importance, impact and actions around the 
health and social care workforce in the county. 

 
In terms of the skills demand for particular job roles and skills in demand in the health and care 
sector, please see the attached report (which includes data up to February 2019 – the latest 
information release). This tool is being further developed by DWP, the ‘Examine a Place’ team and 
the DfE Skills Advisory Programme team in collaboration with local authorities and LEPs. 

 
 

Page 161



Appendix 2 
 

13 
 

 
GCC Adult Education links with other providers: 
As an established OFSTED Good-rated provider, Adult Education in Gloucestershire possesses an 
excellent proven track-record working with businesses and residents throughout Gloucestershire 
supporting Gloucestershire County Council’s key priorities. Although successfully achieved, our 
offer and delivery could be more closely aligned with other county providers. To truly grow and 
achieve its ambitions of raising productivity and prosperity in Gloucestershire, the GESB/SAP 
needs to further support increased collaborative working and insight opportunities with all 
training providers as part of the county’s education roadmap to success. 
 

 

Page 162



1 

Appendix 1 

Gloucestershire LIS Core Content: ‘Seizing Opportunities’ and The Five Foundations – Highlights and Potential Weaknesses 

Leading 
Opportunity/Foundation 

Highlights GCC Officer Feedback (identifying potential weaknesses, gaps 
in evidence and/or additional references required)    

CYBER TECH: 
Promoting 
Gloucestershire as the 
‘cradle’ of cyber-tech 
innovation for the UK, 
complemented by strong 
supply chains and high 
calibre academia 
collaborations 

Grand Challenge 
alignment = AI and Data 
Economy 

Drawing on local specialisms of cyber and digital, deliver ‘Cyber 
Central, the UK’s first fully cyber centric business park adjacent 
GCHQ, working with the CyNam cluster of businesses to focus 
on skills development and a talent pipeline, plus the 
establishment of a visitor centre 

Continue to invest in access to high quality digital connectivity 
and technical skills, incl a Digital Skills Partnership and cyber-
centric Institute of Technology  

Develop cyber-tech innovation capabilities, new businesses, 
products and a ladder of potential investment opportunities 
across key sectors      

Build on regional links into ‘Cyber Valley’ (Worcs, Swindon and 
Wilts, and the Marches) and Lead on a national Cyber Sector 
Deal with partners  

No additional comments received 

GREEN: Promoting 
Gloucestershire as the 
greenest place to live and 
work in England 

Grand Challenge 
alignment = Clean 
Growth, Future Mobility, 

Recognising the County’s natural assets and high-quality 
environment, establish Gloucestershire as the leader in 
sustainable growth, pushing the boundaries on green 
development through active planning and net gain biodiversity  

Improve the County’s resilience to climate change through 
effective management of natural capital and pioneering 
environmental mapping, plus net zero carbon innovations  

Using technology to enable Gloucestershire to engage more 

Suggested revision to affordable housing refs to acknowledge 
active policy initiatives to promote improved standards in new 
developments including the ‘Building with Nature’ benchmark 
and a greater understanding of the principles and potential for 
Gloucestershire of the Circular Economy (wording offered).   

Ambition of promoting sustainable growth and development of 
the Central Gloucestershire City Region imbalanced with firm 
commitments to protect and maintain the natural environment, 

P
age 163



2 

AI and Data Economy demonstrably in the renewable/clean energy market, providing 
business development opportunities for accelerated retro fit and 
green construction, as well as cleaner transport solutions  

Pioneer smart solutions in the food and farming sector to 
accelerate the transition to more sustainable food systems 

irrespective of value – may need re-wording to improve clarity. 

Greater acknowledgement needed of value of promoting 
growth in accessible locations with scope to better utilise 
existing public transport corridors. 

Is a green planning framework really necessary – can’t the 
existing planning system deliver the green objectives ?    

IDEAS: Building on 
strong record of 
innovation across 
established/emerging 
sectors as a main 
contributor to enhancing 
productivity and 
important basis for 
business growth 

Grand Challenge 
alignment = AI and Data 
Economy 

Build on proven high levels of R & D expenditure and innovation 
activity amongst Gloucestershire businesses to provide more 
holistic support for SMEs to promote growth/productivity 

Utilise the pioneering Growth Hub Network to create an 
Innovation Factory bringing entrepreneurs and businesses 
together with local innovation assets such as the RAU, Hartpury, 
UoG, Berkeley Science and Technology Park, Campden BRI and 
the Innovation Labs within libraries 

A National Innovation Centre will also feature as part of ‘Cyber 
Central’      

Acknowledged key sector specialisms in aerospace, precision 
manufacturing and engineering, green/cyber tech, plus a 
distinctive strength in advanced agri-tech and transformative 
innovation promoting a healthy circular economy in food and 
farming through an Advanced Agri-tech Hive     

Need for greater clarity with regard to the potential within the 
Agri-tech sector to accelerate transition to the Circular 
Economy (wording offered). 

Ref to scale of R & D expenditure in County, but confusing 
statistics on GVA and GDP – clarity needed. 

PEOPLE: Developing the 
workforce for the future 
and boosting earning 
potential 

Desire to be a ‘magnet County’, attract/retain young talent and be 
recognised as a flexible place to work to suit people of all ages 
and capabilities 

Offer high quality education and training relevant for local 
business and encourage greater collaboration between industries 

The draft strategy adequately represents several of the main 
challenges of the county’s residents (ageing population, 
retention of our younger workforce, skills and investment) 
providing a structure to address the need for additional 
investment and growth opportunities. 

However, there are significant public sector and health and 

P
age 164



 

3 
 

Grand Challenge 
alignment = AI and Data 
Economy and Ageing 
Society  

to attract/ retain specialist talent and diversify their workforces 

Support the Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board in its 
transition into a Skills Advisory Panel (SAP) and associated 
initiatives to develop a Digital Skills Partnership, STEM skills 
campaign, Aspirations Programme and Work Charter  

social care sector recruitment and retention challenges in the 
County which the draft LIS does not directly address and 
which do impact on productivity and inclusion within 
Gloucestershire. In addition, GCC and District Councils have 
identified a number of job roles where recruitment and/or 
retention are difficult, either because of salary and benefits 
competition with the private sector, or where local authorities 
are competing with one another to attract/retain individuals 
with particular skill sets. 

Given the infrastructure improvements and developments 
highlighted in the draft LIS, the ageing population in the 
County and the substantial predicted growth of the health and 
care sector, this places increasing strain on the public sector 
as it seeks to support and contribute positively to these 
changes.  

Considerable further analysis of the health and care sector in 
Gloucestershire has been carried out and the findings are now 
available. 

The references to social mobility and inclusive growth are 
welcomed but would be better embedded in the ‘people’ 
chapter of the LIS and feedback from within GCC and a range 
of education and skills providers in the county, emphasises 
the importance of having a strong intermediate level (level 2 
and level 3) curriculum offer that will enable access to 
qualifications for people to enter the workforce and also act as 
‘stepping stones’ to higher level qualifications that will, 
potentially, have bigger impacts on productivity gains. 

We therefore strongly support the idea of a digital skills 
partnership reporting into the Gloucestershire Employment 

P
age 165



4 

and Skills Board (GESB or SAP). 

Whilst referenced in the draft LIS, apprenticeships need to be 
highlighted further as both a challenge and an opportunity as 
they represent very effective ways of improving local 
businesses’ and organisations’ capacity and productivity and 
of tackling the threats posed by large numbers of employees 
in the county reaching retirement age and leaving the 
workforce, so generating significant replacement demand. 

The geographical position of Gloucestershire, effectively 
between the ‘magnet’ cities of Bristol and Birmingham, 
impacts on the net loss of young people to other areas. This 
needs to be acknowledged in the LIS and linked effectively to 
the Vision 2050 proposals around Cheltenham and 
Gloucester. 

Without continual investment in the skills of those entering the 
workforce and the upskilling/CPD of those already in the 
workforce, it is very unlikely that productivity and prosperity 
improvements will take place. 

Additionally, to raise productivity and prosperity for all people 
in the County it is critical that infrastructure improvements are 
implemented within both transport and internet connections 
mitigating Gloucestershire’s geographical barriers. It is 
imperative that we increase the mobility and ability for 
communities and businesses to connect more easily; reducing 
travel, costs and increasing access to information and 
change. 

The strategy needs to go further on inclusion and clearly 
define what is meant by ‘young people’ as well as ‘flexible 
working’.  

P
age 166



 

5 
 

Need for more recognition of the diversity in the workforce and 
the potential of all workers, at a range of levels/abilities, 
especially young people and the ‘pool of overlooked’, through 
improved careers advice and encouragement of employers to 
recruit to the strengths of individuals rather than simply 
qualifications.   

Focus on cyber, but other sectors with significant cohorts of 
employees also have workforce development needs and/or 
are struggling to attract/retain staff  ie. care sector and NHS. 
Scope to cross reference some innovative good practice here 
ie. Proud to Care initiative     

Need for promotion of positive case studies of diversity in 
senior management to assist in broadening the reach of 
recruitment practices, plus the potential of strong working 
relationships between older and younger workers. 

Use of broader definition of young people to recognise 
professionals and young families in 30-40 year age group, not 
just inferred 18-30s. Strengthen refs in Executive Summary 
also. 

Travel to work challenges and trying to influence transport 
providers, yet delivering ’flexibility’ in the workplace will 
require application of tech/digital – need to move away from 
traditional view.       

References to ‘attracting and retaining young people’ imply 
bringing more into the County rather than nurturing young 
population already residing here. Suggest adding word 
‘develop’ also.  

 

P
age 167



 

6 
 

BUSINESS 
ENVIRONMENT: Local 
leadership to turbo 
charge the business 
community to start, scale 
up, grow and adapt to 
thrive in a digital world 

 

Grand Challenge 
alignment = AI and Data 
Economy 

Recognising the vibrant and diverse local business base and 
strong start up culture, future proof the Growth Hub business 
support offering to prepare business for ‘digitalisation, the fourth 
industrial revolution’ to help boost productivity   

Launch year-long ‘Productivity Challenge’ and ‘Scale-up’ 
business campaigns 

Promote international investment propositions for key sectors 
and increased export activity 

Establish an Advanced Engineering/Manufacturing Business 
Park to support key businesses in these sectors as well as their 
supply chains 

Improve access to finance for businesses, including ‘green 
finance’ aimed at reducing energy and waste and re-designing 
operational processes  

Lack of suitable industrial/employment land on which to 
develop businesses has been highlighted – we are awaiting 
the outcome of a commission currently underway on the  
available industrial/employment land across the county and 
will feed this into the LIS evidence base once completed 

INFRASTRUCTURE: 
Green (clean) growth, 
modern transport choices 
and better digital 
connectivity where ever 
you live 

 

Grand Challenge 
alignment = Future 
Mobility and AI and Data 
Economy 

Emerging aspiration to develop a fully connected County through 
innovative transport solutions and digital connectivity, including 
exploring the potential to bring the two objectives together 
through a mass transport initiative between the urban centres of 
Gloucester and Cheltenham    

Attract and retain young talent through the provision of more 
affordable housing 

Contribute to climate change/low carbon objectives/targets 
through the provision of more sustainable transport options, 
including active walking and cycling strategies/investment plans 
and demand responsive pilots 

Work collaboratively with local business specialisms to position 
the County as an incubator for EV development and smart 

In terms of recent investments need to add reference to the 
North Cotswold Line Task Force activity to improve services 
between Moreton and Oxford/London. 

Ref to 2015 Amey Rail Strategy needs updating (wording 
offered) and later refs to rail need to acknowledge 
opportunities to improve connectivity between the Forest of 
Dean, via Lydney and the Greater Bristol area. 

Mass transport solution – suggest keep ‘method agnostic’ for 
time being until further options analysis undertaken. 

Various references to the local plans of the different 
authorities could be improved by simply referring to the 
‘Statutory Development Plan’. 

P
age 168



7 

charging technology and commercial capabilities around heat 
decarbonisation, retrofit and fuel poverty   

Growth plans highlighting the opportunity to reinforce the 
potential of a Central Gloucestershire City region 

Work with strategic transport bodies to enhance local and 
regional strategic road/rail connections, including the 
development of a Rail Investment Strategy 

Realise the commercial economic potential of Gloucestershire 
Airport as one of the ‘greenest’ in the UK, operating at the 
forefront of green aviation technology and supporting a cluster of 
high value, knowledge intensive businesses  

Housing – opportunities to promote greater coherence in the 
strategy around key messages, particularly clean growth and 
the Circular Economy (3 sections of wording offered).  

Add point about a positive and supportive investment 
environment in which to secure the infrastructure and 
networks needed to deliver the Circular Economy, in particular 
the waste hierarchy, focused on resource efficiency, re-use, 
recycling and recovery. 

Review refs to M4 access via South Glos – need to adjust and 
recognise relationship of A417 and how will link the emerging 
Central Gloucestershire City Region with the M4 and Thames 
Valley to help reinforce investment strategy for A417. 

Refs to significance of M4 for Gloucestershire may need 
updating to ‘Western Powerhouse’. 

Review refs to SNTBs to improve consistency. 

Need to promote strategy of building in accessible locations 
rather than relying on increasingly compromised transport 
solutions. 

Ref to a single prioritised Infrastructure Plan, however need to 
acknowledge that public sector partners and the LEP have 
already collaborated to produce a County wide ‘Capital 
Investment Pipeline’ and work is underway, in collaboration 
with the SNTBs, to prioritise future major strategic transport 
investments.  

Worth noting significance of strategic infrastructure in 
underpinning all other functions (Ideas, Place, Business 
Environment) 

P
age 169



8 

Scope for more refs to walking and cycling and opportunities 
to influence behaviour, provide improved linkages to multi-
modal travel options and integrate with 
transport/community/employment hubs. 

Refs to ‘door to door’ travel outdated – modern behaviour 
more about multiple trips and multiple destinations and so 
active travel responses need to accommodate this.    

Commitments to ‘greening’ travel could go further and 
promote the ‘greenest County and greenest commute’. 

Review and consider building in Sustrans Bike Life principles - 
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/bike-life/ to help promote cycling.  

PLACES: Something for 
everyone in a vibrant, 
green County   

Recognising the wealth of natural beauty, heritage/tourism 
assets, diversity and rich cultural base in the County, aim to 
achieve Tourism Zone status to increase value of tourism 
industry and address impacts of seasonality   

Existing growth plans highlight opportunity to create a Central 
Gloucestershire City Region and exemplar Garden Towns with a 
vibrant urban offering and well managed natural environment   

Potential of Gloucester to become established as one of the 
Country’s leading small cities and a magnet for young people, 
including support for the Gloucester City of Culture Bid 2025   

Work with the Health and Wellbeing Board to tackle health 
inequalities and social mobility challenges through ‘inclusive 
growth’, including ‘Active by Design’ principles  

Explore with relevant partners the potential economic 
development opportunities associated with the Great Western 

Whilst the Cotswolds AONB is correctly stated as the largest 
in the UK, there are two others in the County which should be 
acknowledged both in the text and on the maps.  

Add data regarding use of Cheltenham Rail Station for the 
National Hunt Festival by 65,000 people annually which 
equates to 130,000 actual rail journeys. 

No reference to relationship with Wales – oversight ? M4 
collaboration needs to also reference emerging Western 
Powerhouse collaboration. 

Section on tourism assets highlights the Cotswold AONB, but 
should also acknowledge Wye Valley and Malvern Hills 
AONBs.  

Ref to status of the Forest of Dean and fact that 95% of the 
population ‘still’ live in a rural environment’. Surely, this is a 
choice not a disadvantage – suggest rewording. 

P
age 170

https://www.sustrans.org.uk/bike-life/


 

9 
 

Powerhouse  Review references to ‘keeping Gloucestershire 95% building 
free’ being at odds with an aspirational ‘growth’ document – 
suggest adjustment.     

Inclusive growth – needs to be more fundamental than purely 
a health initiative – suggest review. 

Check coherence of this section as the aspiration for ‘Place’ is 
not clear. In support, would suggest moving section on 
inclusive growth and social mobility into ‘People’ foundation, 
leaving ‘Place’ to focus more directly on the role of anchor 
institutions as a further ‘asset’ to build upon alongside tourism, 
culture, City Region etc.        

General Observations 

• Evidence/understanding of the demographics of the full spectrum of the wider employment base, not just young and old workers 
• Maps – check rail journey times and station data; location of sub regional centres such as Birmingham, alignment of M5 routing and omission of   

Cardiff; add Wye Valley and Malvern AONBs; need for greater diversity in the photo images used 
• Proofing/qualifying of the ambitious statements in the LIS Executive Summary – able to deliver?  
• Executive Summary – ref to UK Commission for Employment and Skills Paper statistic not clear (p16); Health and Well Being Strategy is incorrectly 

referenced and should refer to the Director of Public Health Annual Report 18/19 (p17); refs to ‘health community partners’ would read better as 
‘health, care and public sector partners’   

  

P
age 171



1 

Consultation response to Local Enterprise Partnership on the 
draft Gloucestershire Industrial Strategy (LIS) 

Prior to submitting this draft Cabinet report for Statutory Officer sign-off, please ensure that the 
following has been done: 

Please put a cross in each box to confirm  
(to do this, double click on each box, click on ‘Checked’ and then ‘OK’). 

Advice from Legal Services, Finance, Comms, HR and Commercial (as 
appropriate) has been sought in relation to the content of this draft report. 

Please give the name of the person who has advised you on the content of 
this report, in the following areas: 

Support 
Service 

Name of the person in support services who has 
provided input to this report in the following areas: 

Legal services: Gillian Parkinson 

Finance: Kaye Turner 

Communications 
team 

David Hughes 

HR: N/A 

Commercial: Lisa James 

The draft report has been agreed with relevant Director 

The relevant Cabinet Member has been briefed on this forthcoming decision 

The item has: 

No Comms plan or communications issues briefing sheet required 

Any reports submitted without the information above completed will be returned to the report 
author. 

Page 172



2 

Consultation response to Local Enterprise Partnership on 
the draft Gloucestershire Industrial Strategy (LIS) 

AGENDA NO: 

Cabinet Date 13th November 2019 

Economy, 
Education and 
Skills 
Environment and 
Planning 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux and 
Cllr Nigel Moor 

Key Decision No 

Background 
Documents 

Draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy 
Table outlining LIS core content and feedback comments from GCC 
departments 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents 

https://www.gfirstlep.com/industrial-strategy/  

Appendix1 – Core Content and GCC Officer Consultation Feedback  

Appendix 2 and 2a – GCC Officer Response to LEP Consultation Questions 

Main Consultees Senior Officers, Corporate Management Team, Cabinet Members. 

Planned Dates Consultation on first Draft Gloucestershire LIS 19th September 2019 to 31st 
October 2019 

Member/Chief Officer liaison – SCIMB 14th October, COMT 17th October and 
Cabinet COMT 28th October. GEGJC 20th November    

Publication of the final Gloucestershire LIS by March 2020 

Divisional 
Councillor 

All 

Officer Claire Edwards 
Team Leader - Economic Growth and Strategic Planning 
Tel:  01452 328303 
Email: claire.edwards@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To inform Cabinet of the consultation process for the draft Gloucestershire 
Local Industrial Strategy and seek endorsement of the recommended GCC 
response.  

Recommendations 
That the Cabinet approve the submission of the proposed formal GCC 
consultation response to GFirst LEP to help shape the final LIS version. 

Reasons for 
recommendations 

The Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy is a key document that will 
support future economic growth opportunities for the County. Although not a 
bidding document, the LIS will be seen as the blueprint for potential future 

Page 173

https://www.gfirstlep.com/industrial-strategy/
mailto:claire.edwards@gloucestershire.gov.uk


3 

Government investment. The LIS is being co written by GFirst LEP and 
Government. However, it is important that the contents of the draft LIS has 
the full oversight and support of key stakeholders such as the County 
Council, as this will strengthen future discussions GFirst LEP have with 
Government on what is presented in the final version of the Strategy by 
March 2020.  

Resource 
Implications 

The resource provided by GCC staff from the Economic Growth and 
Planning, Performance and Change teams are funded from within existing 
revenue budgets. There are no additional financial implications to this report 

Page 174



4 

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS 

1. Background

1.1 As part of its modern Industrial Strategy, the government aims to agree Local
Industrial Strategies (LISs) with all parts of England by March 2020. LISs will guide
future action and investment, locally and nationally, to improve productivity. They are
not bidding documents or project pipelines. They will be agreed with Mayoral Combined
Authorities where relevant, and Local Enterprise Partnerships everywhere else.
Gloucestershire is in the final wave (Wave 3) of LEPs working with government on their
LISs, with a March 2020 target for publication. LISs for the West Midlands, Greater
Manchester, the West of England, Oxfordshire, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough,
Buckinghamshire and South East Midlands (the Oxford-Cambridge Arc LEPs) have
been published to date.

2. Key Points

2.1 The drafting of the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) process began in 2018 with two
meetings of a LIS ‘Vision Group’ comprising a range of stakeholders from the public,
private and third sector in Gloucestershire and two LEP Board strategy away days.

2.2 There was an open call for evidence March to May 2019 with over 270 pieces of
evidence, both quantitative and qualitative, building a rich picture of the county’s
strengths and weaknesses and the views of various stakeholders.

2.3 Supported by a small officer working group, including GCC staff from the Economic
Growth and Planning, Performance and Change teams, an Evidence Baseline report
was commissioned, bringing together the latest statistical data available under the 5
foundations of productivity (Ideas, People, Business Environment, Infrastructure and
Places). GCC staff also guided the LEP in cross referencing to relevant strategic
documents, such as the Gloucestershire Vision 2050, Council Strategy ‘Looking to the
Future’, the Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (emerging draft), Fastershire
Broadband Strategy, Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, JCS and the Sustainable
Energy Strategy.

2.4 An extensive youth engagement programme was commissioned; with over 5000
survey responses gathered from young people aged 14-25.

2.5 Further engagement with Gloucestershire’s local authorities, the Gloucestershire
Strategic Planning Coordinator, Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust and local Nature
Partnership, officials across public sector bodies representing transport, health and
well-being together with the LEP Business Groups including a dedicated LIS meeting of
the Cyber Business Group also took place over the summer.

2.6 Based on all the evidence and intelligence gathered, a draft LIS has been produced
which was launched along with a set of consultation questions at the LEP Annual
Review on 19th September.

Page 175



5 

2.7 In its final published form (anticipated March 2020), whilst not a bidding document 
per se, the strategy will serve as an important reference framework to guide future 
priorities for investment and resource planning. It is vital therefore that, along with a 
level of ambition, there are also adequate investment ‘hooks’ in the document to 
support the emerging economic growth agenda, as it unfolds over the next ten years. 
This has to be balanced with Government expectations of producing a concise, focused 
and meaningful plan.       

2.8 As a result, each LIS follows a format prescribed by Government as ‘co authors’, to 
ensure alignment to the National Industrial Strategy’s four Grand Challenges: 

• Artificial Intelligence and Data
• Ageing Population
• Clean Growth
• Intelligent Mobility

2.9 These are identified as areas that can 

• Put the UK at the forefront of the artificial intelligence and data revolution
• Maximise the advantages for UK industry from the global shift to clean growth
• Become a world leader in shaping the future of mobility; and
• Harness the power of innovation to help meet the needs of an aging society

2.10 In addition each LIS is required to form around the “five foundations of 
productivity” 

• Ideas
• People
• Infrastructure
• Business Environment
• Places

2.11 The key aims of the LIS are to increase productivity and realise potential whilst 
also allowing all communities to contribute to and benefit from enhanced economic 
prosperity. The final strategy must also be supported by robust and open evidence; be 
aligned to the National Industrial Strategy; focus on opportunities and challenges and 
be produced in collaboration with public and private stakeholders. 

3. Consultation Process

3.1 In Gloucestershire’s case, the key priorities within the Gloucestershire draft LIS are:

• Cyber-tech
• Digital
• Green
• Agri-tech
• Advanced Manufacturing
• A Central Gloucestershire City Region

Page 176



6 

• Flexible working

3.2 A strong inclusive growth theme also needs to cross-cut the strategy to ensure that 
all communities within the county have access to the opportunities that the LIS will 
create. 

3.3 The open consultation closed on 31 October 2019. Drop-in sessions were held in 
Growth Hubs, with bookable slots, to discuss the strategy with the LEP. All of the LEP’s 
Business Groups will meet to discuss and give their feedback on the draft LIS between 
September and November and there will be opportunities for key stakeholders to 
engage further in the process. 

3.4 Dialogue with government will also take place based on the draft LIS, helping to 
shape/develop it further, agreeing priorities and areas of activity, working towards a 
jointly agreed final document by March 2020. 

3.5 The consultation process invites respondents to consider a number of key 
consultation questions to be answered via the GFirst LEP website. General 
observations and minor additions, where relevant, will also be well received.  

3.6 In parallel, work will continue on strengthening the baseline, duly recognising that 
there are acknowledged data gaps and improved linkages to the strategy narrative, still 
required. GCC officers will remain part of this exercise, working alongside the LEP team 
to help develop/proof the final version of the LIS document.   

4. Summary of the Contents of the Draft LIS

4.1 The Draft LIS follows a prescribed format but the key focus for Gloucestershire’s
LIS is outlined below:

Main Focus 

• Upskilling to keep pace with technological change
• Positioning the County to maximise economic opportunities through the digital

revolution, fighting climate change, protecting nature and future proofing
development of new communities/provision of infrastructure

• Attraction/retention of young people
• Exploiting opportunities in key/emerging growth sectors – advanced engineering

and cyber/agri/green tech

4.2 The document also acknowledges a number of the key strengths and challenges in 
the County as follows: 

Key Strengths 

• Pivotal geographical location, well connected
• Attractive natural environment

Page 177



7 

• ‘Innovation active’(national measure of high levels of business R & D and number of people working in R & D
roles)

• Diversity

Key Weaknesses/Challenges 
• Aging population/workforce development challenge
• Need for young talent challenge
• Weaker trends in business growth/productivity
• Inclusivity and social mobility challenges

4.3 There then follows a section on “Seizing Opportunities” and a focus on two main 
areas of considered strength in the County, Cyber Tech and Green Gloucestershire. 

4.4 The LIS continues by setting out its main aims under each of the five foundations, 
linked to the National Strategy’s Grand Challenges of Artificial Intelligence and Data; 
Ageing Population; Clean Growth and Intelligent Mobility. 

5. GCC Feedback

5.1 The full draft LIS is currently out for consultation, following its launch at the LEP
Annual Review Event on the 19th September, with a closing date for general feedback
on 31st October 2019. However, GFirst are aware that the GCC response will be a little
later than this date in order to facilitate discussion at Cabinet.

5.2 In order to seek approval from Cabinet Members on a collective GCC response to
the Gloucestershire LIS, Heads of Departments were asked to feedback to the
Communities and Infrastructure team by the end of September, ahead of the
consultation closing date, in order to provide GFirst LEP with a single collective GCC
response to the consultation.

5.3 Accordingly, attached as Appendix 1 is an outline of the core content of the LIS,
together with feedback/ comments received from GCC officers used to help shape the
proposed formal GCC consultation response back to GFirst.

5.4 Feedback was received from the following departments - Communities and
Infrastructure (including Transport Planning, Strategic Planning and Minerals and
Waste), Public Health, Adult Social Care (Disability Employment) and the Planning,
Performance and Change team.

5.6 In addition and attached as Appendix 2 is the LEP issued pro-forma featuring key
consultation questions populated with a summary of the feedback received from GCC
departments, plus a number of technical observations.

5.7 Our key responses are focused on:

- Skills – ensuring we have a workforce that can support our future growth
- Social Mobility and Inclusive Growth - to ensure that everyone in the county has

the opportunity to contribute to and benefit from a thriving economy

Page 178



8 

- Clean Growth –managing future transport demand to enable the economy to
grow (without congestion) to meet the emerging obligations associated with
climate emergency. Engaging with Districts to support green construction
methods for future housing needs. Support for innovative businesses producing
green products and services that are already evident in the County and the
ability to expand these businesses

- Connectivity – continued support for enhancing our digital connectivity across
the County through the Fastershire programme. Ensuring we are a fully mobile
and connected county, in particular in our rural areas where we will have
extensive fibre and the capability to develop future Mobility As A Service (MaaS)
and a responsive transport solution.

- Magnet County – ensuring we have affordable homes, jobs and opportunities to
attract nurture and retain young people.

Further updates resulting in a final draft Local Industrial Strategy will be made available 
by the LEP towards the end of the year and following detailed dialogue with 
Government. 

5.8 It is requested that Members consider the consultation feedback and endorse the 
proposed formal GCC response. 

6. Options

6.1 Option 1 – GCC does not respond to the Glos LIS Consultation

With such a wide field of content within the LIS which impacts on the way the Council
carries out its business and supports the citizens of Gloucestershire, it would be
unfeasible not to respond to the consultation on the first draft of the LIS.

6.2 Option 2 – GCC department consultation responses are sent individually

Some departments will respond separately to specific areas of the LIS, one example
being Adult Education which has a Foundation Lead working directly with GFirst LEP,
plus a mandate to facilitate discussion through the Gloucestershire Employment and
Skills Board who will submit a direct response. In addition, it is understood that the
Health and Wellbeing Board are also likely to respond direct. However, GCC
departments interested in the Infrastructure Foundation could be better represented by
submitting a combined response to the LIS.

6.3 Option 3 – GCC sends a co-ordinated and collective response to the Glos LIS
Consultation

An endorsed collective response which reflects a wide section of GCC departments and
functions will be more fully representative and provide clear and concise feedback to
the first draft, more readily digested by GFirst LEP.  As such, it will carry greater weight
and is more likely to influence the final LIS.

     It is recommended that Cabinet pursue Option 3 

Page 179



9 

7. Risk Assessment

7.1 There is very little risk in providing the collective response which it is hoped will
provide greater emphasis to the final version of the LIS whilst also being of assistance
in the LEPs ongoing negotiations with Government.

8. Officer Advice

8.1That Cabinet pursue option 3 and note and approve the core content of the GCC
consultation feedback on the Glos LIS and recommend it be sent to GFirst LEP.

8.2 Note that this report provides captured feedback on the consultation of the draft LIS
from GCC departments only and not the full range of and final consultation responses
received by GFirst LEP.

9. Equalities considerations

9.1 The County Council’s response makes specific comments about the need for more
recognition of the diversity of the workforce to ensure that the LIS is fully inclusive and
ensures that the productivity of the County is strengthened and associated
opportunities benefitted by all its residents, as the ethos of the National LIS states:

“We need to ensure that everyone, no matter what their background or level of skill, has
an opportunity to enter into and progress at work and through the education and
training system. Barriers that prevent under-represented groups from realising their full
potential need to be broken down”

-People section: National Industrial Strategy

Ultimately it will be for Government and GFirst LEP to demonstrate its consideration of 
their duties under the Equalities Act 2010, within the overall strategy, before adoption. 
However, the County Council’s response emphasises these obligations to GFirst to 
enable them to consider any further changes necessary to advance equality of 
opportunity and comply with the overarching equality duties. 

10. Performance Management/Follow-up

10.1 As the body responsible for the full consultation, it is anticipated that GFirst LEP
will be providing further feedback on the outcome of the consultation process at a later
date. One of the first opportunities for this will be at the Gloucestershire Economic
Growth Joint Committee on 20th November.

10.2 GCC officers will remain on the GFirst Task and Finish Groups throughout the
drafting of the final version to be published by March 2020. GFirst are also working on
an Investment Plan to complement the Strategy and GCC officers will continue to
collaborate and help shape this next phase of work, as appropriate, to ensure the
Strategy has clear purpose and a strong and effective outcome.

Page 180



10 

Report Title Consultation response to the Local Enterprise Partnership on 
the draft Gloucestershire Industrial Strategy (LIS) 

Statutory Authority 

Relevant County Council 
policy 

Alignment with the Council Strategy ‘Looking to the Future’ 

Sustainability checklist: 

Partnerships GFirst LEP, Government, Business and VCS Groups 

Decision Making and 
Involvement 

GFirst LEP, Government, Gloucestershire’s local authorities, 
the Gloucestershire Strategic Planning Coordinator, 
Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust and Local Nature Partnership, 
officials across public sector bodies representing transport, 
health and well-being, Business Groups including  the Cyber 
Business Group and other specialist sector forums 

Economy and Employment A range of policy and planned interventions feature in the 
emerging strategy 

Caring for people A range of policy and planned interventions feature in the 
emerging strategy 

Social Value Core objective of the strategy 

Built Environment A range of policy and planned interventions feature in the 
emerging strategy 

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity) 

A range of policy and planned interventions feature in the 
emerging strategy 

Education and Information A range of policy and planned interventions feature in the 
emerging strategy 

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications?  Positive interventions 
planned within the strategy 
Vulnerable to climate change? Part of the planned wider 
partnership policy response 

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?  No 
The Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy is a document 
that will support future economic growth opportunities for the 
County which will be implemented through the GFirst Local 
Enterprise Partnership. The strategy follows a Government 

Page 181



11 

prescribed format and consistent with the National Industrial 
Strategy, is required to focus on effort to increase business 
productivity. Of relevance to the Public Sector Equality Duty 
however is the secondary objective of the strategy which is one 
of ‘inclusive growth and enabling all communities to contribute 
to and benefit from the enhanced economic prosperity enabled 
through the strategy.  
However, GCC is not responsible for preparing or delivering 
the strategy directly, but aims to be an active public sector 
contributor to the efforts of the wider partnership. In this respect 
the Council will be an advocate (rather than a key service 
provider) for ensuring the ‘reach’ of the strategy, in equality 
terms, is as broad as possible.       

Human rights Implications None Identified 
Consultation 
Arrangements Once the draft consultation feedback has been sent to GFirst 

LEP, officers will continue to consult with GCC associates 
through regular and planned meetings to ensure emerging 
views and new evidence is fed back to the LEP, to be taken 
into account to support the final version of the Gloucestershire 
LIS, due for publication by March 2020. 

Page 182



CBC comments  1 11/11/2019 

Name: 
Tracey Crews – Director of Planning 

Organisation: 
Cheltenham Borough Council 

Date: 
31st October 2019 

page Comment 
General In drafting this submission we have engaged with a range of partners, including Cheltenham 

Development TaskForce, Cheltenham Bid, Cheltenham Festivals, Cheltenham Chamber of 
Commerce and the Cheltenham Culture Board.  We have encouraged these partners to submit 
representations as part of this consultation process. A member seminar took place 23rd October to 
gain wider members views on the draft LIS and informal engagement has taken place with lead 
Cabinet Portfolio holder.  Comments arising have been incorporated into those set out below. 

Good to see most of the comments presented as CBC response to questions for consideration have 
been picked up.  The points below are provided to reinforce and draw out further the LIS 
outcomes. 

It’s great to see cyber-tech so prominent, plus the focus on climate change and young people.  
These are presented clearly and are very much priorities for CBC.  However, the LIS when read as a 
whole has too many wants / needs / requests and consequently loses focus on its priorities.  We 
consider that the LIS would benefit from having a tighter focus on a handful of key issues such as 
attracting retaining young people and inclusive growth and ensuring then that the focus is not 
dissipated 

In CBC’s previous submission we asked the LIS team look to other successful urban areas to reflect 
on lessons learnt and apply this to local case studies.  We need to reflect on business specific and 
sector specific case studies. Cannot see that this has been drawn into the current draft. 

Retail, culture and creative industries seems to be a missing through the draft LIS. Through our 
internal consultation with the Cheltenham Culture Board, there is support for the LIS placing a high 
priority on attracting and retaining young people, but their view is that culture and creativity, both 
in terms of adding vibrancy to local areas and in terms of career choices are really important and 
should be more prominent. 

Is there a clear enough ambition around what Gloucestershire can offer/achieve on a national and 
world stage? Magnet county is great, but could be seen as inward looking, particularly when we are 
engaging with Western Powerhouse in the South West region and the wider Midlands through our 
work with Midlands Connect. Is there something more to be said for what the county offers to UK 
plc/internationally – particularly around cyber? 

4 Recognition of levels of deprivation is important.  To note, 2019 deprivation data has now been 
released.  Highlighted wards for Cheltenham are identified in the attached summary.  We still have 
some significant deprivation issues against which the LIS outcomes could play a pivotal role in 
proactively creating opportunities. 

Indices of 
deprivation 2019 v2.x 

7 “well deserved strong reputation for highly innovative business”.  Cyber Central will be working to 
drive an international reputation.  Would prefer to see more ambitious language used to position 
Gloucestershire within this context. 

Page 183



CBC comments  2 11/11/2019 

8 People – Agree that focus needs to be on young people, but how do we capture experience and life 
skills that can support this working age population, recognising the skills of our ageing population.  

This would be a helpful place to articulate inclusive growth that benefits all our people.  It would be 
helpful to give it more prominence in this section.   

10 Emphasis needs to be made on connectivity both within transport modes and across modes.  To 
make behavioural change we need sustainable and affordable transport connecting homes to work 
places.  Delivery of a mass transit system between Cheltenham and Gloucester will be the game 
changer in connectivity and reinforcing the city region both in terms of physical connectivity but 
opportunities to access jobs, housing and services for Gloucestershire. 

Would be helpful to reinforce the need to be flexible in order to capitalise on technological 
advances which are combining to offer both new forms of transportation as well as radically 
changing the way services are delivered and accessed. 

10 Increase the supply and tenure of housing in the county 
11 2025 City of Culture bid – surely the impact of the bid needs to extend beyond the City?  How can 

the bid be used to further develop the city region?  Feels like a missed opportunity. 
11 Can we have an image that shows the high quality public realm implemented outside John Lewis 

and make reference to high quality public realm as a stimulus for investment in the ‘what we need’ 
section. 

11 Mention of working with health partners to deliver inclusive growth – why just health partners? 
12 This list is helpful in representing what it will feel like to be part of the business community in 

Gloucestershire and a resident, but where is reference to be an attractor for new investment? 

Given LIS covers tourism, mention of the visitor economy would be helpful to add to the bullet 
points 

13 Ditto above, the introduction also needs to reach out to those businesses not present in 
Gloucestershire and the opportunity for inward investment. 

15 Missing reference to Gloucestershire Airport in first paragraph, include reference to rail links. 
15 Paragraph referencing tourism sector, would be worth highlighting nationally and internationally 

renowned festivals. 
16 Ageing population - Worth adding in here the short term practicalities for employers who are 

managing an ageing profile and loss of decades of experience, with not enough young people 
naturally attracted to some key sectors e.g. engineering.  Link here to connecting skills agenda to 
Gloucestershire sector profile. Skills shortages are acting as a barrier to business at both the end of 
high skills and elementary skills. 

16 Recent Business and Place Survey also identified transport connectivity as a barrier 
18 Varying performances – would be helpful to highlight Cheltenham here and the district enabling, 

through direct intervention, stimulation of the cyber sector and a repositioning of this sector for 
Gloucestershire as a whole. 

15 - 18 A magnet county will only be achieved if the right infrastructure is in place, worth here reflecting 
on key Infrastructure enablers – Growth deal 3, M5 junction 10, A417 etc. 

18 Positive that this recognises inclusivity and social mobility challenges. 
20 Skills challenge – Cheltenham Business and Place survey also flagged up lack of work ready 

candidates together with challenges in elementary skills.  Skills agenda needs to pick up lower skills 
as well as higher end skills if we are committed to an inclusive growth agenda 

21 Map is challenging to read.  Suggest simplifying. 
22 Support phraseology of cyber-tech. 
24 Agree with the wider ripple effects arising from cyber, but this also flows into wider support 

sectors e.g legal, HR, finance, all strong sectors in Cheltenham, so adding strength to the platform 

Page 184



CBC comments  3 11/11/2019 

for stimulating cyber as a growth sector.  It would be helpful if these wider sectors could be 
referenced. 

25 Worth referencing Strength in Places bid? 
27 Second bullet point – would be worth expanding the ambition here so places ambition for Cyber 

Central to be of international recognition  within cyber ecosystem outside UK 

Third bullet point – also recognising potential for inward investment into wider support services 
e.g. legal, HR, finance etc.

28 Create the offer for Cheltenham and wider county as the safest place to do business.  Make link to 
magnet county 

28 Cyber-tech wants: also include support to enable all secondary schools to be able to provide high 
quality IT and computer science teaching at GCSE and A Levels. 

Could include - ensure that cyber-tech delivers inclusive growth by doing what we can to ensure 
that local residents are able to access jobs and wider opportunities through improving skill levels, 
supporting people to progress into work and making jobs accessible, both in terms of where new 
jobs are located and the costs of and ability to use public transport to get to those jobs. 

30 Second paragraph – reference should be made here to focus on sustainable transport options, 
including investigation of mass transit between Cheltenham and Gloucester, improved patronage 
by rail for short and longer trips.  Emphasis on need for modal shift.  Cheltenham has prepared a 
transport strategy for the borough ‘Connecting Cheltenham’ that set s out the commitment to 
increasing modal shift. 

30 This section needs to reference award of Garden Community Status: 
• Diverse living options – varied affordable and flexible tenancies with the first 1000 homes being
delivered by CBC
• Connected – an accessible development that is physically, digitally and culturally integrated
• A 24/7 campus – a dynamic community that integrates a diverse mixture of uses and people
• Inclusive – a transformational development that creates strong communities
• Healthy – a green and biodiverse development that encourages physical and mental well-being
• Environmentally innovative – an ecologically friendly development that is restorative to its
natural surroundings
• A smart ecosystem – a connected community that is digitally, environmentally and socially
intelligent
• Intense & tranquil – a vibrant and thriving community within a unique landscape setting
• A world class campus – a collaborative community that brings together leading cyber businesses
and innovators alongside academic facilities dedicated to cyber and digital technologies.

30 Last bullet point – benefits to wider community from Cyber Central Garden Community needs to 
be more that raising aspirations about careers in cyber tech, needs to read to wider regeneration 
challenge, including relieving traffic congestion, improving quality of life, improved connectivity to 
spaces, people and services. 

31 Not convinced by the sub heading “the greenest place”, more helpful in light of councils signing up 
to climate change emergency to reference sustainability. 

32 Second set of bullets, first bullet point – this needs to be set within wider growth context 
33 This should read ‘garden towns and communities.  Second bullet point should read, Cheltenham at 

the Cyber Central Garden Community 

Not convinced ‘green’ is required in heading Affordable, sustainable ‘green’ housing. 

Second paragraph under Affordable, sustainable ‘green’ housing should reference modal shift 

Fourth paragraph under Affordable, sustainable ‘green’ housing, replace village with community 

Page 185



CBC comments  4 11/11/2019 

34 Natural capital – would be worth introducing here need to address urban heat islands, as 
temperatures rise and the corresponding negative impact on health we need to come up with 
innovative solutions – urban cooling with tress, green roads, design of buildings  and fewer cars. 

36 Suggest adding action to work with local planning authorities in developing positive policies and 
where appropriate allocation of land for the delivery of renewables. 

37 Suggest adding developing a Gloucestershire response to urban cooling. 
38 Suggest including investigating county options around carbon offsetting. 

Include reference to Cyber Central garden Community and sustainability principles to be driven 
through this development. 

Include reference to smart city principles and initiatives and how this can be applied across 
Gloucestershire.  A research piece may be valuable to look at practical application for 
Gloucestershire. 

Fourth bullet point.  This should include lobbying of government, without changes to building 
regulations a green planning framework will be toothless.  Through the JCS we sought to push the 
boundaries of policies on sustainability, all were removed through the examination process due to 
the inability of the JCS councils as local planning authorities to be able to adequately enforce. 

Ninth bullet point.  Support expansion of electric vehicle charging, but this needs to be linked to 
modal shift and shifting the reliance on the private car through the support of active travel.  
Connecting Cheltenham report is helping set the agenda for this locally, this needs to flow through 
to the Gloucestershire local transport plan review. 

CBC debated what a carbon neutral Cheltenham could look like on 14 October, supporting papers 
for this debate are available via the following link 
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=3006&Ver=4  Other 
Councils of Gloucestershire have equally responded to the climate change emergency and in light 
of this the LIS is well positioned to work proactively within the challenge set and should be 
focussed on deliverable outcomes. CBC resolved unanimously the following at the 14th October 
council meeting; 

Council considers the ‘Carbon Neutral Cheltenham – Leadership through Stewardship’ report and 
associated roadmap and recommends that Cabinet: 

1. Considers and endorses the findings of the ‘Carbon Neutral Cheltenham – Leadership
through Stewardship’ report and its associated roadmap;

2. Writes to the relevant Secretary of State, setting out the Council’s climate concerns,
ambition and roadmap to take action, formally requesting Government to provide the
planning powers, guidance and resources to local government to make the 2030 target
feasible;

3. Subject to available resources, considers setting a challenging interim community-wide
target for achieving a reduction in borough-wide carbon emissions by 2025, to provide a
clear signal of the scale of the local ambition to take effective action;

4. Considers, prioritises and identifies the resources needed to deliver the actions required to
meet the 2030 carbon neutrality targets;

Page 186

https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=3006&Ver=4


CBC comments  5 11/11/2019 

5. Develops an annual reporting process to effectively track progress;

6. Delegates authority to the Executive Director People & Change and the Director of
Environment, to develop the roadmap into a realistic action plan for project delivery, with
appropriate business case development taking account of the impact on the Council’s
financial position.

53 Cheltenham has a recent business and place survey that can be used to add local flavour to the 
headline statistics.  Report available to view here 
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/download/1746/cheltenham_business_and_place_su
rvey 

53 In a Brexit world how is the LIS addressing access to staff from abroad? Research is needed on the 
implications on Brexit for Gloucestershire and access to wider international skills.  Access to staff is 
cross cutting across technical sectors and the agricultural economy. 

55 Flexible working – this could be more strongly linked to the ‘Green’ section of this report 
56 Local capabilities and assets - Cheltenham and place survey can be used to add local flavour to this 

section. 
58 People needs: good to see recognition of long term unemployment 
66 We want innovative and connected transport solutions and digital connectivity. 

We need to think about the whole transport offer with more innovative solutions around mass 
transit, infrastructure that will bring real change to modal shift and interchange that is not the sole 
focus on the private car.  This will mean a rethink of how we share road space / consider offline 
solutions to create capacity for walking, cycling and public transport. 

67 Gloucestershire Airport should be included on this map and recognised more strongly as a (future) 
strategic transport hub  

68 Alongside vehicle charging the LIS should also reference the opportunity derived from 
ebikes/escooters and how these fit into rounded strategy for transport. 

68 Local transport policy – make reference to Connecting Cheltenham 
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/download/1747/connecting_cheltenham 

68 Change reference to garden village to read garden community. 
69 Change reference to garden village to read garden community.  

Would be helpful to flag up infrastructure that provides for direct and quicker speeds for cycling.  
Facilities for commuter cyclists are different to those for recreational cyclists.  Ebikes are increasing 
the speed of cycling, The propensity to cycle in Cheltenham is high, but step change can only be 
delivered by having the right infrastructure. 

70 References to housing, also needs to pick up on the right mix of tenure choices. 
70 - 72 This would probably be a helpful place to pick up on the changing nature of town centres and the 

opportunities this brings around bringing employment uses into the heart of high streets, 
connectivity with wider uses and transport. 

70 Gloucestershire strategic planning work should be referenced in this section. 
71 Support smart charging, but need to make sure this is within context of encouraging modal shift. 
72 Should vertical flight technologies be referenced here and how Gloucestershire Airport could be 

well placed to capitalise on this? 
79 Again, this may be a place to also flag up the changing nature of town centres and the 

opportunities this brings. 

Stats for JCS area for retail coming out of the emerging JCS retail review are below (note these are 
not in a published report as yet), Cheltenham is holding its own on retail, well below national 
average for vacancies. 

Page 187

https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/downloads/download/1747/connecting_cheltenham


CBC comments  6 11/11/2019 

Retail is a core sector, but isn’t represented within the LIS.  Please draw out either here or 
elsewhere.  Also missing culture in its wider context and creative industries. 

Cheltenham  
Increase in convenience goods turnover from £20.6m in 2015 to £29.9m in 2019 
Decrease in comparison goods turnover from £483m in 2015 to £436m in 2019 
Loss of market share in clothing/fashion, health/beauty, furnishings and recreation goods 
Sustained fall in vacancies since 2010.  Vacant units now comprise 8% of all retail units below the 
national average of 12% 

Gloucester 
17% of units vacant in the city centre 
Continued loss of market share to surrounding centres and the internet.   
Fall in comparison goods turnover from £319m in 2015 to £269m in 2019 

Tewkesbury 
Continued rise in vacancy levels.  In 2019, 17% of al units in the centre now vacant  
Falls in the amount of convenience and comparison retail businesses 
Falls in convenience and comparison turnover levels.  Comparison turnover has fallen from £25m in 
2015 to £19m in 2019. 

General trends 
Weaker growth in convenience and comparison goods spending. 
Convenience expenditure unlikely to grow in the short to medium term 
Lower comparison goods expenditure growth than estimated in the 2015 JCS Retail Study will 
affect future capacity levels 
Comparison goods retailers now concentrating on just the larger town and city centres which will 
hit Cheltenham Gloucester and Tewkesbury particular the latter two centres 
Town centres experiencing an over-supply of space, recognised by the Government who are now 
promoting a much more diverse set of land uses in centres 

The section/page on Tourism is in the context of place – therefore gives spatial/geographical 
context to the sector. However, given that tourism/visitor economy is not referred to in economic 
terms (in earlier sections), it means its economic value but also its importance as a foundation of 
‘place’ and quality of life etc is underplayed. 

Culture could/should also be included more prominently – perhaps in this section, similarly as a 
major contributor to creating a distinctive sense of place where people and business want to be. 

Might also have expected to see more calls for greater collaboration across the county 
(arts/cultural organisations – shared learning, more collaborative programming – similar initiatives 
are emerging between Bristol and Bath for example). 

Little surprised to see no mention of the government’s Protected Landscapes Review and the 
potential consequences/risks/opportunities linked to AONBs (and therefore Cotswolds) gaining 
greater status/re-designation as a National Landscape. This could play into the Tourism Zone status 
ambition (below). 

80 Support for definition of Central Gloucestershire City Region, however this section is too 
Gloucester orientated, this section needs to better articulate the combined benefits and ambitions 
of Cheltenham and Gloucester, recognising the Tewkesbury envelope within which both areas sit.  
The Central Gloucestershire City Region cannot just be a driver for the regeneration of Gloucester.  

Page 188



CBC comments  7 11/11/2019 

Cheltenham needs a rebalance of younger people; it has a thriving festival calendar with 
internationally recognised festivals.  There is significant benefit to the definition of place for 
Gloucestershire by looking across the collective benefits these 2 urban areas bring, being 
complimentary in their outcomes.  This section doesn’t match up with cyber central references. 

81 See earlier comment made at page 4.  Reference to 2019 deprivation data would be helpful here. 
81 & 83 Inclusive growth and social mobility – good to see a section on this; to deliver inclusive growth they 

will need to work with a wider partnership than just health partners; skills, education, housing, 
district councils for instance. 

82 Second bullet point – as drafted gives the impression that protection is good, development is bad. 
Can understand the sentiment behind this, but if to be included needs to be better articulated. 

Fifth bullet point – surely its irrelevant on terminology of town/city – everything listed here is 
equally relevant to Cheltenham.  This needs to be removed or rewritten 

Sixth bullet point – appreciating bid for Gloucester, but surely LIS should be looking more 
strategically at the wider benefits of this to the county? 

The headline ambition to achieve Tourism Zone status is welcome, but the status in itself is purely 
a means to an end. What is the ambition for tourism in Gloucestershire more generally that sits 
beneath this? Lacks depth on this, which again, underplays the opportunity.   From listening to 
VisitBritain and DCMS, the Cotswolds (brand) is the critical ingredient in any potential successful 
Tourism Zone bid. However, the significance and international recognition/appeal of the Cotswolds 
brand is not that apparent. 

Page 189



Annex A 

Cotswold District Council comments on the draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial 
Strategy 

General points 

● The graphics and style are very good. It’s simple and easy to understand – a good
public facing document.

● Should the LIS identify a time-period that the strategy covers? This may be useful, as
it would aid measuring its success against what it wants to achieve within that period.

● The ambition to make Gloucestershire into a magnet for younger talent is completely
understood. Should the LIS also identify the potential that ‘non-younger’ people make
to the county’s economy and, if incorrectly addressed, the negative impact on the
economy that could result from their growing health care needs and increasing
dependency on the otherwise economically active population? Referencing this issue
would also build on the link between health and wellbeing and the county’s economic
productivity.

● In general, wherever green innovation is referred to, the draft LIS lists things that are
already being done or could be improved (e.g. the Ecotricity stadium). This results in
vague paragraphs like this on page 74:

The Council invites gfirst LEP to consider figures produced by DEFRA on CO2 
emissions by sector. It would be useful if the LIS could be more specific and explain 
how it will contribute towards becoming carbon neutral with reference to the 
measurable impact that its interventions will make. 

● The draft LIS also currently has very little actual strategy for retail / the high street /
town centres. This is particularly important given the issues that high streets face and
the support and direction they now need, as well as their importance for sustainable
living in terms of accessibility to key services and facilities. The LIS could help to
coordinate linking struggling or vulnerable retailers, or those wanting to start a
business, to the UK Digital Retail Innovation Centre in Gloucester and/or create a
similar ‘hive’ for retailers to the one that is proposed for the agri-tech sector (e.g. it
could help retailers adapt to internet shopping and digital innovations). Improvements
to tourism could also go hand-in-hand with supporting the county’s town centres.

● Further detail would be welcomed on the ‘What we need’ sections of the strategy. In
particular, it would be useful to include  specific targets that the strategy can aim to
achieve and also be measured against and detail about how those targets will be
delivered.

● Throughout the draft LIS, a goal is repeatedly stated that “Gloucestershire depends
upon adequate numbers of affordable housing to ensure young people are attracted

Page 190



Annex A 

Cotswold District Council comments on the draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial 
Strategy 

to and can afford to live in the county”. There is a significant difference between the 
term “affordable housing” and “housing that is affordable to young people”, which the 
Council believes the gfirst LEP are referring to. “Affordable housing” is a specific type 
of housing that is normally delivered through new housing developments – see the 
affordable housing definition in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(February 2019)). Affordable housing is essentially a discount on the market value of 
a house but even discounted housing can still be unaffordable to young people (e.g. 
20% off a four-bed house is still unaffordable to most young people). Furthermore, 
only a small portion of young people will actually qualify for true affordable housing. 

If the phrase “housing that is affordable for young people” is used instead, it takes 
into consideration building the right types, tenures and sizes of house that are 
needed to attract more young people (i.e. one and two bedroom homes). Suggest 
rephrasing this throughout the LIS. It’s also important to recognise the importance of 
building houses in right locations to attract young people – that is that young people 
will want to live close to things like bars, gyms, high quality green spaces, cafes, 
shops, good public transport (many don’t have access to a car), as well as other 
young people. It’s about creating a vibrant culture where young people will want to 
live. 

• Can the LIS be more explicit about how the future training and education needs of
future businesses, not just current ones, have been considered (i.e. digital, AI, big
data, de-centralised, analytical and creative)?

• Even greater emphasis on the benefits of natural capital, sustainable farming,
sustainable working etc. would be welcomed. Natural capital solutions have been
shown to be cheaper, more effective, less energy intensive and more sympathetic for
example up stream water management rather than 'hard engineering' solutions (see
GWT's natural capital mapping). This must also link with surrounding strategies.

• The phrase 'green growth' is used regularly. It would be useful to define exactly what
is meant by this.

• This article identifies some deeper issues to economic growth that should be
considered in the LIS: https://theecologist.org/2014/apr/14/green-growth-cannot-
make-sustainable-world There are different ways to measure success, for example
the happy city initiatives. The Council invites the LEP to give this approach further
consideration.

• Could the spatial positioning of Gloucestershire be improved (e.g. can the LIS identify
how Gloucestershire relates to large capital and strategic schemes such as The
Knowledge Arc (directly linked to Moreton via the rail link), the West Midlands
Engine, Welsh initiatives, even HS2 and etc. I.e., Gloucestershire should be the
melting pot of so much local and regional activity, and that poses challenges but also
opportunities to tap into those schemes and their funding.

Page 191

https://theecologist.org/2014/apr/14/green-growth-cannot-make-sustainable-world
https://theecologist.org/2014/apr/14/green-growth-cannot-make-sustainable-world


Annex A 

Cotswold District Council comments on the draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial 
Strategy 

• Until page 67, the focus is entirely on motorways, which conflicts with the ambition to
de-carbonise, increase productivity and reduce commuting requirements. Rail links
are great for business as workers have space and time to think and plan rather than
concentrating on traffic etc. See also page 57 which not only chops off the top of the
county, but again only maps motorways as being good for business.

• The LIS does not have a particular focus on wellbeing or on improving the lives of
Gloucestershire’s residents directly. The inference is still the old-fashioned metric of
economic prosperity probably increasing wellbeing, but we've seen that isn't the
case. Now we have whole countries (New Zealand) developing tools and
methodologies to gauge wellbeing and happiness, and this is leading to a different
focus and different priorities which are delivering what people really want and need.

• There is too much focus on tourism as an economic driver. Tourism needs intensive
management if harm is to be avoided (which is tricky in Cotswolds, with so many
entry points), but it is also a low-wage, low-opportunity, low-productivity industry.
Whilst tourism is an important aspect of the district’s local economy, the Council
wishes to see  diverse economic activity that is more self-sufficient and provides jobs
for local communities. The Council supports opportunities1 to enhance the tourism
offer especially where it will secure jobs, help the industry to tackle the climate
change emergency and address second home ownership and low and season
wages. We want the Cotswold economy to be more resilient, especially in light of
national and international events (Brexit, but also a greater focus on climate
breakdown could reduce air travel significantly).

• Please can the document reference the Government's 25 Year Environment Plan
with a bit more prominence?

Foreword 

The Council welcomes the prominence that is given to meeting the challenges of climate 
change and enhancing the natural environment in the foreword to the LIS, which are further 
emphasised at page 6 – “Green”. 

Specific comments 

● Page 15 – The definition of Magnet County includes the arts, culture, creativity… and
yet the rest of the document makes the typical industrial/economic comments and
doesn't seem to reinforce those skills.

● Page 19 – The Aerospace section talks only of companies in Tewkesbury. There are
several specialist aerospace nodes in Gloucestershire (e.g. Cotswold Airport in
Kemble, which specialised in refurbishing and dismantling plane). Suggested

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pm-announces-new-tourism-sector-deal 

Page 192



Annex A 

Cotswold District Council comments on the draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial 
Strategy 

rephrasing the paragraph to say “Large aerospace companies, such as GE Aviation 
and Safran Landing Systems in Tewkesbury Borough, which are able to draw…” 

● Linked to this, we would welcome clarity on how aspiration to have the aerospace
industry as a key pillar of Gloucestershire's economic future will link with the zero
carbon target. We recognise successes such as the first trials of electric VTOL
aircraft - Seraph - capable of delivering 3 people to locations suitable for small
helicopters with zero carbon fuel use, which is the type of industry we would support
in the Cotswolds. However, the Council would steer away from aerospace activities
and industries that require fossil fuels, or prop up such industries elsewhere (e.g.
making parts of planes that require fossil fuels).

● Page 20 – this paragraph is contradictory. It starts with the idea that we are facing an
emergency, and then immediately progresses into the standard ‘business as usual’
growth paradigm. This needs to be more closely linked to sustainable growth.

It may be useful to analyse school successes in different subjects, in particular those 
related to STEM, to better understand young people who attend universities and/or 
their first jobs. This could help to develop strategies to attract them back to 
Gloucestershire after university or their first jobs.  The county could benefit 
significantly from the education and experience these young people have gained 
elsewhere. 

● Page 20 (and numerous other occasions in the report) – please can all references of
STEM be changed to STEAM (Science, Technology, Economy, Arts and
Manufacturing)? Disciplines from the arts help creativity and problem-solving. This
should inform some refocusing throughout, whenever the document talks about
STEM and whether the comments need to be expanded in light of the added A
(STEM to STEAM).

● Page 21 (Map) – The Cotswolds look 'too blank'. Suggest adding the Fire Service
College, Campden BRI, Cotswold Business Village (Moreton-in-Marsh), Bourton-on-
the-Water Business Park, AONB Board HQ in Northleach, Duchy Home Farm,
Batsford Arboretum, the Growth Hub in Moreton Library as POIs or as relevant.
Cirencester College, Chipping Campden Sixth Form, Cotswold School Sixth Form
(Bourton-on-the-Water) should also be marked as FE centres. It would also be worth
including the National Star College at Ullenwood. It's important to the strategy and
future of Cotswold District to not be seen as 'just a landscape.'

Page 193



Annex A 

Cotswold District Council comments on the draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial 
Strategy 

● Page 31 and page 37 – The Council welcomes the LIS aspiration to become the
greatest place to live and work in England, including the aim to encourage
sustainable and energy efficient homes, reducing carbon emissions, enhancing the
quality of the natural environment etc. Page 38 taken as a whole is a good list of
aspirations. However, these are couched in terms of inexorable growth, and it really
falls down on ambition around renewable energy. For example, page 35 gives the
figure that we are 85% powered by fossil fuels but makes nothing more than a vague
commitment to 'support more in-county renewable energy generation.' With almost
95% non-urban land, fundamentally, there's no good reason why we couldn't be a net
exporter of renewable energy. The section on agri-tech could do with a more up-front
recognition of the role of agriculture in emissions, and therefore why it's important for
the focus of Gloucestershire agri-tech to be leading the drive towards net-zero
agriculture. It seems like an afterthought at the moment.

● Page 33 – The ambition to deliver sustainable housing that is affordable needs to go
beyond three identified housing development sites – this goal needs to be embedded
into the Local Plan and design policies for all new housing developments in
Gloucestershire.

● The Council is already taking action to underpin the review of the Local Plan with a
better understanding of and protection and enhancement of the District’s natural
capital and wishes to work with the LEP (and Local Nature Partnership) on this
important area.

● Page 38.  The addition of another bullet point  “+to enhance and create new walking
and cycling routes in the county in both urban and rural areas to increase non-car
commuting; deliver health benefits; to attract tourists and to aid in the retention and
recruitment of young people” is suggested.

● Page 54  It may be useful to analyse school successes in particular subjects, in
particular those related to STEM, better understand where those young people
attend universities and/or their first jobs and develop strategies to attract them back
to Gloucestershire after university or their first jobs.  The county could benefit
significantly from the education and experience these young people have gained
elsewhere.

● Page 60 (Business Environment section) – more could be mentioned about
protecting existing business land and supporting existing employers. Cotswold has
seen several high profile developments where existing employers sell their premises
to residential developers. For example, Tetbury lost Matbro and SIAC and is
increasing becoming a town where local residents are increasingly forced to
commute to access jobs, services and facilities, as is the former employment estate
at Upper Rissington. Can something be included to address this issue?

● Page 70 - The strategy says “Housing growth is hindered by land availability and
capacity issues due, in part, to development constraints which have led to high house

Page 194



Annex A 

Cotswold District Council comments on the draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial 
Strategy 

prices.” High house prices aren’t caused by limited housing growth – see this blog, 
which explains it quite well: https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/tackling-the-uk-
housing-crisis/ I suggest just saying that housing affordability is a significant and 
growing issue in Gloucestershire. 

● Page 70 - the Graph showing the housing affordability ratio could better illustrate the
issue. Affordability ratios have risen steeply over time, although the graph doesn’t
really show this. The Council invites the LEP  to look back further than 2011 – the
issue really has really ramped up since the 1990s..

● Page 73/74 – the Cotswold District Local Plan identifies several pieces of
infrastructure that are needed to support planned growth (e.g. bottlenecks at
junctions on the highway network). Part of the required infrastructure will be funded
through the Community Infrastructure Levy but there is a significant funding gap. A
similar situation will be found in the other Gloucestershire District Local Plans.
Reference should be made to this issue and how funding could be identified and
applied for to bridge the infrastructure funding gap.

● Page 74 – suggest extending the ‘county-wide cycling strategy’ to become a county-
wide walking and cycling strategy. The two go hand-in-hand.

● Page 82 – “To preserve the county’s deeply rural environment, we want to keep
Gloucestershire at least 95% building-free.  In total, less than 3% of the total land
in the county has been built on, highlighting how rural the county is”. Is this sentence
not an oxymoron? It suggests that you want to preserve the rural environment by
increasing the amount of land that is built on from 3% to 5% of the total land area.
We also need to understand the value of that land for natural capital perspective etc.

Page 195

https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/tackling-the-uk-housing-crisis/
https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/tackling-the-uk-housing-crisis/
https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/tackling-the-uk-housing-crisis/


Annex A 

Cotswold District Council comments on the draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial 
Strategy 

● Add in “A new masterplan is being developed for Cirencester in partnership with the
Town Council, businesses and residents.”

Page 196



Representation on behalf of Gloucester City Council to inform the drafting of 
the Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy 

David Evans, 
City Growth & Delivery Manager 
Gloucester City Council 
Tel. 01452 396874 
David.evans@gloucester.gov.uk October 2019 

General Comments 

The City Council welcomes the Draft Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) and is strongly 
supportive of the direction that it sets for the growth and development of the County’s 
economy.  The draft balances support for growing sectors with economic inclusion, and 
both in the context of achieving sustainability and minimising climate change.  It is clear 
that the document has been informed by business, the views of young people, and a 
strong evidence base, all of which add gravitas and realism to the direction it proposes.  
The City Council’s own aims and objectives, identified in recent strategies for heritage, 
regeneration and economic growth are in tune with the Draft LIS, reflecting Gloucester’s 
ambition to deliver sustainable economic growth and to assert its role as a driver within the 
County and the wider region, and for this reason the document has the overwhelming 
support of the City Council. 

This representation on behalf of the City Council has been considered by lead Members of 
the Cabinet, and signed off by Cllr Paul James, Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Economy. 

1. How well does this draft strategy represent the challenges, opportunities and
priorities for raising productivity and prosperity in Gloucestershire?

The reference to the City’s ambition to achieve City of Culture status in 2025 is to be strongly
welcomed as is its recognition of the City’s ambitious regeneration programme.  In recent
years the LEP has invested heavily in Gloucester’s physical regeneration, and the LIS
acknowledges the importance of that programme and a clear intention to continue to support
it.  It is felt that the strategy could go further in recognising Gloucester’s unique and leading

Page 197

mailto:David.evans@gloucester.gov.uk


 

role within the County, emphasising the strength of its industrial and commercial base, its 
important heritage and heritage approach to regeneration, and the progress being made to 
build strong, inclusive and healthy communities.  
 
The LIS comments briefly on the future of town and city centres, notably the ongoing 
changes to consumer trends and visitor expectations of the modern high street, which are 
altering the business and physical profiles of our centres.  This is a huge issue for every 
town and city in the UK, creating opportunities as well as threats, which is recognised by the 
Government’s Future High Streets Fund.  The LIS could go much further in offering direction 
and guidance to town/city centre businesses and the local authorities on how they might 
adapt to changing retail trends and consumer behaviour, drawing out the unique properties 
and identities of the County’s main commercial centres. 
 
Gloucester’s recently adopted Heritage Strategy places emphasis on heritage based 
regeneration to deliver sustainable change and growth in the City centre.  The strategy is 
supported by Historic England, evidenced by the recent award of High Street Heritage Action 
Zone funding. The City Council, the Cathedral and their partners in the Gloucester 
Regeneration Advisory Board will be looking to the LEP to understand the challenges of this 
approach to regeneration and to lend support to overcome frequent viability gaps and 
associated redevelopment challenges. The LIS makes specific reference to the need to 
invest in heritage construction skills, which is appropriate, but a wider appreciation of the 
importance of heritage-led regeneration would be welcomed  
 
Gloucester has an ambitious regeneration programme, characterised by important flagship 
schemes in the city centre, such as King’s Quarter, the Cathedral Quarter and the Railway 
station. While the support in the LIS for this programme is to be strongly welcomed, the 
strategy would benefit from offering more insight to the objectives and benefits of place 
based regeneration. At a simplistic level, Gloucester’s programme will bring about the 
physical transformation of neglected parts of the city, removing worn out properties and 
creating a brighter, more modern built environment. Yet the programme also offers 
economic, cultural, health and environmental benefits, creating employment and business 
opportunities for local people, strengthening links and driving footfall between key parts of 
the city centre, and creating places that Gloucester residents can be proud of.  The creation 
of successful whole places sits at the heart of Gloucester’s regeneration programme. 
 
The City’s regeneration programme extends to adjacent areas to the city centre, including 
to areas such as the Bristol Road corridor.  In Matson and Podsmead, which are two ageing 

Page 198



 

Post-War housing estates, Gloucester City Homes is leading a major regeneration 
programme to replace old and tired homes with new, alongside investment in public open 
space, better employment and transport infrastructure.  The programme, which will depend 
on public sector investment, will turn around the health and wellbeing of thousands of 
residents, enabling them to participate fully and for longer as consumers and employees in 
the workforce and the community. It is important that the LIS recognises that regeneration 
is not just about town and city centres. 
 
The LIS makes no mention of the wider implications of BREXIT and the UK’s imminent 
departure from European markets, and the likely impact that that will have on trade, 
workforce and other business factors – for better or for worse.  
 
The LIS makes numerous references to the County’s growth ambitions, including the 
importance of heritage, the protection of the countryside, and the need for business 
accommodation and residential development.  These issues are all at the heart of the 
statutory planning system. It is unclear how the LIS interfaces with the JCS and the Draft 
City Plan, for example on population and business growth projections and the forecasts of 
demographic changes, yet it is important that there is a clear agreement and synergy, 
including, on the timescale for each strategy and the modelling used to forecast growth.   
 
The LIS makes explicit reference to the infrastructure needs of business, referring to 
improved transport and digital connectivity, but there appears to be no direct reference to 
the availability of good quality, well located employment land.  One of the main concerns of 
businesses in the County is the opportunity secure affordable land to enable investment and 
growth.  The prices given to employment land by owners tends to be driven by ‘hope values’ 
based on the prospect of securing consent for residential and other types of higher value 
development.  The LEP has a key role to play, intervening alongside its public sector 
partners in the County to ensure the provision of land suitable for the growth of B class 
businesses. 

 
 
 

2. What is the most important aspect of the draft strategy that we need to deliver 
to attract and retain young people in Gloucestershire? 
  
The LIS describes effectively the challenge facing the County as its demographic profile 
continues to get older, and as young people continue to leave to pursue better 

Page 199



 

employment opportunities and quality of life elsewhere.  It describes some of the 
investment needed in public transport infrastructure, which is essential in enabling young 
people to travel to education, work and leisure. 
 
Gloucester’s population, although ageing as per the rest of the County, is doing so at a 
slower rate than the rest of the County.  The availability of less expensive housing, access 
to technical and service sector jobs, and a good quality evening economy continue to 
encourage younger and lower skilled people to stay in the city.  The City continues to lose 
younger, higher skilled people in their late teens and 20s who perceive better job and 
education prospects elsewhere.  
 
Gloucester and the other larger urban areas have an important role to play in creating the 
right environment to attract and retain young people – an environment that provides 
economic, social and cultural opportunities. The challenge has to be addressed on a 
number of fronts: 
 

• Ongoing investment in Higher Education to strengthen the quality and reputation of 
HE level education in the County; 

• Strengthening of links between the County’s learning establishments and local 
businesses; 

• Investment in skills development by businesses, and remuneration that is 
competitive with nearby and competing labour markets; 

• Ongoing investment in the regeneration of Gloucester City Centre and other areas 
within the City to create welcoming places that stimulate innovation and creativity. 

• Investment in modern small business space, branded and targeted towards young 
people in digital, creative and cultural industries. 

• Better branding and messaging for the County, with less reference to the rural idyll, 
and more on the bustling energy and the success of its larger towns and the city. 

• Greater attention given to the multi-cultural and ethnic diversity of Gloucester’s 
communities. 

 
A specific example of the unique role that Gloucester can play in the attraction and 
retention of young people is in the delivery of specialist and craft construction skills, and 
specifically those relating to skills within the heritage industry.  The City’s ample stock of 
heritage buildings is noted in the LIS, but a number of recent regeneration projects have 
focussed on the provision of craft and specialist skills for construction workers.  Project 
Pilgrim at Gloucester Cathedral, the regeneration of King’s Quarter, the Southgate Street 

Page 200



 

Townscape Heritage Imitative, and the forthcoming High Street HAZ for Cathedral Quarter 
will all invest in construction skills, delivered in partnership with specialist local learning 
providers.  This is a relatively unique area that the City Council would wish to enhance, 
creating opportunities for residents and ensuring the availability of local skills to enable 
investment in property.  
 

 

3. What is the most important aspect of the draft strategy that we need to deliver 
to raise productivity and prosperity for all people in the county? 
 

3.1.  Targeted Sector Support. The growth of a workforce with the skills that are suited to 
businesses in emerging and growing sectors is an important aspect of driving 
inclusive economic growth across the County.  

 
The backing for Cyber-tech industries, as a robust and growing community around 
GCHQ, is to be welcomed, as it is an important growth sector for Gloucester as well 
as the UK.  The aim of the LIS to ensure the provision of relevant skills and 
infrastructure to support these new types of industry, including modern premises in 
the City Centre, is to be welcomed. 

 
Similarly, the selection of Green as a recognisable opportunity and driver of 
sustainable economic growth chimes closely with the declaration by the City Council 
of a climate emergency earlier this year, which in turn reflects the increasing priority 
and concern of young people. The ambition to grow a new generation of 
environmentally aware businesses across all sectors, and to establish a reputation 
for Gloucestershire within environmental technologies, is positive and plays to 
Gloucester’s strength in the field of energy production.  Gloucester has an important 
contribution to make in this subject, and is already taking positive steps to protect the 
environment and strengthen green industry.  Investment in electric vehicle charging 
points, the potential development of a solar farm at Hempsted Landfill site, and 
through the installation of PV infrastructure on Council owned properties, are example 
of how the Council itself is addressing the Climate Emergency.  Addressing the 
Climate Emergency has to be through working collaboratively, and Local Authorities 
have a key and statutory role to play in delivering this shared aim.  
 
The strategy recognises the importance of the County’s rural environment and of Agri-
tech as a dynamic and growing sector but it offers little by way of insight to guide and 

Page 201



 

reassure primary producers, including sustaining land-based incomes without 
European subsidies.  Whilst it would be unrealistic to expect the LIS to forecast the 
future of this industry and any other after BREXIT, a view of the needs of the sector 
and what safeguards need to be in place to protect those businesses, their employees 
and the communities that they have sustained for generations would be of use.  
 
The LIS offers clear direction on the growth of newer and dynamic sectors – Cyber-
tech and Agri-tech notably, and it points to advanced engineering and aerospace as 
strong and important sector.  These latter sectors are important to Gloucester’s 
economy, providing well-paid and secure employment in growing industries.  
 
The LIS offers little insight specifically to support the future of more traditional 
businesses; notably manufacturing and engineering.  Gloucester has a heritage of 
manufacturing and engineering, supported by a workforce with strong technical and 
manual skills.  While these sectors remain strong employment numbers locally and 
nationally have declined in recent years and are anticipated to continue to fall.  There 
are major implications of that industrial change on people, places and businesses 
within the county and the LIS might make reference to the employment and skills 
ramifications of this decline as well as the land use demands and regeneration 
opportunities. 
 
The City Council would also like to see reference to the Insurance sector, which has 
for many years been an important employer for the City. This sector makes up 4.8% 
of total jobs in Gloucester- the South West average is 2.8% - providing well paid 
employment for around 3,000 people.  Yet it is also a changing sector, adapting to 
transformational digital technology and changing consumer trends in the industry. 
The LIS could support the sector by flagging up those risks (recognising where 
support might be required, for example in reskilling and the reuse of redundant 
commercial property) as well as highlighting the strengths of the City to new investors 
and types of business in the Insurance as well as the wider Financial Services sector.   

 
3.2 Workforce Reskilling  

An extension of the point could be made in relation to reskilling.  Whilst the growth of 
new digital and advanced technology business sectors will create valuable 
opportunities for young entrants to the workforce, the LIS makes no reference to the 
reskilling needs of older workers, and how workers who may have been employed in 
traditional, manual trades for many years can be supported to adjust and adapt to new 

Page 202



 

work regimes and forms of technology.  The number of older residents is forecast to 
grow significantly over the plan period, and with people either choosing or being forced 
to work longer into their old age, the LIS might make reference to how those workers 
should be supported by employers and training providers.  

 
3.3 Social Mobility 

The LIS makes good reference to the need to strengthen links between business and 
schools in order to supply a future workforce that meets local business needs. A more 
explicit focus might be given on the need to tackle social mobility. Specifically targeted 
work with lower achieving students and children from lower income families (evidenced 
by the relative academic achievement and the high proportion of children in Gloucester 
receiving Free School Meals) through schools and organisations such as Young 
Gloucestershire and the GEM project, in order to raise ambitions and motivation as 
well as skills to get them into apprenticeships or jobs.  It is essential that we harness 
and develop local skills and assets to ensure that all residents contribute to and benefit 
from a strong local economy. 

 
 

 
4. How should we develop Gloucestershire’s Growth Hubs to help deliver the 

ambitions set out in the draft strategy? 
  
The network of Growth Hubs are a valuable asset across the County, supporting the 
establishment and growth of businesses in each of the County’s Districts. The decline over 
the past decade in the range and number of advisory organisations able to offer free 
support to small businesses has limited the ability of the Growth Hub to offer referral 
services to specialist providers.  However, success in securing European funding and 
close collaboration with the University has enabled the direction of expertise and support 
towards high growth business in certain important sectors. This begs the question over the 
future of those services in the likely event that EU sources of funding are withdrawn and 
the City Council would be pleased to discuss this issue at the earliest opportunity.  
 
The City Council would welcome a more collaborative approach to the provision of Growth 
Hub services, respecting the strength of the relationships that the GFirst LEP has with 
Tewkesbury Borough Council and other Districts in the County.  The Council would be 
interested to explore opportunities to enhance the Growth Hub presence in the City centre, 
particularly through the development of new co-working space tailored towards new 

Page 203



 

businesses and younger entrepreneurs. By drawing regularly upon the Growth Hub’s 
customer data the Council would also be keen to better understand the growth needs of 
small businesses so that it can tailor its own services to meet them.  
 
The Council would be keen to see greater profile given to encouragement and support for 
entrepreneurs across all sectors and types of business, including strengthening links with 
schools and offering general workshops and advice sessions to people that are 
considering starting their own business. 

 
 

 

5. Which aspect of the draft strategy could you or your organisation help us to 
deliver? 
5a) What could you do? 

5b) What support would you need? 

5c) Do you have any additional insights or evidence to support the action 
needed? 

The City Council already works closely with the GFirst LEP on a number of fronts, including:  
• The regeneration of key regeneration projects in the City Centre,  
• The UK:DRIC 
• The Gloucestershire Inward Investment programme 

 
Furthermore, the Council sits alongside GFIrst LEP colleagues on strategic Planning and 
Economic Development partnership groups, strengthening the authorities’ ability to deliver 
their statutory roles, including the Planning function. 
 
As mentioned in Section 4, the City Council would welcome a more collaborative approach 
to the delivery of Growth Hub services in Gloucester City Centre, including the provision of 
new business space. 
 
The LEPs across the UK have an important role to play in communicating to Government 
the needs and ambitions of their areas and in lobbying Government departments and 
Ministers to address specific funding needs, policy issues, and innovative projects. The 
GFirst LEP could go further in fulfilling this role for Gloucestershire, maximising the 
relationships it has with national organisations, providing advice and insights to Government 

Page 204



 

thinking on relevant subjects, and lending its support to projects that would benefit from 
national intervention. 
 
The LIS makes no reference to the important role that charities, community and social 
enterprises play in the design and delivery of services. Yet this is an important sector that 
supports many of the aims of the LIS, including social and economic inclusion and the 
delivery of skills within the community. 
 
 
 

Page 205



1 

Please enter your details below: 

Name: 

Kathy O’Leary 

Organisation: 

Stroud District Council 

Date: 

31/10/2019 

Fill in this template and send to LIS@gfirstlep.com 

Thank you for taking the time to read our Draft Local Industrial Strategy for Gloucestershire, which has been 
developed using extensive evidence and engagement with stakeholders. 

We would love to hear your views – especially on the following five questions. 

Please send your feedback to LIS@gfirstlep.com by 31st October 2019. 

Consultation questions: 

1. How well does this draft strategy represent the challenges, opportunities and priorities for raising
productivity and prosperity in Gloucestershire?

The draft strategy identifies some of the key challenges facing the county, particularly those relating to an 
ageing population and the need to retain and attract young people and to provide the necessary skills and 
training that they will need. More could be said about the issue of developing a strategy that seeks to 
address unsustainable commuting patterns within Gloucestershire which have economic, social and 
environmental impacts and the need to have complementary strategies for growing the economy locally in 
a way that reflects the different needs, skills and opportunities within each part of Gloucestershire whilst 
contributing to a greater whole. The local authorities can help define and develop these. 

The strategy focuses on some new and growing sectors including cyber, agri-tech and green technologies. 
There are undoubtedly opportunities within these areas for Gloucestershire to develop a distinctive offer, 
particularly in developing green technologies to help respond to the climate emergency which all local 
authorities have acknowledged and signed up to tackle. However, these are still relatively small sectors 
within the overall local economy and we feel more could be said about how the LIS can support and develop 
sectors which make a greater contribution to the overall economy, including manufacturing services for the 
advanced engineering sector, construction, health and social work as well as education and tourism which 
are recognised.  

It is also possible that singular focus on young people may miss some of the opportunities around an ageing 
population. If we are keen to promote ourselves in tourism for example it would be good not to ignore the 
fact that the ‘short break’ is very popular with retirees and of course many an exclusive retirement home 
lies in a tranquil Cotswold setting. This demographic is also a large constituent part in what is termed an 
‘able to pay’ sector, a sector known to be a key target for those wishing to promote low carbon lifestyles. 

Page 206

mailto:LIS@gfirstlep.com
mailto:LIS@gfirstlep.com


 
 
 

2 
 

2. What is the most important aspect of the draft strategy that we need to deliver to attract and retain young 
people in Gloucestershire? 

 
 
Green Gloucestershire. Young people care about the environment and this has been shown by the 
groundswell of national support for environmental causes from young people. If we are to deliver on our 
ambition of becoming a magnet County we need to make decisions now that show them what the new 
low carbon economy looks like and how it can work for them.  This includes providing support for the 
training and skills which they will need in the green economy of the future. 
 
A focus on environmental care sits well with an opportunity in tourism, outdoor activity, adventure and 
sustainability sit very well and can combine to create attractive destinations that support environmental 
protection and promote health and well-being. 
 

 
3. What is the most important aspect of the draft strategy that we need to deliver to raise productivity and 

prosperity for all people in the county? 

 
Improving clean transport and connectivity is vital to support the economy of the County and 
Gloucestershire must be in bold in its response to these challenges. Rural and urban populations have 
equal access to employment, leisure and support services.  As we move forward into a new era where car 
ownership is less desirable and affordable four young people then new transport solutions must be 
considered as part of the overall package of creating a magnet County. This also would help to address the 
concerns of young people regarding the “worst thing about living in Gloucestershire” – the lack of reliable 
door to door transport services. 
 
In terms of connectivity grid capacity, as referenced in the LIS, must become as vital as considering the 
connectivity of transport and communications infrastructure.  As we move towards new patterns of 
energy consumption and production then grid capacity must be an enabling and not restrictive element of 
the County’s offering. 
 
 

 
4. How should we develop Gloucestershire’s Growth Hubs to help deliver the ambitions set out in the draft 

strategy? 
 
 
 
The Growth Hubs should specialise in response to local expertise, for example Stroud District’s strengths 
in environmentally pioneering businesses and commitment to decarbonisation of the district by 2030 
could be reflected in creating a low carbon growth hub. This hub could support existing and start-up 
SMEs, as well as individuals wanting to gain the skills needed to enable the transition to a low carbon 
economy. For example, a mass retrofitting of existing homes is required to meet our carbon neutral 
ambitions, and at present there are not enough local skills or companies able to carry out this work. 
 
The Growth Hubs need to offer a specialist advice stream for businesses on resource efficiency and help 
SME’s network to source locally and to work collaboratively on developing new low carbon solutions.  
 

Page 207



 
 
 

3 
 

The Growth Hubs could work harder to provide collaborative and creative workspaces for start-ups and 
micro enterprises but also for business in general, the ability to work flexibly being a key component of 
delivering sustainable business practices. 
 
 
 

 
 

5. Which aspect of the draft strategy could you or your organisation help us to deliver? 
 
Stroud District Council could collaborate to make Stroud Growth Hub a low carbon focused support 
stream. In conjunction with Berkeley GREEN Stroud is uniquely well placed to support the links between 
skills and economy. The District has a wealth of entrepreneurial activity and significant ambitions to 
support its community to rapidly become a carbon neutral district. 
 
 
 

 
5.a. What could you do? 
Stroud District Council is the only council with a Carbon Neutral Officer and can offer a unique 
understanding of LEP initiatives. 
 
We are working with our community to identify and fund discrete projects and would value the 
opportunity to collaborate with the LEP on Growth Hub related programmes that can support 
businesses to be lower carbon and build new opportunities particularly those attractive to young 
people. We have an active sustainable education community and schools keen to collaborate on 
environmental and economic agendas. 
 
Stroud District is unique in the UK in our combination of expertise in advanced manufacturing 
(deeply rooted in our industrial heritage) with a beautiful natural environment and some of the 
country’s most profound and radical environmental awareness and activism. At present this 
combination has not been fully developed and so we have the potential to offer something quite 
unique nationally if these two aspects are brought together – fulfilling the aspirations of the LIS’s 
Greener Gloucestershire as well as the ideas of the Green New Deal which involve transforming 
the economy with the jobs, skills and industries that will be needed for a future low carbon 
economy. 

Stroud District has the potential, with the right leadership from the public sector, businesses and 
communities to turn Green Gloucestershire and clean growth into a reality and get declarations of 
climate emergencies and the LEP’s Energy Strategy off paper and beyond lip service to actual 
results which not only change our communities but also crucially get buy in from our communities 
and build long term economic resilience. 

As well as strategic leadership, Stroud District Council can provide the practical support and 
expertise at a grassroots and local level, not only from within the council itself but by enabling a 
local and dynamic network of world class businesses and innovative social and community 
organisations. 

There are key sites in the district with the potential for green growth and renewable energy and 
storage, such as along the M5 corridor or down at the Berkeley Green campus. The district is 
already home to nationally and internationally leading companies such as Ecotricity and Snow 

Page 208



 
 
 

4 
 

Business who are pioneers in embedding deep environmental practice into profit-making 
enterprises.  

The district also has a number of brownfield sites in sustainable locations with the potential for 
regeneration. Where jobs are at risk in the manufacturing sector, we need an active strategy and a 
task force ready to assess opportunities for turning these sites and workforces into opportunities 
to create new green industries. 

There are opportunities to develop new garden settlements in Stroud District at Sharpness and at 
Wisloe which will provide the potential for homes and work in close proximity reducing the need 
to travel and further opportunities to integrate new housing with employment provision at Cam 
and Stonehouse. Delivering an ambitious growth plan will require local planning authorities, the 
transport authority and GFirstLEP to work in partnership to ensure the infrastructure is in place at 
the right time to enable economic growth. 

 
 
 

 
5.b. What support would you need? 
 
A visit from the inward investment team to investigate what opportunities there are to expand 
our provision of clean renewable energy. We have barely begun to exploit our natural resources of 
wind, sun and water and with the right investment from both the public and private sector  

A rail crossing over the Severn could not only provide a vital transport link but also the physical 
infrastructure could be vital to combine with energy generation and power supply. 

An innovative use of the Cotswold escarpment to draw up water and release to generate 
hydropower according to demand. 

There is also a need for revenue funding, with current streams very focused on capital growth. It 
will not be possible to do many of the things required to make Gloucestershire a Green Magnet 
County without revenue for the engagement and outreach that requires. 
 
 

 
5.c. Do you have any additional insights or evidence to support the action needed? 
 
The Council, working with all of the other local authorities within Gloucestershire, has recently 
commissioned an Economic Needs Assessment to identify the specific quantifiable needs for 
additional B class and related land uses to address the LIS and to respond to the wider evidence 
base. The assessment will also look at the particular locational requirements of different sectors. 
This important work will help inform the contents of strategic planning and local plans work which 
will be an important vehicle for delivering growth through the timely allocation of employment 
land. We want to work with GFirstLEP as this project develops and to ensure that the assessment 
takes full account of the views of business, stakeholders and developers. 
 
Insights from truly successful programmes such as Target 2020, Warm and Well and Young Energy 
People demonstrate the significant effects revenue funds can have in energising and educating 
people to save energy when used in conjunction with well-targeted capital funds and strong 

Page 209



 
 
 

5 
 

strategic partnerships. Stroud District Council is pioneering on this strategic partnership working 
focus in the appointment of the Carbon Neutral Officer and a focus on community collaboration. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 210



 
 
 

1 
 

Please enter your details below: 

Name: 
Robert Weaver 
 

Organisation: 
Tewkesbury Borough Council 

Date: 
30 October 2019 

 

Fill in this template and send to LIS@gfirstlep.com 

 

Thank you for taking the time to read our Draft Local Industrial Strategy for Gloucestershire, which has been 

developed using extensive evidence and engagement with stakeholders. 

We would love to hear your views – especially on the following five questions. 

Please send your feedback to LIS@gfirstlep.com by 31st October 2019. 

 

Consultation questions: 

1. How well does this draft strategy represent the challenges, opportunities and priorities for raising 

productivity and prosperity in Gloucestershire? 

- Represents challenges and opportunities well a good document setting out clear aspirations for the 
county and how we will achieve future productivity and prosperity.  

 
- The five foundations appear to be right and of their time. They appear to be bold and aspirational, but 

Gloucestershire has the ability to meet them. It is really important that digital and the green agenda 
are reflected. 

 
- There needs to be a greater refection on the amount of population growth that Gloucestershire will 

be having and how the LIS can meet this. There is mention of Garden Towns, but there is significant 
growth in many other urban and rural areas which will transform our communities. The LIS needs to 
be able to meet and rise to this challenge. 

 
- Social mobility is mentioned in the report, but feel there needs to be greater emphasis on how they 

can be tackled to raise productivity and prosperity. 
 
- High Streets and market towns do not appear much within the LIS. We know that High Streets are 

changing and that retail is not as important as it was - but High Streets still play an important role in 
being a centre for commercial activity, markets and also for being focal points for social activity. The 
recent successful award of funding for Tewkesbury as a Heritage Action Zone is testament to this. 

 
- Tourism is also a key theme for rating prosperity and productivity, as well as providing an image and 

identity for an area - but it feels tucked away at the back of the LIS. 
 
- High-tech engineering needs greater prominence in this document and should be recognised 

alongside Cyber, Agri-tech and Green. Perhaps sitting under Ideas section? If it can’t be highlighted as 
a sector in its own right - it should have greater prominence under the other key sectors, as it cuts 
across everything and will drive innovation and productivity. 

 
- Innovation comes through strongly in this document, but we rest on our laurels regarding our success 

as a county. It could be celebrated more and highlighted through all areas of this document. This 

Page 211

mailto:LIS@gfirstlep.com
mailto:LIS@gfirstlep.com


 
 
 

2 
 

culture of innovation is also an aspect that will attract young people to stay. The Growth Hub Network 
is a great vehicle for helping push this further. 

 
- Should be ‘The Magnet County’ not ‘A Magnet County’. Being ‘The Magnet County’ will set us apart 

from others. 
 
- The aims and aspirations in this document are to be applauded. However how we fulfil these could be 

pushed a little further. E.g. the aspiration ‘To be the greenest place to live and work in England’. There 
is a lot of competition with other areas in this and some of the actions/ thoughts underpinning it seem 
a little ‘soft’/cautious. 

 
- The Garden Towns and other large developments across the county are big opportunities and need 

greater recognition as ways to deliver aspirations in the LIS. These provide the opportunities for 
setting national benchmark standards in green infrastructure development. New employment 
allocations also provide opportunities for Centres of Excellence. A centre of excellence in hi-tech 
engineering business park at Tewkesbury Garden town site would be perfectly placed. 

 
- The engagement of young people is excellent and will help set our LIS apart. However, needs to be 

clearer on how we will keep them engaged. Also, little mention regarding the role of schools and how 
they will help/be involved. 

 
- High focus on the main conurbations but not the other key centres /market towns across the area. 

These play a vital role and should be emphasised more.  It is important with regards to both digital 
and sustainable transport connectivity in these rural areas.  

 

 

2. What is the most important aspect of the draft strategy that we need to deliver to attract and retain young 

people in Gloucestershire? 

- Holistic package of jobs and houses and the offer that is different needs to be highlighted and 
explained fully. 

 
- Apart from valuing young people and the positive impact they can make to the county – Key element 

is to link the skills and training that young people receive, to the skills that the Gloucestershire 
business community require. This means providing closer communication and understanding between 
the education sector and the business community. 

 
- Too often we hear of businesses looking outside the county to attract talent. Yet, we also hear of 

talent leaving the county. I believe the talent is in Gloucestershire – but it is about providing young 
people with the skills and experience to meet this business need. 

 
- Would be useful to follow up on the strategy - how will young people be involved in taking forward 

the LIS? 
 

- ‘Opportunities’– in skills development and jobs. Young people leave the county area as they do not 
perceive there to be the right opportunities for skills development or jobs here.  

 
- Schools, FE/HE Colleges, businesses – have a key role to play here and need to work more 

collaboratively. The Hub network, LEP and LAs could have a role to play in helping ensure that an 
environment is created for this collaboration. A stronger Apprenticeship programme will also play a 
role. 

 

Page 212



 
 
 

3 
 

- The right infrastructure, I.e.  Improved connections in both digital and sustainable transport 
infrastructure is also very important. Many of our talented young people live in rural areas of the 
county but struggle with connectivity.  We need to develop the right infrastructure to help encourage 
them to stay, as well as affordable housing. The new developments in the county will play a vital role. 

 

3. What is the most important aspect of the draft strategy that we need to deliver to raise productivity and 

prosperity for all people in the county? 

- Should focus on the facilitation of development opportunities in the county. Tourism Growth Zone 
Status is critically important.  

 
- People are required enable all the five themes to happen. Whether it is having people with the right 

skills, or having people with the drive to make this all happen - people are the key resource and 
aspect. 

 
- Innovation is the key driver of productivity.  However, to push our strong base of innovation forward - 

we need the right skills base, infrastructure and business environment. Getting all these ‘pillars’ in 
place will drive productivity to higher levels across the county and set us apart, benefiting all areas of 
our community and economy. 

 
- Skills – need to address the miss-match between skills developed and key sector needs. Collaboration 

with wider specialised FE/HE colleges required. 
 
- Business environment – the exemplar Gloucestershire growth hub network should help deliver this 

through greater degrees of specialisation. Centres of excellence and innovation such as a High-tech 
engineering centre and business park at Tewkesbury will also help drive this. 

 
- Infrastructure - New developments across the county will unlock potential for sustainable 

opportunities. 
 

 

4. How should we develop Gloucestershire’s Growth Hubs to help deliver the ambitions set out in the draft 

strategy? 

- Further investment and development in the hubs to create the consistent strategy for growth. 
 
- Growth Hubs are key to prove localised business support. They are successful but also have lots more 

untapped potential. Tewkesbury Borough businesses have greatly supported and benefited from the 
hub within the council offices. 

 
- Could there be a specific Green industry focused Growth Hub - this could fit in nicely with the Garden 

Town ideals and objectives. It could provide support for: 
- Existing businesses to understand how they can become carbon neutral 
- Help create a green focussed 'Green Central' business park within the Garden Town (similar to Cyber 

Central but green focussed). 
 
- Exemplar Gloucestershire model of physical growth hubs should be built upon. This should be 

complimented by improved online facilitates but the physical hubs must remain as the most 
prominent aspect. Business feedback has shown this is where the most value lies. 

 
- A greater degree of sector specialisation both from hubs and advisors, must be developed – 

particularly in the 4 key sectors (Hi-tech engineering, Agri-tech, cyber and green) – whilst also 

Page 213



 
 
 

4 
 

maintaining general business advice. To truly deliver higher levels of productivity – specialised, 
targeted sector support will be required.  

 
- Hubs needs to have targeted ‘scale up’ experts in key sectors – could link in with the mentoring 

scheme. 
 
- Hubs need to link to wider academia. Currently these only fulfil Agri-tech, food and green innovation – 

need better links for advanced engineering innovation academia.  
 
- Localised hubs should also link to key employment clusters, developments and academia in their 

respective areas i.e. Cheltenham hub and Cyber, Tewkesbury Hub and high-tech engineering. 
 
- Space for innovation and business growth is not explored widely in the LIS but is critically important 

and of current need. Success of incubators in hubs shows there is potential for expansion of current 
hub offer. Providing supportive, targeted incubator and accelerator space for businesses in key 
sectors. Tewkesbury has already identified a need to develop this offer. 

 
- Key role for growth hubs in helping promote the development of apprenticeship programme in 

Gloucestershire to businesses. 
 
- Growth hub bigger role in developing young talent – facilitate young start-up enterprise innovation 

space 

 

(i) Which aspect of the draft strategy could you or your organisation help us to deliver? 

TBC is fundamental to a great deal of the strategy. The council's Economic Development and Tourism 
Strategy will need to select the LIS going forward. 
 
The council provides a number of key services that link into the LIS, particularly: 

- Through the success of the Growth Hub in the council offices 
- Providing employment for the creation of new jobs 
- Providing new homes for those new workers who locate to the area 
- Strengthening and supporting the growing tourism sector and attracting visitors to the area 
- Supporting key business sectors 
- Linking in the education sector 
- Providing local leadership and political direction 

- Access to funding  
- Influencing transport and other infrastructure 

business networking 

- making the most of Garden Town status i.e. Green Central business park - see 4 above 

Tewkesbury Borough Council will be a key partner in delivery of all aspects of the LIS, this is further 
enhanced by the fact we are also a Growth Hub Network Partner. 

Key projects may include: 
- Development and expansion of the Growth Hub Network offer at Tewkesbury Growth hub. 
- Delivery of a High-tech engineering business park and centre of excellence at Tewkesbury. 
- Influence and delivery of key in key infrastructure, housing and employment land. 
- Garden town and village delivery in the Borough 
- Cyber Central delivery partner 
- Local leadership  
- Supporting the development of key sectors and innovation. 

Page 214



 
 
 

5 
 

The aims in the LIS also largely align with the delivery of our Economic Development and Tourism Strategy 
and Council Plan. 

 

5.a. What could you do? 

Further develop the offer in the Tewkesbury Growth Hub. 
- Contribute to the Tourism Growth Zone concept.  
- Align ED+T strategy into the LIS.  
- Be a key partner in delivery in all of the above and more. 

 

 

5.b. What support would you need? 

Engage with LEP on key priorities, resources and materials to help provide the message and the 
opportunities. 

- Joint working with the LEP and the LA to join up on key projects 
- Joint lobbying/bid preparation for key funding streams 
- Resources - financial/people 
- Effective partnership working between LAs, GFirst and other key agencies 
- Effective advocacy  
- Being a strong voice for Gloucestershire - nationally and internationally 
- Recognition of the value of local authorities  
- Recognition of the importance of the economy for the whole of Gloucestershire (including 

rural areas), not just a focus on Cheltenham and Gloucester 
- Partnership and support from the LEP and other relevant bodies 
-  

 

5.c. Do you have any additional insights or evidence to support the action needed? 

- The council has a unique connection to residents and also the business community, whether it 
is through our relationships with businesses or other agencies. 
 

- For our 2017 Economic Development and Tourism Strategy we carried out major pieces of 
research including a business survey and employment land review. Although elements of this 
may be superseded by the LIS, they will still be of value. 

 
- Regular consultation with the community and businesses for development of economic 

strategy and planning policy development. 
 

 

Additional Comments  

 Cyber Tech - needs to reference the Garden Village at West Cheltenham.  

 Green – focus on green building technology – opportunity given our significant growth agenda and the quantum 

of development.  

 Innovation – outward looking needs to be emphasised. Our opportunity to exploit innovation from within the 

county.  

 People – need to make clear that it is also about ‘community’ and thus a joined up strategy of houses and jobs 

and that all sectors have a place in the County. Make more of the offer of the ‘Growth Hubs’ – should channel 

support through the Growth Hub resources for all scale of business. 

 Tourism Zone – Capitalising on the brand that is more the ‘Cotswold’ brand.  

Page 215



 
 
 

6 
 

Page 10 Needs to talk about the joined up strategy and governance to deliver the aspirations 
to demonstrate the commitment across the County.  

Page 15 Would benefit from showing the linkages to Gloucestershire and its hugely 
connected infrastructure- A46 to east, M50 west, M5 north/south.  

Page 17 Work with local authorities to remove the barriers to growth. 

Page 18/19 Should reference the airport in the opportunities. 

Page 21 - A map of our local assets and key contributions - MoD Ashchurch isn’t marked 
as a ‘Military Site’.  It is however marked as a ‘major planned 
housing/employment growth area’.  

 
- It shouldn’t be specifically identified as a growth area and the Garden Town 

identification covers it in any case.  
 
- The JCS Strategic Allocation at South Churchdown isn’t marked as a ‘major 

planned housing/employment growth area’. 
 
- West Cheltenham is a Garden Village not Garden Town. Again needs to talk 

about the LA role in the removing of barriers to delivery of growth and 
prosperity and the opportunities that LA can facilitate positively.  

 

Page 28 Should reference opportunity for heritage based regeneration and explanation of 
the funding strategy available for the type of opportunity. 

Page 32 - Putting clean growth at the heart of our strategies for business growth and our 
approach to infrastructure investment - What is meant by ‘clean growth’? It is 
referenced a number of times in the document but is not defined. 

 
- Working with local planning authorities to encourage sustainable and energy 

efficient house building that supports green construction; reference should also 
be made to sustainable and energy efficient employment/commercial 
development. Current greenhouse gas emissions from the business sector is 
similar to that from residential. 

 
- Exploring a mass-transit transport solution that provides a reliable, quick and 

clean alternative to cars and significantly reduces commuter traffic between 
the county’s urban centres – potentially forming a vital new link within the 
Central Gloucestershire City Region exploring a mass-transit transport solution 
that provides a reliable, quick and clean alternative to cars and significantly 
reduces commuter traffic between the county’s urban centres – potentially 
forming a vital new link within the Central Gloucestershire City Region - The 
need to provide a high quality public transport system across Gloucestershire, 
including the more rural areas, should be included. Not just mass-transit 
between the main urban areas. 

 
- Strive to reduce carbon emissions to net zero by 2050, with aspirations to go 

further and faster; use of the word ‘strive’ in the objective to achieve net zero 
by 2050 (on the right hand column of the page) is a subtlety different wording 
(to the commitment on the left hand column and other places in the document) 
that is less comital to this target. It should be removed.  

 
- ‘Net zero by 2050’ – in one place it says ‘strive’ to reduce. Remove word ‘strive’. 

 

Page 216



 
 
 

7 
 

- Change ref ‘to going green not being a barrier to growth’ – highlights potential 
of negative. Reword as an ‘opportunity’. 

 

Page 33 - Exploit opportunity for local authorities to remove barriers to growth.  
 
- Very important role of having planning strategy that fits into economic strategy 

and aspiration must be emphasised as this is what sets the JCS and Central 
Severn Vale apart from other areas. 

 
- Electric cars – little said but massive opportunities in terms of new 

developments 
 
- Protect the county’s tourism sector’– isn’t it an opportunity to grow it? 

Page 34 - Natural capital approach to growth’ – should be expressed more as an 
opportunity. Comes across as a challenge or something to be overcome. 

 
- A natural capital approach to growth - This section would benefit from stating 

the role of new development in delivering improved green infrastructure and 
biodiversity gains as an integral part of a site. 

 
- Natural capital can unlock environmental constraints to growth and 

productivity - This statement still highlights the environment and natural capital 
as a constraint and something to be overcome rather than an opportunity and 
a benefit. 

 
- Our investment in green infrastructure and natural capital will - This list should 

also include helping to mitigate against climate change and adapt to the 
impacts of it and increasing biodiversity. 

Page 35 - As well as their important role in carbon sequestering, rural areas are an 
increasingly important provider of ecosystem services in terms of water - The 
urban areas also have an important role in providing and improving ecosystem 
services – e.g. by providing green infrastructure on development sites.  

 
- Reliance of fossil fuels - The bullet point list should also include de-carbonising 

transport as a major user of fossil fuels currently. 

Page 36 Link back to capitalising on heritage based regeneration and how this utilises local 
workforce alongside providing regeneration opportunity. 

Page 37 Our proposition - a further proposition should be around improving accessibility 
and travel choice by providing a high quality sustainable transport network.  

Page 38 - To work with key local stakeholders to push the boundaries on green 
development, to ensure future housing and infrastructure developments in the 
county are built to Green standards and deliver a net gain in biodiversity - This 
also needs to include employment /commercial development being built to 
‘green standards’; there is a need to better define what is meant by ‘green 
standards’ as the term is vague.  

 
- Reference to green development standards refers to just housing - this should 

be for all development, including employment. 
 
- To accelerate retro-fitting of low carbon measures on Gloucestershire’s existing 

housing stock and develop a national reputation for retro-fitting low carbon 

Page 217



 
 
 

8 
 

measures in housing - This should also apply to employment/commercial 
development. 

 
- To work with the private sector across energy, construction and development 

to understand decarbonisation within each sector and take a lead nationally in 
developing the understanding, skills, techniques and technologies to deliver 
fossil free heat - This could also be extended to the use of sustainable building 
materials and a sustainable approach to waste and recycling – both of building 
materials and resources used by businesses.   

 
- Not sure what is meant by ‘improve planning in the County’ should be more 

about operational intervention to make navigation through the planning 
system easier to deliver sustainable growth.  

Page 40 - Needs to reference the Tewkesbury Garden Town. 10,000 homes and the 
backing of many government agencies to deliver transformation development 
opportunities.  

 
- Should capitalise on opportunity for Birmingham Commonwealth Games – 

Tourism Zone Status.  

Page 41 - High-tech engineering and manufacturing should get bigger mention here and 
throughout LIS.  

 
- Growth hubs help innovation at all stages of business not just start 

Page 45 - ‘Innovation factory’ – factory sounds bit old fashioned? 
 

- Needs to be links to wider academia as the ones listed only fulfil agri-tech, food 
and green innovation – need better links for advanced engineering innovation 
academia. 

 
- Growth hubs will play a fundamental role, but need to specialise more and 

expand current hub offer. 
 
- We need to accelerate innovation – accelerator space needs to be available. 

Page 47 Mentions Agri-tech but should also mention ‘Food- tech’ as part of this. It is a key 
opportunity area for future development and innovation. 

Page 56 ‘Local capabilities and assets’ – cyber tech and agriculture are mentioned, but not 
high-tech engineering which is one of the most important sectors in the county? 
Need to collaborate with organisations like Warwick university and link to a centre 
of excellence for advanced manufacturing in Tewkesbury. 

Page 57 - Growth Hub Network forms a vital link between ‘individuals and businesses’ - 
Should this not be ‘business experts’ instead of ‘individuals’? 

 
- ‘Lifelong learning’ –seems an odd ref here? 

Page 64 - Provision of Supportive, Start-up and grow on space for businesses is critical. 
 
- Advanced engineering business park/centre of excellence would be perfectly 

positioned in Tewkesbury – strong cluster of businesses already. Garden town 
development provides perfect opportunity. 

Page 68 - The limited availability of rural transport services has created a high car 
dependency, in part caused by infrequent or poor bus services in most rural 
areas. There is scope for a major cultural shift to capitalise on the take-up of 
electric vehicles, which is increasing rapidly across the UK - The statements talks 

Page 218



 
 
 

9 
 

about a lack of rural transport services, but suggests the solution is the take up 
of electric vehicles. While contributing to carbon reducing they will not solve 
the pressure on the highway network. The culture shift should be targeted 
towards public transport which requires an improved public transport network.  

 
- Also limited provision of public transport in general across the area as well as a 

lack of infrastructure for walking and cycling.  

Page 69 There is growing support for the exploration of a mass-transit transport solution 
that provides a reliable, quick and clean alternative to cars and significantly reduces 
commuter traffic between the county’s urban centres of Cheltenham and 
Gloucester - A mass transit solution should be sought between all of the major 
urban areas of Gloucestershire, not just Cheltenham and Gloucester – particular in 
regards to the Tewkesbury Garden Town.  

Page 73 - ‘Mass transit solution’ should be wider than Cheltenham and Gloucester. It 
should include other key centres – especially if we are to reach ‘green county’ 
aspiration. 

 
- No real mention of how sustainable public transport infrastructure for more 

rural areas of county will be improved and this is critical. 
 

- A mass-transit transport solution that provides a reliable, quick and clean 
alternative to cars and significantly reduces commuter traffic between the 
county’s urban centres of Cheltenham and Gloucester - The focus is on 
Cheltenham and Gloucester, but there is real potential to link up to the 
Tewkesbury Garden Town which should be recognised. 

 
- This ‘what we need’ section should also set out the need to public transport to 

provide across the county and not just focus on the main urban areas – 
particularly the more rural areas. 

Page 74 Mentions development of ‘countywide cycle strategy’ but need to focus on key 
improvements to infrastructure opportunities between all centres. 

Page 78 High-tech engineering should be mentioned with other key sectors in final 
paragraph. 

Page 82 - Not sure it is the role of the document to quote a figure of what area of the 
county should be ‘building free’. This really sits with planning policy. 

 
- Deprived rural areas should benefit from cyber central too. 

Page 82 - To preserve the county’s deeply rural environment, we want to keep 
Gloucestershire at least 95% building-free - A precise and arbitrary commitment 
to a % of land being building-free is not useful for the LIS to set.  - It should 
instead set out the need to preserve the County’s environment while providing 
sustainable development to meet needs more generally. 

 
- The development potential for the Green Belt in Gloucestershire must be 

carefully managed so that opportunities for sustainable housing development 
are made available - This is above and beyond the role of the LIS in highlighting 
specific areas where land for housing should be made available in relation to 
Green Belt. This needs to be established through the local plan-making process. 
The development potential for the Green Belt in Gloucestershire must be 
carefully managed so that opportunities for sustainable housing development 
are made available - This is above and beyond the role of the LIS in highlighting 

Page 219



 
 
 

10 
 

specific areas where land for housing should be made available in relation to 
Green Belt. This needs to be established through the local plan-making process. 

 
- The Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) in Gloucestershire is developing 

a proposal for a Children’s Countryside Code to be piloted in the county - This 
point should be separated from the Green Belt issue. Green Belt land is not 
necessarily ‘countryside’ per se and is a much wider scheme covering many 
areas of the County. 

 

 

 

Page 220



GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE - FORWARD PLAN 2019/20

Nov 2019

Meeting Date Subject Focus for Discussion Lead Amendments/Action Arising
GFirst LEP Update GFirst LEP
Gloucestershire Economic Growth 
Joint Scrutiny Committee 
(GEGJSC)

Standing item – activity report GCC

Local Transport Plan Review and consultation plan GCC
Climate Change Summit & Energy 
Strategy Action Plan

Outcome review & action plans GCC

Vision 2050/Project Boards Update report UoG/LG
Gloucestershire Business Rates 
Pool (incl SEDF progress)

Update report SDC/GEGJC 
SOG

4 September 2019

Growth Delivery Monitoring & 
Strategic Project Delivery   

Strategic project progress, incl Garden Towns 
Programme update

All

Meeting Date Subject Focus for Discussion Lead Amendments/Action Arising
GFirst LEP Update Local Industrial Strategy Consultation GFirst LEP
Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Joint Scrutiny Committee 
(GEGJSC)

Standing item – activity report GCC

Director of Public Health Report ‘Healthonomics’ – Tackling Health 
Inequalities Through Inclusive Growth

Sarah Scott, 
DPH

Gloucestershire Business Rates 
Pool (SEDF)

Review of LEP core funding requirements and 
SEDF Proposals

GFirst 
LEP/SDC/GEGJC 

SOG
LNP Green Infrastructure Policy 
Pledge 

Update on work and outcome analysis LNP

20 November 2019

Fastershire Broadband Project Delivery Programme Update, Revision of 
Strategy and future delivery approach

GCC

Meeting Date Subject Focus for Discussion Lead Amendments/Action Arising
18 March 2020 GFirst LEP Update GFirst LEP

P
age 221

A
genda Item

 11



GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE - FORWARD PLAN 2019/20

Nov 2019

LEP/Local Authority EU Inward 
Investment Programme

GFirst LEP

Gloucestershire Economic Growth 
Joint Scrutiny Committee (GEGJSC)

Standing item – activity report GCC

Strategic Planning,  Joint Core 
Strategy and Local Plan Update 

Annual progress update Mike Dawson 
TBC

Western Gateway Update on progress proposed new  ‘Powerhouse’ GCC
Growth Hub Network Update on business support delivery and 

extension of the Network
LEP

3 June 2020 Subject Focus for Discussion Lead Amendments/Action Arising

16 September 2020 Subject Focus for Discussion Lead Amendments/Action Arising

18 November 2020 Subject Focus for Discussion Lead Amendments/Action Arising

Unscheduled Items Subject Focus for Discussion Lead Amendments/Action Arising
Mobile Provision Note – all Member briefing held July 13th 

2018. Further briefing with Mobile UK 
planned for future GEG Scrutiny Committee 

GEGJSC

Visitor Economy/Promotion of 
Gloucestershire/Opportunities 
For Market Towns

Part of 20:50 item?
Activities of the new GFirst Sector Group?

GFirst LEP

Leadership Gloucestershire -
Programme Boards

Update on plans Programme 
Board Lead 

Officers
Brexit Review of potential implications for 

Gloucestershire 
?

P
age 222



GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE

LOCAL STRATEGIC GROWTH PROJECT UPDATE 

Date of Meeting 

Local Authority 

Local (Member) 
Representative 

Local (Officer) 
Representative

Project Update (1) 

Project Update (2) 

Other Growth 
Issues (Summary) 

Page 223



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	4 Local Transport Plan (LTP) Review
	5 Climate Change Summit and Action Plan Update

	5 Public Health Annual Report
	Item 5 Public Health Presentation to EJC

	8 Business Rate Pool Funding
	Item 8 Appendix 1 Rail Investment Strategy EOI
	Item 8 Appendix 2 (LNP) Expression of Interest

	9 GFirst LEP Update
	Item 9a Growth Deal Project Summary Q2 19-20 011119
	Item 9b Growth Deal Forward Look
	Item 9c LIS Feedback from Councils
	GCC_Consultation Response Letter
	GCC_Appendix 2a Technical Comments
	GCC_Appendix 2 Consultation Questions
	GCC_Core Content  GCC Feedback (Appendix 1)
	GCC_Cabinet Report November 2019
	AGENDA NO: 
	13th November 2019
	Cabinet Date
	Economy, Education and Skills
	No 
	Key Decision
	Background Documents
	https://www.gfirstlep.com/industrial-strategy/ 
	Location/Contact for inspection of Background Documents
	Appendix1 – Core Content and GCC Officer Consultation Feedback 
	Appendix 2 and 2a – GCC Officer Response to LEP Consultation Questions 
	Purpose of Report


	Cheltenham Borough Council_Tracey Crews
	Cotswold District Council_James Brain
	Stroud District Council_Kathy O’Leary
	Tewkesbury Borough Council_Robert Weaver


	11 Future Meeting Dates
	Strategic Growth Project Update


